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ACCELERATING OUR
TRANSFORMATION

We have continued to transform N Brown from a catalogue
etailer 10 a digital retaller. We see an opportunity to further
istomer proposition and to cepitalise on current

t least the increasing trend towards online retail
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Our £100m capital raise gives us the firepower to invest further
in our digital capabilities and accelerate our g*’owm strateqy.

It has also Sigmﬁuantly strengthened the G Group's s balance

-heet to provide us with ongoing flexibility and a strong

olatform from which to deliver returns for shareholders

A

i

REVENUE® ADJUSTED ADJUSTED OPERATING
EBITDA' COSTS TO GROUP
REVENUE RATIO?

o, eeteg Ny gy e e e pen
ST D COL Ty 37y Doy
N ﬁ_f*w,,! e FTRTY n.ga jﬁn e *3:" ’!‘% { - .
B ] E # K 4 "
A SRS LA o
P . s T 3§ et *4« & P £ mq 1 £
feddentated: £D275m I UF 2050 £0n i 185 ARG T

ADJUSTED STATUTORY PROFIT ADJUSTED NET
PROFIT BEFORE TAX® BEFORE TAX DEBT*

o 14“ f' > r"*’« - /f«u’* /J" f ““
f i § ey ey i 4!“ *"VM‘-\ {w 5 ,:% H ﬁ% fg % { sy
: A ‘; “'f”” ? T A YRR IR
g [T s g‘ ey m,s’; CA I
LA £ KISV M LY e b ?:"?0: EPLLTR IV S IR N

Ad asted EBITDA s calculated a5 operating proft, excluding exceptinnal items, vath depreciat:on and amort sation added back. The Diectors believe adjusted EBITDA
represents the most appropriats measure of the Group's underlying trading performance as it removes items that do not form part of the 1ecurring activities of the Greup.
- Adjusted operating costs 1o ravenue ratio is calculated as operating costs less depreciation, amaortisstion and exceptional items as a percentage of Groug
revenue lhe Directors believe this s the most appropriate measure to demonstrate the efficiency of the Group's operating cost basa,
- Adiusted profit befare tax is calculated as profit before tax, excluding exceptional items and fair value mevement on financial instruments. Tne Directors bel'eve
that adjusted profit before tax reprasents the most approphiate measure of the Group's underiying profit befors tax profit as it removes items that do rotform
part of the recurning activities uf the Groug.

Adiusted ret debtis calculated as total habilites from financing activities less cash, excluding lzase haksihties. The Directors beheve thes is the mast appropriate
measdre of the GroLp's net debtin relatior to s unsecurea borrowings and 1 ussd to caleulate the Group's laverage ratic, a key deb: covenant measure.
Avrecenalation s included innote 19

The ravenue bas beenresrated in FY20 a5 outhned nonote 32 or page 157,
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AT A GLANCE

OUR VISION OUR MISSION

Champicning inclusion, we'll become the most We're obsessed with ouwr customers and have
toved and trusted {ashion retailer. been for generations. We delight thern witi

oroducts, service and finance to {it thew hvas

LUR PURPOSE

We exist to make our customers
lonk and feel amazing.

WE ARE A TOP 10 UK CLOTHING AND FOOTWEAR DIGITAL
RETAILER, WITH A HOME PROPOSITION, SERVING CUSTOMERS
ACROSS FIVE STRATEGIC BRANDS

QUR FIVE STRATEGIC BRANDS

JD WILLIAMS SIMPLY BE AMBROSE WILSON

An online bautique shopping experience A size-inclusive online brand showcasing An online womenswear brand for the
showcasing own brand and third-party own brand and third-party brand fashion more mature customer, supported by
brand fashion and home product for and beauty for wormen aged 25 - 45, home, showcasing own brand and third-
45 - 65 year old women. party brands targeting women aged 65+

-
v

JDWILLIAMS  simply be. ambrose™
‘Wilson

i

1
+
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REVENUE BREAKDOWN

SUSTAIN

This year we rebranded our Environmental, FY20
Social and Governance {"ESG") strategy to SUSTAIN. S [restatedy
Fully embracing the values of our business, Stratogic prande £367. . L3/27m
SUSTAIN encompasses Our People and L .

Qur Planet pillars. LHERRET L AT R £174.3m

fotal Product revenus £484.4m £5470m %

1

SEE MORE ON . Financial Ssrvices revenuo F2L0. 4m £2905m |

2 3 (125 8m £8375m |

P e W o Bw B S A S
THER BHAL 8 du ¥

Our other brands complement our five
strategic brands by focusing on distinct
customer niches which are not served by
JD Williams, Simply Be, Ambrose Wilsen,
Jacameo and Home Essentials.

fashion Man‘sota

Oxendales PREMIER MAN

FOLDED INTO

JACAMO HOME ESSENTIALS STRA‘E&G%Q E;';?“A?\iﬁ mé;
A size-inclusive online fashion and A one-stop home brand offering own

grooming brand for men, showeasing own  brand and third-party brand modern HGIEAB HIGH:MIGHTY
brand and third-party brands targeting homeware helping customers to “dress

men aged 25 - 50. their homes”. The target customer is
rmums aged 25 - 45 with children at home.

JACAMO HOMEA&

FIRAMTIAL

Animpaortant part of our overall
proposition, strengthening customaer
loyalty and enabling our Retail business
to thrive, in order to offer our custormers
excellent convenience and flexibility,
customers either pay us immediately or
utilise a credit account for their purchases,
spreading the cost of their purchase over
time. We are regulated by the Financial
Conduct Authority ("FCA”} in the UK
and the Central Bank of ireland ("CBI")

in Ireland and we support our customers
throughout the credit journey with us.

Gross custamer loan book
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CHAIR'S STATEMENT

"I would like to thank the
whole team at N Brown for
the way they responded to
the challenges presented
by Covid-19. The Board's
number one priority has
been to keep colleagues
safe whilst maintaining their
commitrment to servicing
our customers throughout
the year”

(o v

On 31 March 2021 Matt Davies, who was
appointed as Chair in May 2018, resigned
from the Board to spend more time on
his other business interests. On behalf of
the Board, | would like to thank Matt for
his contribution over the past three years
and for guiding the business through a
successful refinancing and transfer ta the
Alternative Investment Market ("AIM").
On 31 March 2021, | stepped down as the
Senior Independent Director and Audit
Committee Chair and succeeded Matt
as Chair of the Group.

BEVIEW OF THE YEAR

QOur performance in the yearwas
impacted by the onset of Covid-19in
the first few weeks of the financial year.

I am very proud of the way in which the
business reacted, ensuring the safety of
our colleagues whilst maintaining our
commitrment to servicing our customers.

Ron McMillan
Chair

Despite the challenging environment, we
produced a resilient performance for the
year, with product revenues recovering

each quarter, following a sudden and
sharp drop at the onset of the crisis.

This was matched by tight cost control as
we demanstrated our flexible cost base,
accelerated our digital transformation and
took swift actions to enhance liquidity.

Group revenue for the year dedlined
13.0% to £728.8m with Product revenue
down 14.4% and Financial Services ("FS")
revenue down 10.4%. Our focus on building
an appropriate cost base for a digital
retailer resufted in a material improvement
in our operating cost efficiency with

our adjusted operating cost to Group
Revenue ratio improving from 32.8% in
the previous financial year to 32 5% this
year. This enabled the business to deliver
adjusted EBITDA of £86 5m which was
above the top end of our guidance.

Details of the strategic transformation
undertaken in the year are laid out in the
Chief Executive’s Statement and | am
pleased with the initial progress we have
made to deliver sustainable profitable
growth. We remain committed to our
medium-term targets of delivering 7%
product revenue growth and a 14%
adjusted EBITDA margin.

CAPITAL RAISE

During the financial year the Group saw

a compelling opportunity to de-risk

and accelerate its refreshed strategy; by
eliminating unsecured net debt and bringing
forward strategic investrnent. In Decernber
2020 this culminated in the Group
successtully raising £100m through a pre-
ermptive equity raise, admission to AIM and
the agreement of new and extended bank
facilities. These provide the Group with a
significantly strengthened balance sheet and
the right platform to accelerate its strategy.

BOARD CHANGES

During the financial year Craig Lovelace
left the business and we were delighted to
welcome Rachel lzzard as our new Chief
Financial Officer. Rachel joined us from
Aer Lingus where she had been Chief
Financial Officer since 2015,

Following completion of the £100m equity
Taise in Decermber 2020 we were pleased
to welcome Joshua Alllance to the

Board as a new Non-Executive Director.
Joshua was formerly Head of Business
Innovation for J.D. Williams & Company
Limited and is a Non-Executive Director
of a number of digitally based private
companies in the UK and Israel.

On my appointment as Chair, Gill Barr
became the Senior Independent Director
and on an interim basis, Vicky Mitchell has
assumed the Audit Committee Chair role.
A recruitment process is underway for an
additional independent Non-Executive
Director who will become the permanent
Audit Committee Chair.

On 31 March 2021, Lesley Jones stepped
down frorm the Board after nearly seven
years following her appointment as the
Chair of Sainsbury’s Bank. On behalf of the
Board | would ke to thank Lesley for her
wise counsel and contribution to the Group.

SUSTAIN

SUSTAIN is our overarching Environmental,
Social and Governance strategy. As part

of ourfocus on plastics, in Year One of our
sustainability plan, we have successfully
conducted a trial of Green Polyethylene
("Green PE") despatch bags. Thisis an
impaortant step as we progress our goal of
100% Green PE despatch bags by the end
of 2021. We are also proud to have signed
up to the British Retail Consortium {“BRC"}
Climate Action Roadmap to help the retail
industry, including supply chains, to hit zero
carbon emissions by 2040.

DIVIDEND

Following the outbreak of Covid-19

and the subsequent impact on the
business and the wider econcmy, the
Board suspended dividend payments.

The Directors recognise that dividends are
an important part of the Company's returns
to shareholders and the Board wili consider
the resurnption of dividend payments at
the end of FY22.

COLLEAGUES

In a particularly chalienging year t would like
to thank all our colleagues for their immense
hard work, dedication and effort and | look
forward to working with all colleagues to
deiiver our strategy of returning N Brown

to sustainable, profitable growth.

LOOKING AHEAD

Qur key objective is to deliver profitable
growth on a sustainable basis and our retail
brands are focused on delivering fashion for
our individual brands. We have also launched
a new Home Essentials brand and, in FS, we
will be making significant enhancements to
our FS platform.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S STATEMENT

"It has been an extraordinary
12 months, with our financial
year beginning just weeks
before the onset of the
Covid-19 pandemic in the
UK. This presented unique
challenges and difficulties
for everyone across the
country, and at N Brown it
has been no different. fam
immensely proud of all our
colleagues for their resilience
and commitment in serving
our customers throughout
the year.”

Steve Johnson
5 Chief Executive Officer

ACCELERATING STRATEGIC
TRANSFORMATION FROM
A STRENGTYTHENED BASE
Against that backdrop, | am immensely
proud of how our colleagues have looked
out for and supported one another. | am
also grateful for the effectiveness and
dedication which our colleagues and
supplier partners have shown in adapting
to a more flexible way of working during
the pandemic and for their continued
unstinting commitment to supporting our
loyal customer base. Despite the tough
trading environment, we have achieved

a lot during the year, transforming the
shape of our business so that it is leaner,
more digitally enabled, and even more
focused on our five strategic brands.

We have also produced a resitient financial
performance, with product revenues
recovering each quarter, following a
sudden and sharp drop at the onset of the
crisis. We have delivered adjusted EBITDA
above the top end of our guidance, a
tight control of costs throughout, and a
stable performance in our FS division.

Our Executive and Senior Leadership
teams have been refreshed and
strengthened in the year leaving us well
placed to continue our transformation.

We have also significantly strengthened

" the capital structure of the Group,

having completed a £100m fundraise

to both strengthen our balance sheet,

by eliminating our unsecured debt, and
give us the firepower to accelerate our
sustainable growth strategy. | am pleased
with the strategic progress we have made
1o deliver sustainable profitable growth

in the future and we remain committed
to our medium-term targets of delivering
7% product revenue growth per annum
and a 14% adjusted EBITDA margin.

OUR RESPONSE

TO COVIDAR

Qur absolute priority has been and
remains to protect the health, safety and
wellbeing of our colleagues, both across
our Distribution Centres and at Head
Office, whilst maintaining continuity of
service for our customers shopping our
brands. Since the outbreak of Covid-19

in early 2020 we have managed to keep

a continuous supply of goods to our
customers, whilst at all imes keeping
colleagues safe in our Distribution Centres
and Head Office and operating in line with
Government guidelines.

We made several changes to ensure
continuing safe operations and to follow
the Public Health England guidelines on
social distancing and the subsequent
guidelines for workplaces. Across our sites
these changes included re-organising

the floorplan layouts to ensure social
distancing, intreducing one-way walkways,
increasing points of access and exit,
staggering the entry and exit times of
colleagues and laying out clear floor
markings. We also installed thermal
imaging cameras, significantly expanded
our cleaning regime and introduced
additional hand washing stations for all
colleagues. To support our colleagues

we established 'well-being ambassadors’
who are mental health first aiders, and we
provided packs which included masks,
hand sanitiser and cutlery as well as
providing lateral flow tests. As restrictions
ease, we continue to support and work
collaboratively with all our colleagues to
find a hybrid appreach to onsite and home
working for our Head Office colleagues.

At the start of the pandemic we used the
Government’s Job Retention Scheme,
totalling £3.8m, which allowed us to work
through the challenges that Covid-19
initially presented for our business and
preserve a significant number of jobs for
our colleagues.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S STATEMENT
CONTINUED




In June 2020 we announced our refreshed strategy to return N Brown to sustainable
growth by developing a stronger brand and product proposition for aur customers,
driving profitability through the Retail business and continuing to offer attractive and
flexible credit solutions. We have made significant progress in transforming the Group
in the year and we are now in the “accelerate” phase of our strategy driven by our

five growth pillars and underpinned by our three enablers below. An update on the
transformation achieved in the year is provided on the following pages.

DISTINCT BRANDS TO ATTRACT BROADER
RANGES OF CUSTOMERS

IMPROVED PRODUCT TO DRIVE
CUSTOMER FREQUENCY

NEW HOME OFFERING FOR CUSTOMERS

TO SHOP MORE ACROSS CATEGORIES

ENHANCED DIGITAL EXPERIENCE TO INCREASE
CUSTOMER CONVERSION

FLEXIBLE CREDIT TO HELP CUSTOMERS SHOP

OUR ENABLERS

SUSTAINABLE
COST BASE

PEOPLE AND DATA
CULTURE
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S STATEMENT
CONTINUED

" DISTINCT BRANDS TO
ATTRACT BROADER RANGES
OF CUSTOMERS

WEHAT WE HAVE
ACHIEVED IN FY21

As set outin June 2020, our review of the
markets in which we operate highlighted
that we needed to extend our reach to

a broader set of customers through a
portfolio of brands with clearer, more
focused propositions. We have therefore
continued to simplify our portfolio, towards
having four apparel brands and one
standalone home brand as follows:

Simply Be — a size-inclusive online brand
showcasing own brand and third-party
brand fashion and beauty for women aged
25-45,

Jacamo — a size-inclusive online fashion and
grooming brand for men, showcasing own
brand and third-party brands targeting
men aged 25 - 50.

JD Williams — an online boutique shopping
experience showeasing awn brand and
third-party brand fashion and home
product for 45 - 65 year old women.

Ambrose Wilson ~ an online womenswear
brand for the more mature customer,
supported by home, showcasing own
brand and third party brands targeting
women aged 65+,

Home Essentials — a one-stop home brand
offering own brand and third-party brand
modern homeware helping customers to
“dress their hormes”. The target customer
is mums aged 25 - 45 with chifdren at home.

This year we have progressed our
simplification journey, reducing the total
nurmber of brands by 25% to nine in total.
We discontinued the High & Mighty

and House of Bath brands, successfully
migrating customers to Jacamo and
Arcbrose Wilson respectively. We also
closed the Figleaves website and now offer
Figleaves on Simply Be.

We have refreshed the creative style

across our apparel brands to support our
brands’ clearer, more focused propositions
and to build stronger brand identities.

For example, our AW20 Simply Be ‘Fit

for an lcon’ campaign which challenged
convention about how curvy women are
portrayed whilst demonstrating our fashion
and fit credentials, is the begirning of a
brand ethos which will provide direction for
seasans 1o come.

We have accelerated the use of social
media throughout FY21 and have seen
encouraging results. During the period,
revenue generated via social media was up
27% across the Group, with a total of 19m
followers across Facebook and Instagram,
of which 14% were acquired in the year.

WHAT WE WILL

FOCUS DM N FY22

With significant work done on improving
the brand and customer proposition,

we are now focused on acquiring new
custormers in our core target segments,
particularly those where N Brown is under-
represented today. The successful equity
raise, completed in December 2020, will
enable us to accelerate our plans. We will
undertake a range of activities, including
expanding the presence of the core retail
brands through increased investment in
brand-building activity and through more
specific, targeted activity through digital
and social channels.

We will now communicate what makes
our brands special and unique to our
customers. We will focus on ensuring that
our brands are visible in the most relevant
way 1o our target custorner, and in a way
and at times that they are most receptive to
receiving that message through channels
including albove the line (“ATL") marketing
and social media. For example, this will
mean a significant focus on social media
for Simply Be and Jacamo, and a focus on
broadcast campaigns for our JD Williams
and Home Essentials brands.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT
CONTINUED




IMPROVED PRODUCT

TO DRIVE CUSTOMER
FREQUENCY

WHAT WE HAVE
U UVED R FY 2T

Refining and improving our product
offering is central to driving cur new brand
propositions, encowaging customer loyalty
and frequency. We have made good
progress on three key areas,

First, we started the process of improving

our produict "handwriting’ through clearly
defined designs for each brand, investing in
fabric, quality and consistency of fit. With our
passion to define our unique and more
differentiated customer proposition by brand
we recruited a new Group Design Director
and created dedicated teams, aligned to
each strategic brand. These changes to our
design process mean that our prints are now
completely unique to us and our palettes
and product are designed with a specific
customer in mind. In the year we increased
the proportion of own designed womenswear
ranges from 53% to 57%. Our new teams
were able to swiftly pivot our product offer to
meet the customer demand for Leisureweaar
and Nightwear whilst protecting our ‘famous
for' categories such as lingerie and denim.

Secondly, we have redefined our good/
better/best price architecture with the
purpoese of creating product which
represents great quality and value as well as
introducing new brands which stretch the
range within the 'best’ category. We have
rationalised our ranges to ensure there is less
duplication and a clearer more considered
offer. These investments are being well
received by our customers, We have also
made significant progress with launching
new third-party brands on our websites, with
Hugo Boss and Ralph Lauren both launched
on Jacamo in the year.

Finally, we have continued with our
commitment to embed sustainability
throughout the organisation, our product
ranges and all our processes. In March 2020
we introduced our sustainably sourced
Jacamao men's denim range which uses a
mixture of arganic cotton, cotton sourced
through Better Cotton Initiative ("BCI™)

and Repreve polyester meaning the

entire men’s denim range has sustainable
attributes. 85% of our women’s denim
offer is now sustainably sourced and our
alm is to increase this further throughout
FYZ22. We have also further consolidated
our supplier base, with an 18% year on year
reduction in the total number of suppliers.
Throughout the pandemic we were able
to respond with increasing flexibility to
shifting customer demands and delivered
on average a one week improvernent in
lead times on product changes throughout
the year.

WFLAT WE Wil
FOUOUS OMIN FY22

We will accelerate our initiatives around
improving our product handwriting,
transforming our pricing architecture and
driving our sustainability agenda.

We will continue to drive improvermnent in
our product handwriting to deliver exciting
product which resonates with our custormers,
We are accelerating our investrent in our
design team with a particular focus on print’
and the “famous for” categories such as
lingerie, denim and footwear.

QOur range rationalisation is ongoing as

we continue to improve the quality of the
product and ranges which we ofter cur
custorners. On the Simply Be website we
lzunched exciting new third-party brands
Finery and Nobody's Child in March and
April 2027 respectively with exdusivity
through sizing. We plan tc add French
Connection, Sonder and Khost to JO
Williams later this year alongside increasing
the range size for existing third-party brands
such as Hobbs, Joules and Monsoon.

We are entering the second year of our
sustainability roadmap with the focus baing
on ensuring all denim ranges will have
sustainable properties, completing the roll
out of Green Polyethene bags across Jacamo
and Simply Be and reviewing recycling
options for our customers. We will also focus
on a roadmap for delivering a continued CO;
reducticn in our supplier base.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S STATEMENT

CONTINUED

) NEW HOME OFFERING

FOR CUSTOMERS TO SHOP

MORE ACROSS CATEGORIES

WHAT WE HAVE

ACHIEVED N FY21

On 1 April 2020 we launched cur Home
Essentials brand as a standalone trading
site for customers whao enjoy dressing their
home with a close eye on affordability.

We have curated a home furnishings offer
alongside electrical and gifting categories;
rnuch of which is designed by and unique
to the Group. The timing of our Home
Essentials launch coincided with an
increase in consumer demand for Home
and Garden, triggered by the pandemic,
which had an immediate impact on the
Group's Home sales and has subsequently
been sustained. We were quick to pivot
our offering to address new customer
demand trends, for example by expanding
our electrical and home office proposition
which saw increased demand, particularly
during the first national lockdown.

In addition we launched Facebook and
Instagram pages for Home Essentials

in April, which have gained over

82,000 followers. This encouraging

start has demanstrated the significant
opportunities available to us to inspire
and serve even more potential customers
through these channels and will support
our customer acquisition strategy for

the brand.

WHAT WE WILL
FOCUS ON N FYZ2

Home Essentials is a brand whose focus is
around in-house design which ensures the
complete offer is individual and bespoke
to this customer cohort. Qur custemers
come to Home Essentials to find furniture
alongside chairs, tables, soft furnishings,
lighting, small appliances and storage.
We will continue to invest in key product
categories such as furniture and bedding
to accelerate Home Essentials’ second
year as a standalone websfte.

New customer acquisition is key

to the success of Home Essentials.

We have exciting plans around
broadcast campaigns as well as
continued social media activity to drive
customer recruitment.
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IF EXECUTIVE'S STATEMENT
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ENHANCED DIGITAL |
EXPERIENCE TO INCREASE

CUSTOMER CONVERSION

WHAT WE HAYE
ATHHEVED (N FY21

We have implemented Bloomreach
technology across our strategic brands
in order to optimise and personalise
each customer’s digital experience.
Bloomraach uses machine learning
and artificiai intelligence ("Al"J to

offer advanced merchandising tools
and includes the ability to serve

every customer with a personalised
product list based an their preferences.
Bloomreach has driven a 19% increase
in ‘click through rates’ from search to
the relevant product page and a 55%
reduction in ‘zero results’ across our
strategic brands’ websites.

Our agile approach to digital
transformation enabled us to launch the
standalone Home Essentials website

on 1 April 2020 as well as migrate
customers from High & Mighty and
House of Bath to Jacamo and Ambrose
Wilson respectively. We have alsc started
developing new Application Programming
Interfaces for social media integration

to enable more automated re-targeting
of customers. Once embedded, this will
increase efficiency and is expected to
benefit conversion.

1:’2595’2%‘; gf@ﬁ" Fﬁfﬁ!E g' Fhi o

FOLETUS B

The existing N Brown websites are built on
a legacy technology stack, which has been
developed over many years. Following the
equity raise in December 2020, the Group
is accelerating its investment in new frant-
end websites with the aim of improving
the customer experience through a
cleaner website resulting in better
conversion rates and search optimisation
benefits. it is an important step on N
Brown's technology roadmap as we move
away fram the legacy web technology
stack, improve stability and accelerate the
pace of future change.

An additional benefit to this is an
improvement to site spead which is key
to enhancing search engine optimisation
{“SEO"). This will include a new sales
journey, supported by a fresh customer
experience in line with brand principles
and improved search, navigation,
product listing, details pages, bag and
checkout functions.

Finally, we are focused on improving
our digital self-service capabilities
and refreshing our contact centre and
telephony offering for our customers.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S STATEMENT

CONTINUED

' FLEXIBLE CREDIT TO HELP

CUSTOMERS SHOP

WEAT WE HAVE

AUHIEVED N FY27

Our focus at the start of the pandemic was on
protecting our customers and our business
by ensuring continuity of service whilst
minimising any risk exposure. Throughout the
year our credit proposition remained a key
point of difference for our customers by
providing access to products they both need
and desire. With the structural shift in the year
towards higher value Home and Electricals,
being able to spread the cost of purchases
either through necessity or convenience,
helped to drive the recovery in product sales
throughout the year. This has been further
helped by the launch of seasonal offers for
our credit custormers through 0% interest and
creditback campaigns.

Providing credit to make shopping
affordable is at the heart of N Brown's
business model and remains at the core of
the strategy moving forwards. N Brown’s
current credit platform is built on a
mainframe system which is robust but lacks
flexibility to rmake changes to enhance the
customer proposition. Customer behaviours
have evolved and are generally shifting
towards a range of more flexible payment
products, which the Group's current system
cannat currently service. To deliver more
modern products, the Group needs to
develop a new FS platform that has the
flexibility to offer these products and the
equity raise completed in December 2020
will enable investment in this.

A new Financial Services platform
development project is underway to
better understand the delivery options for
the new IS platform and the scale of the
business and technology change. We have
also conducted a comprehensive customer
research programme to understand the
needs of our customers, both now and

in the future, the products that appeal to
them and the custormer experience they
expect from a digital retailer.

At the start of the pandemic we moved
swiftly to offer our customers payment
deferrals, ahead of FCA guidance, and

have provided this support throughout the

lending criteria to prevent any harm to our
customers during these unprecedented
times, therefore ensuring good customer
outcomes. At the beginning of FY21 we
were facing into a challenge with regards
to customers identified as in Persistent
Debt. This was one of the key focus areas
for the year and a dedicated Persistent Debt
Programme was set up to find the right
solution. We ended FY21 with a solution in
place that delivers good outcomes for our
custormers whilst mitigating the commercial
impact resulting from having to suspend

or close customers’ credit facilities. This
solution is now live and will be monitered
closely throughout this year.

Good progress has been made in FY21 to
enhance the use of different data sources
and analytical tools and techniques to drive
improvements in our lending proposition.
We continue to work with Aire using their
proprietary Al models to enhance our
creditworthiness process and have also
successfully launched a new lending model
using the DataRobot tool which has further
enhanced our capability. Multiple tests are
also underway on refining our credit limit
increase programme and we have also started
a Credit Limit Optimisation initiative working
with Experian. All these areas are helping to
drive incremental improvermnents to our credit
proposition and the FS team continue to
explore further opportunities in this area.

(AN Y

Our strategic focus for the medium-term will
be on the delivery of the new FS platform
and the launch of new credit products that
will broaden the appeal of our proposition.
Whilst overall performance in FS rernains
strong with low arrears and strong payment
behaviour from custorers, we remain
cautious on the impact of the lockdown
being eased and the end of the furlough
scherne in September. We continue to
embed regulatory changes such as the
Senior Managers & Certification Regime
{“SMECR") and remain focused on providing
inclusive financial services to our customers
to enable them to shop our compelfing
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S STATEMENT
CONTINUED |




by our key enablers:

FEOPLE afD CLHTURE

Our colleagues are our biggest asset and
they continue to show commitment like
no other in their flexibility and adaptability
in response to the change in ways of
working due to the pandemic. YWe have
remained fully operational throughout this
difficult period and we are grateful to our
colleagues for the part they have played
in this.

Within the year we welcomed Rachel
lzzard, CFO, and Sarah Welsh, Retail
CEQ, to the Group as we continued te
refresh our Executive team. We have also
strengthenad our Product team through
a series of senior hires and appointrments
with a new Group Buying Director, Group
Design Director and a newly created role
of Group Sourcing, Sustainability, Quality
and Fit Director.

We continue to increase our use of data
across the business te understand our
customers better and drive continued
efficiencies in revenue, marketing

and product ranging. Our use of Al to
develop a model to predict customer
lifetime velue now informs our marketing
decisions and has been crucial in
reducing unprofitable marketing
expenditure and making our cost base
more efficient and sustainable.

We have compileted discovery projects
to determine the optimal pricing
strategies for our brands and we are

in the process of building models

which will determine how to maximise
ravenue, margin or other strategic key
performance indicators {“KPIs"} through
promotional pricing.

The Group has continued 1o invest in #s
pecple and infrastructure with new key
hires such as Data Scientists, Architects
and Product Managers to build out
modern, cloud-based data structures
increasing our ability to deliver rapid
insight-to-action analytics.

These five growth pillars will be supported

SLSTAINABLE D007 ALY

The final enabler of our strategy is
developing a sustainable and appropriate
cost base to help build retail profitability.
We took swift and decisive action to
respond to the pandemic and were able
to reduce our adjusted operating costs

by 28.9% in the year. We had previously
identified a range of sustainable
efficiencias in our marketing costs and
were able to accelerate these in response
to the trading environment. Our marketing
costs fell 55.7% in FY21, far in excess of the
13.0% decline in Group revenue.

We also tock the difficult decision to
conduct a redundancy programme

in order to ensure the Group had an
appropriate and sustainable cost base for
a digitat retailer. This process resulted in
¢.245 colleagues leaving the business, who
we were regrettably unable to redeploy in
other areas.

Targeted initiatives across the entire

cost base resulted in adjusted operating
costs as a percentage of Group revenue
significantly improving from 39.8% in FY20
to 32.5% in FY21.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S STATEMENT

CONTINUED

KEY PERFORMANCE
INDSCATORS ("KPIS™)

As a digital retailer, accelerating our
strategy, and moving cut of a period
impacted by Covid-19, we are in a position
1o start reporting various digital customer
metrics, which provide operational
measures of how our strategy is progressing.
The initial disclosure below reflects the
impact of Covid-19 on the business in
FY21 and we are now focused on driving
improvernents across these measures.

Total website sessions remained relatively
high in the year despite a 55.7% reduction
in marketing expenditure supported by
our ability to pivot into the products the
custormer was looking for such as home
office and garden. As expected and in-line
with other retailers, conversion was lower
in FY21 due to more customers browsing
during the pandemic.

The reduction in orders in FYZ21 was
reflective of customer demand and within
this there was a significant pivot from
Clothing and Footwear to Home and Gift.
Average order value ("AOV") was broadly
similar to the prior year reflecting the strong
Home and Gift performance in the year
offsetting the price sensitivity in clothing
and footwear. The increase in average item
value ("AlV") was driven by the mix effect of
Home and Gift as this category typically has
higher average prices. This mix effect also
resulied in a small decrease in 'items per
order’ as Home and Gift items typically have
a higher price point. Total active customers
declined in the year, primarily driven by the
reduction in ‘other brands’ customers.

FS arrears fell due to an increase in the
quality of the loan book and an increasing
propensity for our eredit customers to
pay down their balances in the year.

Our relentless focus on improving the
experience for our customers resulted in
Net Promoter Score {(“NPS") increasing by
2pptsin the year to 63

FY22 GUIDANCE

Since the start of FY22 we have returned
1o Product revenue growth and for the
full year we currently expect Product
revenue growth of between 3% and 7%.
Financial Services revenue is expected
to be lower compared to FY21 as a result
of a smaller debtor book at the start of
FY22. Overall we currently expect Group
revenue growth 1o be +1% to +4% for
FY22 and for adjusted EBITDA to be in the
range of £93m to £100m.

We expect capex of £30m - £35m,
depreciation and amortisation of ¢.£40m
reflecting the acceleration of our strategy
and net interest costs of c.£16m. In FY22
the Group will use its adjusted EBITDA to
fund investment in capital expenditure
and working capital for growth. At the
end of FY22 this would leave the Group
with & strong unsecured net cash position
and at that point the Board will consider
the resumption of dividend payments.
FY22 year-end adjusted net debt is
expected to be in the range of £280m to
£300m.

SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK

FY21 was a year of significant strategic
progress and the business is in a much
stronger position than it was at the start of
the pandemic. We are heartened by the
strategic progress we have made, however
we rerain cautious on the external
environment given the uncertainty around
the relaxing of the government restrictions
and the end of the furlough scheme.

We are confident that our strategy is the
right one and we have demonstrated
throughout the year that we have a flexible
and agile business medel which is able to
react swiftly to the external environment
and deliver for our customers. We remain
committed to our medium-term targets
of 7% product revenue growth per annum
and a 14% adjusted EBITDA margin.
Achieving these will deliver sustainable
returns for shareholders.

sit

Steve Johnson
Chief Executive Officer
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Total number of sessions across
N Brown apps, mobile and
desktop websites.

T T

% of app / web sessions that result
in an accepted order.

FY21 2.8

FY20 2.9

DEFIMITION

Average number of items per
accepted order.

"Acceptzd Demand is the value of ordors frem custormers fncluding VAT) thatwe accept, re aftar our credi

DEFINITHOMN
Customers who placed an accepted
order in the 12-month period.

AVERADGE ORDER
VALUE ("A0VT

£69.0)

Fy21 £69.0

FY20 £70.2

DEFIRITION
Average order value based
on accepted demand’.

DEFIMNITION

FY20 and FY21 arrears are stated
including both customer debts with
two or more missed payments, or
customer debts on a payment hold
(ineluding Covid-19 payment deferrals).

Fy21 10.0m

Y20 12.2m

DEFNITION

Total orders placed in the

12 month period. Includes online
and offline orders.

DEFHNITION
Average itern value based
on accepted demand'.

CE

FY2G )

DEFINITION

Customers asked to rate likelhood to
“recammend the brand to a friend or
colleague” on a 0-10 scale (10 mast
likely). NPS is (% of 910} minus {% of 0-6)
NPS is recorded on JjD Williams, Simply
Be, Ambrose Wilson, Jacamo, Home
Essentials and Fashion World.
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MARKETPLACE

ADAPTING TG
PAARKET TRENDS

The retail market has
significantly changed since
the start of 2020 due to
the impact of Covid-19.

The significant social and economic
challenges posed by Covid-19 have
accelerated the shift to online retail with
growth of anline retail sales by 43.8% in Q4
220", Whilst Covid-19 vaccine programmes
continue to bring hope for sustained easing
of restrictions throughout 2021, a degree

of uncertainty remains, and it is expected
that consumers will continue to shop more
online. Some customers wili be reluctant to
return to in-store shopping and many have
become accustomed to shopping online
during the pandemic,

This year has seen an incressed focus on
home products as people have spent
more time than ever at home. The launch
of our Home Essentials brand and our
ability to pivot to meet changing consumer
demand have been important for N Brown
in navigating the fast-changing retail
environment this year,

The clothing and footwear sector has
been the hardest hit retail sector in the
UK amid the pandemic’ as consumers
prioritised essential items due to economic
uncertainty and the restrictions imposed
on social events, occasions and holidays
reducing the need for new clothing.

Our focus is on responding promptly teo
changing trends and customer demand,
and for example this year, we successfully
pivoted to newly resilient categories

such as Leisurewear and Nightwear.

We wili continue to monitor changes in
consumer demand across categories
where our brands have a very strong,
differentiated offering.

© BRC Stare of Trade ©4 2020, January 2021
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Our credit proposition is a key differentiator, enabling

us to provide convenient financial services to custormers,
while using data to provide them with personalised and
targeted offers. Our credit customers are also loyal to

N Brown, helping to drive demand for our products.

outcomes. This is helping drive
incremental improvernent and we see
further opportunities in this area.

As the refined brand propositions attract
a broader and mcre affluent section of
the market, we have begun the process
of developing new financial products that
are familiar to these customers and drive
higher volumes of full price incrementat
retail sales. Supporting the delivery of
these new credit options will be cur new
FS platform and we have made good
progress in a discovery phase to helo
understand the different delivery options.

In response to the pandemic and te

we implemented and adapted processes
at pace, to meet our customers’ needs.
The Group fully embraced the revised
FCA guidance on the impact of Covid-19
and expanded cur contact channels,
rolled out additional forbearance in the
form of the temporary payment deferral,
and enhanced our monitoring and
reporting of vulnerable customers.

We are also enhancing our use of data
sources, analytical tools and techniques
to improve our lending proposition.
Aire Labs is an Al tool which supports
better credit decisions and customer

ensure our customers are fully supported,

Our success as a business is determined
by the dermand for our products, which
stems from consumer confidence, and
our ability to benefit and service that
demand by cultivating brands that
resonate, products that stand out, and
z leading digital customer experience.

The latest GfK Consumer Confidence
Index? shows a further increase in the
Overall Index Score for March which
increased by a sturdy seven points to
-16, marking an improvement each
month in 2021 so far. Whilst consumer
confidence is expected to continue
to rise, economic uncertainty and
overall lower consumer confidence are
expected to remain throughout 2021
as a result of the pandemic.

The anticipated sustained easing of
restrictions over the coming months
and a return to some level of normality
will mean that consumers look to spend
on categories which have been less
popularin 2020, such as formalwear.
Qur ability to pivot our business model
inte praduct categories to meet
consumer demand is key to supporting
our overall strategy to ensure
sustainable long-term growth.
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BUSINESS MODEL

CREATIMNG SUSTAINABLE VALUE

A P T e
OUR RESOURCES What makes us different?
Colleagues Brands
Without our colleagues We operate five strategic
and their relentless energy,  +  retail brands and a portfolio
enthusiasm and passion we of other brands selling UNDERSERVED
couldn’t do what we do. Clothing and Footwear, and MARKET FOCUS

Home and Gift.

Product Reputation

Delivering product which We believe we should be

truly resonates with our a major force for good DISTINCT BRAND PORTFOLIO
custorners in perfect in fashion. It's a huge

fitting styles. responsibility, and a

purpose way beyond profit.

Finance

Our customers can either pay us immediately or make

purchases on credit, thereby spreading the cost and allowing GREAT PRODUCT
them to budget appropriatefy.

Customers Suppliers

We are proud to make We WOrk CO“abDratiVer T A T e e e e
great products which our with our suppliers across DIGITAL CAPABILITIES

customers love, We exist fo the world to ensure that we

make cur customers look <an serve our customers by

and feel amazing. delivering key products and

trends at the right time.

Regulators Communities . e e
lousvequisiorste ommure commonies i hch we CONVENIENCE OF FINANCIAL
that our customers receive operate and encourage SERVICES OFFER

good outcomes, our colleagues to play a

positive role within their
local community.

Shareholders

We work to deliver iong-term sustarnable value for
our shareholders.

Further information on
our relationships is on p3¢
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We exist 1o make our customens ook
and feel amazing, and create a platform
for sustainable growth.

-

Reinvested for

long-term growth'

5 v, 7
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SOURCE,
DESIGN AND
CREATE PRODUCTS
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'MW#%

Cash generated?

AR

MARKET AND

DATA SELL OWN AND
FEEDBACK THIRD-PARTY
BRANDS
o
|
\ o~ A
h DELIVERY s RN Ll
AND
RETURNS Charity and community investment?
' Capital expenditure, (e, purchases of intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment
Met casn generated from the Group's
operating activities The Directars beliove that
ABILITY TO OFFER FINANCE net cash generaled -5 the most sppropnaste

Ci measJara of the Group's cusn genearatiun frem
o underlyirg performance

© Overall calleague engagement scors measurea
through the Group's VIBE survey ir FY23
Charitable donations made by the Group in FY21.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

HEVIEW OF THE YEAR

“I would like to thank all
our stakeholders for the
support which they have
given the Group in such

an unprecedented vear,
The Group was able to
demonstrate its flexible
business model to deliver
a resilient adjusted EBITDA
rerformance in year above
the top end of guidance.
We also significantly
strengthened the capital
structure of the Group,
completing a £100m
equity raise which leaves us
well positioned to deliver
sustainable growth.”

ol

Rachel Izzard
Chief Financial Officer

With the financial year beginning on

1 March 2020, and the first UK lockdown
announced on 23 March 2020, this

has been an unprecedented period

for N Brown with an initial immediate
and material impact on product sales,

- By reacting quickly and flexibly, and
- building on strategic changes already

underway, we were successful in
mitigating a large proportion of the
impact and remain profitable at all levels.

As a result of this resilient financial
performance and support from all
stakeholders including our shareholders,
the Group has eliminated unsecured
debt and extended its financing
facilities. We entered the pandemic

with the RCF fully drawn at £125m and
have finished the year with an undrawn
RCF and a significantly improved
leverage position,

Product revenue improved every quarter
following the sudden decline at the
onset of the pandemic, and in Q4 our
strategic brands delivered Product
revenue growth. We have demonstrated
the flexibility of our cost base with

REVENUE

£m
Revenue
Strategic brands”

Other brands®

Total Product revenua
Financial Services revenue
Grouprevenue

' FYZ20restated see note 32 on page 151

material improvement in the adjusted
operating costs to Group revenue ratio
in the year enabling us to offset more
than 80% of the reduction in gross profit
and remain profitable.

We supported our Financial Services
credit customers through the period and
repayment rates stayed in line or ahead
of previous years with an improved
arrears position. IFRS 9 requires the
inclusion of future expected credit
fosses which consider the forecast
impacts of the pandemic. This has
resulted in our IFRS 9 provision ratio
increasing to 14.1% from 10.9% in FY20.

As aresult of the eqguity raise, tight cost
and working capital control, temporary
reductions in capital expenditure and
suspension of the dividend, combined
with a smaller debtor book, the Group
reduced adjusted net debt by £196.1m
in the year.

N Brown is now well placed to deliver
its strategic goals of medium-term
Product revenue growth of 7% per
annum and an adjusted EBITDA margin
of 14%.

3 3727 (8.51%

174.3 27.0%
ST 5470 (14.4%
It b 2905 (10.4%
? 8375 (13.00%

? JDWiltiams, Simply Be, Ambrose Wilson, Jacamo and Home Essentials
* Other brands are Fashion Werld, Marisata, Oxendales and Premier Man. High & Mighty, House of Bath
and Figleaves were folaed into Strategic brands in FY21,

Group revenue declined 13.0% to £728.8m, as a result of a 14.4% decline in Product
revenue and a 10.4% decline in Financial Services revenue.

Product revonue 125.77%

(15.0% (9.6)% {4 3)%
Strategic brands’ (19.5% 9.8Y% {2.5)% 1.3%
Other brands¢ (38.3}% (26.2V% {26.00% (18.5)%
Financial Serwces revenus (8.3)% {15 8% 18.31% 18.0Y%

Q1 FY21 s the 13 weeks to 30 May 2020, Q2 FY21 15 the 13 weeks to 29 August 2020, Q3 FY21 is the

18 weeks to 2 January 2021, Q4 FY2? is the 8 weeks to 27 February 2021 All percertage changes reflect

FY21 revenue against the comparable pericd in FY20 restated. Product revenue has been adjusted to

reflect the actual returnz performance in the year.

' Strategic brands are JO Williams, Simply Be, Ambrosz Wilson, Jacamo and Home Essentials.

* Gther brands are Fashion World, Marisota, Oxendales ard Premier Man, High & Mighty, House of Bath
and Figleaves were folded into Strategic brands in FY21.
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Following the sudden and significant
decline at the onset of the panderric,
Product revenue made a steady recovery
throughout the perivd predominantly
driven by the performance of the
strategic brands which ended the year

in growth. The Group was able to pivot
its offer to meet customer demand

of Home and Gift products, boosted

by the launch of Home Essentials as a
standalone website on 1 April 2020 and
as a result, the percentage of Home and
Gift product revenue increased from 29%
in FY20 to 41% in FY21.

Customer returns rates were lower
in the vear, (8.8)ppts vs FY20, due to
a combination of mix into the lower
returning Home and Gift products
(4.4)ppts as well as an underlying
improvement through the pandemic
period (4.4)ppts.

During the year we have changed our
treatment of where we record the VAT
bad debt relief received from HMRC as

a consequence of writing off customer
receivables. The VAT relief was previousty
represented in Product revenue. We now
believe a more appropriate treatment,

is to credit the VAT relief as a reduction
to cost of sales. This credit is reflected
within the Product gross margin as

the relief would not be available to a
standalone Financial Services business.
Both the prior year and current year have
been amended to this approach which is
covered in note 32,

In Financial Services the customer
receivables gross debtor balance reduced
during the year 7.8% at the year end, and
{6.4% on average through the year due to
a combination of lower Product revenue
sales, and higher levels of customer
repayment rates, partially offset by lower
write offs. As a consequence, Financial
Services revenue declined 10.4%.

Througheut the year our Financial
Services teams have been focused on
treating customers fairly and where
appropriate they were supported with
Covid-19 forbearance periods. When a
customer was on a Covid-19 payment
deferral, the Group did not apply interest
to their credit balances, The larger
decline in Financial Services revenue

in Q2 FY21 was due to ¢.3% of account
balances being on a Covid-19 payment
deferral. By the end of FY21 fewer than

1% of account balances remained on a
PP i ¥ o TRV PR [ s |
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ADJUSTED GROSS PROFIT

Product gross profit U400

Product gross margin % A43.6% 51.0% {7.41ppts
Financial services gross profit 1194 160 8 (257)%
Financial services gross marqin % 45.8% 35.4% {F.6)ppts
Adjusted Group gross profit Thd B

Adjusted Group gross profit margi B G2 o
Adjusted gross profit is gross profit excluding exceptional items. The Directors believe adjusted gross
profit represents the maost appropriate measure of the Group's underlying trading performance.

© Adpisted gross profit margin s caleulated as adjusted gross profit as a percentage of Group Reveniue.
The Directors believe adjusted gross orofit margin represants the maost appropriate measure of the
Group's underlying trading performance,

? FY20 restated see note 32 on page 151,

The Group's overall adjusted gross margin was 44.4%, compared to 52.5% in FY20
(as restated).

Product gross margin declined 7.4ppts to 43.6% primarily as a result of the strategic
decision to pivot the customer offer towards Home and Gift to respond to customer
demand. Whilst Home and Gift has a lower gross margin, it also has a much lower
returns rate. Product gross margin also declined as a consequence of discounting to
clear down clder stock, a continued highly promational market and increased freight
rates from the second half of the financial year.

The Financiat Services gross margin declined 9.6ppts to 45.8% due to the movement
in the impairment provision for future expected credit losses. In the first half of the
financial year and in accordance with IFRS 9, the Group increased the impairment
provision by £17m to reflect future expected credit losses as a result of the impact of
Covid-19 and payment deferrals. At the end of FY21 the impact has been reassessed
at £15.4m. The Financial Services gross margin in the prior year also benefitted from
IFRS 2 provision reassessments.

ADJUSTED OPERATING COSTY

17.0%

Warehouse and fulfilment costs (78.1)
Marketing and production costs (1360 55.7%
Admin and payroll costs 11e1n

£0%

Adjusted eperating costs’
Adjusted operating costs' as a % of Group
Revenue PRI S V7 nran

* Adjusted cperating costs are defined as operating costs less depreciation, amertisation and exceptional
items. The Directors believe this is the most appropriate measure of the Group's operating cost base as
it removes items that do not form part of the recurning activities of the Group.

At the start of the pandemic, we took swift and decisive action on the operating
cost base, highlighting the agility of the business model. This included tight control
of marketing expenditure, management pay cuts, furlough support, and working
with suppliers to unlock volume variability. As a resuit of these initiatives, adjusted
operating costs decreased by 289% compared to the prior year, significantly more
than the 13.0% decline in Group revenue. Statutory operating costs decreased

by 26.4% compared to the prior year. These cost savings mitigated 83% of the
Gross Margin decline, in-line with our guidance of offsetting more than 80% of the
absolute Gross Margin decline.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
CONTINUED

tMarketing costs were down 55.7%

year on year to £60.3m driven by

the strategic focus on sustainable
profitable marketing activity and from
the immediate and sharp removal of
non-revenue generating spend in H1in
response to Covid-19;

Warehouse and fulhilment costs were
17.0% lower year on year, better than
the 14.4% reduction in Product revenue.
Costs decreased as a result of lower
returns and continued efficiencies; and

Admin and payroll costs decreased

by 6.0%, driven predominrantly by

an immediate essential spend only
response to Covid-19 in the first half

of the financiat year, lower headcount,
minimal discretionary spend and travel,
and continued Head Office efficiencies.
Across Warehouse and Fulfilment and
Admin and Payroll, the Group benefitted
frorn c.£3.8m of furlough support from
the Government in H1 which allowed
us to werk through the challenges that
Covid-19 initially presented for our
business and preserve a significant
number of jobs for our colleagues.

Overall, adjusted operating costs

as a percentage of Group revenue
significantly improved from 39.8%

in FYZ20 to 32.5% in FY21 through a
combination of strategic change and
Covid-19 response.

ADJISTED EBITDA AND
STATUTORY OPERATING
PROFIT

We were able to offset more than 80%
of the reduction in gross profit and

the IFRS 9 provision increase through
control of costs and theretfore adjusted
EBITDA decreased by £20.2m to £86.5m.
Statutory operating profit was £35.1m

a decrease of £13.0m compared to the
prior year.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

The successful equity raise and refinancing in December 2020 has enabled the
Group to push ahead with strategic investment in technology advancements.
Following the equity raise and refinancing, the Group has therefore performed a
detailed review of the useful economic lives ("UEL") of its legacy assets in light of
general advancements in technology and the Group'’s revised strategy. This resulted
in shortening the useful economic lives of certain assets and an increase in the
amortisation charge of £4.6m, More detail is included in note 12 on page 132.

As previously guided, Depreciation and Amortisation increased in the year as
the Group accelerated the pace of its strategic change. FY21 Depreciation and
Amartisation was £39.8m, compared to £30.1m in the prior year.

NET FINANCE COSTS

Net finance costs were £16.6m, a decrease of 29% compared to last year as a result
of lower levels of debt following the equity raise, management actions to maintain
liguidity and a smaller debtor book.

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Exceptional items are items of income and expenditure which are one-off in nature
and material to the current financial year or represent true ups to items presented as
exceptional in prior periods. These were significantly lower than the prior year as the
Group has now reached conclusion over the majority of legacy issues, with legacy
tax structures resclved and the FCA customer redress deadline behind us. The only
significant legacy issue still outstanding is the Allianz contingent liability, more detail
is provided on the following page.

in line with the Board's strategic review and muliti-year transformation of the
business, a material level of cost reduction programs have been completed as
well as an increased focus and refinement of the Group's five strategic brands.
During FY21, total redundancy costs of £5.Z2m have been incurred across the
Group including Figleaves, in order to align the Group's people costs to deliver
an organisational design that supparts the revised strategy. A further £2.7m

has been incurred on the restructure and the transfer of the Figleaves business
under the Simply Be brand. including stack write down of £1.1m and onerous
contract provisions of £0.8m. The one-off costs related to the transformation are
substantially complete,

In accordance with the requirements of IAS 36 management have assessed the
carrying value of the intangible assets held in respect of the International (£1.2m)
and Figleaves business (£0.8m), following the Group's strategic decision during the
year to focus on the UK as a market and the five strategic brands, and have written
the value of these assets down in full.

Further details are included in note 6 on page 126,

Strategic change A 35

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets and brands 1.7 1.8
Legal costs 1.1 1.0
Customer radrass "o 228

Tax matters (0.7
Gain from early settlement of derivarive contracts e -
lterns charged to profit before tax T 285
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ALLIANZ CLAIVE AND
CUHINTERCLAIM

The Group is currently involved in a
claim and counterclaim with Allianz
Insurance ple regarding the sale of
historical insurance products. The claim
and counterclaim are extremely complex
and preceedings remain at an early
stage, with each party only recently
having completed a lengthy disclosure
exercise. We continue to gather detailed
and factual expert and witness evidence
in relation to multiple elements of the
claim and counterclaim. The Group has
concluded that these issues mean it

is not possibie to reliably estimate the
amount of any potential financial outflow
and has, therefore, not made provision
for this claim at this time and instead a
contingent liability has been disclosed.
Further details can be found in note 26
on pldd,

USTED PROFIT BEFORE
ATUTORY

H

¥ TEOikE
Adjusted profit before tax was £30.1m,
down 49.4% year on year as a result of
lower gross profit, the increase in the
IFRS 9 provision and the accelerated
depreciation and amaortisatian,

Statutory profit before tax was £99m
{FY20: £35.7m) which reflects a £13.3m
reduction in fair value adjustments to
financial instruments and is inclusive
of the £15.4m Covid-19 impact on the
IFRS 7 provision made in the year.

T ATHON

The taxation charge for the period is
based on the underlying estimated
etfective tax rate for the full year of
19.0%. Further details are contained
in note ? on p129.

EARMNINGS PER SHARE

Adjusted earnings per share were 7.8%p (FY20: 14.37p}. Statutory earnings per share
were 2.63p (FY20: 9.63p). Both measures include the impact of the reduction in
earnings as well as the 61.1% increase in the share capital following the equity raise
in December 2020. Further details can be found in note 11 on p130.

FINANCIAL SERVICES CUSTOMER RECEIVABLES AND
HAPAIRMENTY

In FY21, the gross debtor book reduced by 7.8% to £605.8m due to lower product
sales and an increase in customer repayment rates partially offset by lower write
off rates.

Customer arrears rates improved in the year (1.3ppts to 7.9%) with the government
pandemic support in place. The pricing for the previously bi-annual debt sates
improved underpinned by the decision to move to a single larger debt sale at the
end of the year.

IFRS ¢ requires the inclusion of future expected credit losses which consider the
forecast impacts of the pandemic. This has resulted in our overall IFRS 9 provision
ratio increasing to 14.1% from 10.9% in FY20, with the Covid-19 impact model overlay
assessed at £15.4m at the year end.

Customer loan balances have reduced in the period, and the IFRS 9 provision rates
increased as shown in the following table:

Gross customer loan balances

6569 {7 8)%

IFRS @ provision (1.7} 118.8Y%
Normal account provisions 66.3} +0.4ppts
Payment arrangoment provisions 5.4 {0.6)ppts
Covid-19 1impacts (2 Sippts
IFRS @ provision ratio 10.9% (3.2)ppts
Net Customner Loan Balances 5852 . U1O%

The profit and loss net impairment charge for FY21 was £1321m, £11.5m higher
than last year due to the increase in IFRS 9 provision offset by lower write-offs as
shown below.

FY20 net impairment charge 127.6
Under IFRS 9, we have provided an extra £15.4m tor expected tuture credit losses

as a result of the econamic impacts of Covid-1? 15.4
Areduction inthe amount of debt sold due to improved arrears performance 446
A smaller debtor book due to lower product sales {5.5)
Improved boak quality year-on-year (3.00
FY21 netimpairment charge _E
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
CONTINUED

FUNDING AND EQUITY RAISE

In November 2020 the Group
announced a £100m equity raise to
eliminate unsecured debt and accelerate
strategic investment, concurrent with
new and extended banking facilities.
Following shareholder approval and
the subsequent move to the Alternative
investment Market ("AIM”) the Group
fully repaid the RCF, and repaid and
cancelled the £50m Coronavirus Large
Business Interruption Loan Scheme
("CLBILS") facility put in place in

May 2020.

As a result, the Group now has the
following arrangements in place with
its lenders:

An up to £500 million securitisation
tacility committed until December
2023, drawings on which are linked to
prevailing levels of eligible receivables;

An RCF of £100 million committed until
December 2023; and

An overdraft facility of £12.5 million
which is subject to an annual review
every July.

At the end of FY21 the Group had total
available liquidity of £184.8m.

In May 2020, in response to the
pandemic, the Group put in place an

up to £50 million three-year Term Loan
facility, under the Government's CLBILS,
amended certain terms and covenants
of the securitisation facility and widened
certain covenants on the unsecured
RCF facility. These were replaced with
the facilities outlined above following
the December 2020 equity raise

and refinancing.

PR R BTN

Net inventory levels at the year end were
down 18.1%, to £77.7m (FY20: £94.9m)
following the Group's focus on reducing
the level of inventory held in respect

of old seasons, as well as a raduction

in stock purchases reflecting the
reduction in customer demand for
certain products.

CASH FLOW

The Group initially reduced capital expenditure to preserve liquidity at the start of
the pandemic. Following the equity raise in December 2020, capital expenditure
levels started to increase as the Group began to accelerate its strategic plans and in
the year capital expenditure was £20.0m (FY20: £3%.7m).

Total net cash generated in the year was £158.4m compared to £0.2m in the same
period last year. Excluding the £93.5m equity raise net proceeds, net cash generated
from operations was £64.9m (FY2C: £20.3m). This increase was a result of the successful
reduction in inventory levels, a release of working capital from the FS customer
loanbook with customer repayments net of funds returned on the associated
securitisation debt facility, the suspension of dividends and a reduction in the level of
exceptional cash drain.

Adjusted EBITDA S 106.7
Inventory working capital T 16.6
Other working capital and operating cashflows (35.6)
Cashflow adjusted for working capital PR a/.7
Exceptional ltems : (39.6)
Capital Investrnent {32.7)
Non-operating tax and treasury o 0.3
Interest (17.8}
Non-operational cash outflows 17,0 (96.8)
Net repayment / (increase) in loan book o . 7 r s 7 {0.1)
Net (decrease) / increase in securitisation debt balance S 9.5
Net cash from the customer loan book ] o 4
Net cash generated from operations I A 203
Dividends e L 200
Equityraise . eas -
Net cash generated from operations 1584 02

ADJUSTED NET DEBT

As a result of the Group's successful equity raise, on-going focus on cash
generation, tight cost control, reduction in capital expenditure and suspension of
the dividend, together with a smaller debtor book, the Group significantly reduced
adjusted net debt in the year.

Unsecured net debt, which is defined as the amount drawn on the Group's unsecured
borrowing facilities less cash balances was eliminated in the period and the Group
closed the year with net cash of £80.8m (FY20: unsecured net debt (£77.5)m).

Adjusted net debt decreased by 39.4% in the year, to £301.1m (FY20: £497.2m). This is
the net of £80.8m of cash and £381.9m of debt drawn against the securitisation
funding facility which is backed by the eligible customer receivables. The £520.6m
net customer loan book significantly exceeds this net debt figure.

DIVIDEND AND CAPITAL ALLOCATION
As announced on 23 March 2020 due to the impact of Covid-12 the Board

suspended dividend payments for the foreseeable future. The Direclors recognise
that dividends are an important part of the Company's returns to shareholders and
the Board will consider the resumption of dividend payments at the end of FY22.

PENSION STHEME
The Group's defined benefit pension scheme has a surplus was £25.5m and remained
broadly similar to the prior vear (FY20: £26.3m).
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FiANCIAL KPS
The Group's non-financial KPls are contained in the Chief Executive Officer’s statement. The Group also uses a number of
financial KPls to manage the business. These are laid out below and the Group will continue to report these going forwards.

' P : SRR RS
Product revenue f468.4m £547.0m (14 1%
Adjusted EBITDA! £86.5m £106./m (18.9%
Adjustad EBITDA margin 1.9% 12./% 0.8)ppts
Adiusted operating costs” to Group revenue 32.5% 39.8% (7. 3ppts
Unsecured net cash/[unsccuraed net dabtt £80.8m £{77.5)m nim

Adjusted EPS 7890 1637 (518%)

Adjustad EBITDA 5 calculated a operating profit, excluding exceptional items, with depreciation and amertisation added back. The Directors bebeve adjustad EBITDA
1epresants the most appropriate measure of the Group's underlying trading performance as it rernoues iterns that do not form part of the recurring activities of the Group,

" Adusted operating costs tc revenue ratio is calculated as operating costs less depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items as a percentage of Group

revenue The Directors beliave this 1s the most appropriate measure to demonstrate the efficiency of the Group's operating cost base.

Unsecured net debt excludes debt securitised against receivables (customer loan boak) of £3819m and lease liabilities of £4.9m. The directors believe this is the mest

appropriate measura of the Group’s net debtin relation to its unsecurad borrowings and is used to calculate the Group's leverage ratio, a key debt covenant measure.

* Adjusted earnings per share based on earnings before exceptional items and fair value adjustments, which are those items that do not form part of the recurring
operational activities of the Group. The Directors believe that this is the most appropriate measure of the Group's @arnings per share as it removes items that do
not form part of the recurring activities of the Group.

RECONCILIATION OF STATUTORY FINANCIAL BESULTS TO ADJUSTED REBULTE
The Directors believe that the adjusted measures provide useful information for shareholders to evaluate the Group's underlying

trading performance. These measures are used by management for budgeting, planning and monthly reporting purposes and
are the basis for executive and colleague incentive schemes.

The adjusted figures are presented befare the impact of exceptional items. Exceptional items are items of income and
expenditure which are one-off in nature and material to the current financial year or represent true ups to items presented as
exceptional in prior periods. These are detailed in note 6.

Adjusted EBITDA represents the most appropriate measure of the Group's underlying trading performance. Adjusted EBITDA
is defined as operating profit, excluding exceptionals, with depreciation and amaortisation added back.

Adjusted profit befars tax represents the most appropriate measure of the Group's underlying profit before tax as it removes
the exceptional items and the fair value adjustments to financial instruments.

Afull glossary of Alternative Performance Measures and their definitions is included on page 161.

Group revenue 8375 8375
Gross profit 4 4398 G.3 4393
Group gress profit margin 4 il N 52.5% 52 5%
Operating profit 4 e e ah 481 28.5 764
Operating profit margin 2.8vs SR 5.7% 9.1%
Depreciation and amortisation ) AR - R 301 301
EBITDA 1067
EBITDA margin 12.7%
Net finance (costs) 8 (17.1) )
Profit before tax and fair value adjusiments to

financial instruments 3.0 28.5 59.5!
Fair value adjustments to financial instrurments 18 i 47 4.7
Profit before tax iosh 357 285 642
Taxation 9 1.7 (83) (5.5) (13.8)
Profit for the year 2.5 27.4 230 504
Basic earnings per share (p] n 263 L Y
Dituted earnings per share (p) [ | X 962 7 s

Tne revenue and gross profit have been restated in FYZ0 as outlined i note 3Z on page 151
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RISK MANAGEMENT

PROTECTING THE INTEGRITY
OF OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY

ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Group has continued to enhance
and ermbed risk management practices
in support of the N Brown Enterprise
Risk Management Framework ("RMF").
The RMF enables the Group to maintain
robust governance and oversight around
risk management activities across the
business to underpin a standardised
approach to managing risks,

RISK IDENTIFICATION

AR ASSESSMENT

As part of the deployment of the RMF

the Group has, over the last 12 months,
transitioned to a more consolidated

and standardised set of 14 Principal Risk
Categories. Legacy risks have been mapped
and indexed directly 1o ane of these 14
Principal Risk Categories.

In order to identify the Group's areas of
Principal Risk and determine risk appetite,
legacy risks and the current and horizon

risk profile have been mapped against

the Group's strategic priotities and
transformation plan. Risk staternents,
appetite metrics and key risk indicators have
been developed for each area of risk,

Principal risks with the potential to impact on
performance and the delivery of the strategic
roadmap in year or through the planning
cycle are listed on p33.

' SKILLS AND .

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

{dentify
and Assess .

S"", S

... . RESOURCES .

Maonitar
and Report

" POLICIES, STANDARDS AND PROCEDURES

The Board of Directors maintain a continuous
process foridentifying, evaluating

and managing risk as part of its overall
responsibility for raintaining internal
controls and RMF. This process is intended
to provide reasonabie assurance regarding
cormnpliance with laws and regulations as well
as commercial and operational risks.

Review and identification of existing and
ernerging risks is facifitated by Board-level
risk assessment cycles completed during
the year, as informed by risk assessments at
business unit level. Outputs are reported to
the Audit and Risk Committee. During FY21,
facilitation of the process moved from
Internal Audit to Group Risk.

In setting strategy, the Board considers
Environmental, Social and Governance
{("ESG") factors, drivers and impacts on the
health and sustainability of the business.
Furthermere, in general terms the strategy
is designed to deliver long-term sustainable

been established to provide an overview

of strategic risk and as such incorporates
assessments of risks that have the potential
to create ESG exposures; these are reported
through the governance framewaork and
managed accordingly.

The Principal Risks are shown in the heat
map on p33 and are detailed on p35 10 38,
The rasidual risk profile of the majority of
these remains unchanged or has improved
over the period. Where the risk profile has
deteriorated this is generally a result of
continued uncertainty in the risk outlock
oruncontrollable external or market.
Control enhancements are identified as the
Risk Management Framewark is rolled cut
across each principal risk category.

The Group recognises that no systern of
controls can provide absolute assurance
against material misstatement, loss or faflure
to meet its business objectives.
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RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

PROTECTING THE INTEGRITY OF

OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY CUNTI

AP ATED ASSURANCE
The Group has continued to invest in risk

management capability and capacity
across the three lines of defence:

1st Line: Owns the risks to deliver a
well-managed and compliant business
and undertzkes testing of key contrals as
part of the formal Risk and Control Self-
Assessment process.

2nd Line: Designs the frameworks,
controls and policy structure to
manage risks, supports implementation
and operations and performs

reviews over compliance with key
regulatery requirements,

3rd Line: Provides independent assurance
of the internal contral environment within
the Group. Conducts reviews of the key
coritrols within operational processes and
the risk management framework. Locks to
confirm that effective governance is in
place to manage the Group's risks.

Outputs from assurance activities
are reported through the Group's
governance structure

Risk appetite defines the level of nisk

that the Group is prepared to accept in
pursuit of strategic objectives and aims
to determine guardrails within which the
Board expects management to operate.
Risk appetite formalisation is an iterative
process and needs be refreshed at least
annually to reflect changes in the Group's
internal and external environment.

The Group's appetite for risk is defined
with reference to the expectations of the
Board for both commercial opportunity
and internal control and is used to inform
the prioritisation of the Group's annual
intermal Audit plan. Appetite levels and
statements are contained within the
Group's Principal Risk Policy set along with
the requirements for the management of
each of the principal risks.

The Board is responsible for approving
proposed risk appetite in line with its
axpectations on risk taking.

Executive Management determines the
Group’s risk appetite statements and
tolerance levels for key risk appetite
tnemes across the Group.

i

1™,
I
|

Individual functienal leadership teams and
colleagues are expected to operate within
the risk appetite boundaries approved by
the Beard and to escalate any exceptions.

Formalisation of risk appetite allows
the Board and Executive Management
team to:

Better formulate and communicate a clear
Board-leve! direction on acceptable levels
of risk.

Implement a mechanism to monitor risk
areas needing senior management and
Board attention {through key Board-
level metrics) and associated actions

to address.

Provide guidance for the managerment
teams to make appropriate risi-informed
decisions within tolerances set by

the Board.

Provide a sound basis for Board assertions
around consideration of risk appetite.

COVIR-1e, Ui EXIT FROM
THE ELROPEAN UNION
CEREXITTY AND DOTHER
WEY AREAL OF FOCUS
Covid-1% and its related impacts has
dominated the Group's in-year activity ancl
near-term risk horizon. Stress testing and
scenario planning has been maintained in
relation to a range of extreme but plausible
scenarios which include the impact on
demand for retall goods resulting from

a downturn in censumer confidence,

the ability of our credit customers to
maintain contractual payments, and loss of
operational continuity arising from further
lockdown restrictions or global disruption
to the supply chain. Management maintains
reasonable assurance over the Group's
outlook across the range of scenarios
maodelled but acknowledges that, while
likely to improve throughout the year, the
risk of continued business interruption

is likely to remain the new normal for

the foreseeable future in the context of
Covid-19 The busingss has continued to
perform well in the context of restrictions
and impacts related to the pandemic.

Resilience, continuity, and disaster recovery
capability has been successfully exercised
and significantly real-world stress-tested
through Covid-19 incident management.
Notwithstanding, 1t is difficult to predict
the impact that Covid-1% might have on the
business. Related medium- and longer-
term rmacro-econamic and social iImpacts
are difficult to determine and whilst
management has considered extreme but
plausible downsides, these do not include
the most severe of possibilities.

The Board has continued to monitor
Brexit impacts and mitigations with
rmanagement throughout the year via

the Group's Brexit Steering Committee’s
actions and cutputs, Management
executed a comprehensive and
appropriate set of action plans to mitigate
impacts in each of the areas of risk
identified — most significantly in relation
te supply chain continuity and tariff
arrangements. While some uncertainty
exists around the application of the Trade
and Co-Operation Agreement between
the UK and EU to retail and financial
sarvices sectors, the outlock for Lthe
impact of Brexit-related risk is considered
to be relatively benign and to have
significantly reduced.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Pe s PAUING THE GROUF

HaeMTH YRS, EVALUATING AN MANATIRNG
[
H

VIR MAS FIVE

DISTINCT BRANDS TO ATTRACT BROADER
RANGES OF CUSTOMERS

IMPROVED PRODUCT TO DRIVE
CUSTOMER FREQUENCY

NEW HOME OFFERING FOR CUSTOMERS
TO SHOP MORE ACROSS CATEGORIES

ENHANCED DIGITAL EXPERIENCE TQ
INCREASE CUSTOMER CONVERSION

FLEXIBLE CREDIT TO HELP CUSTOMERS SHOP

UNDERSNMMED BY:

DATA
PEOPLE AND CULTURE
SUSTAINABLE COST BASE

Conduct and Customer

The risk that the Group's processes, behaviours, preducts
or interactions will result in unfair cutcomes for customer or
undermine market integrity.

The Group ensures that it is able to respond to customer
axpectations for fair treatment throughout the custormer lifecycle
that it has quality products and good service through customer
insight modelling and has aligned Financial Services policies and
effective compliance monitoring processes.

Planned enhancements include:

Embedding of Customer Outcome focused
Quality Assurance Framewaork.

Enhanced Conduct Risk Dashboard reporting
through FS Governance.

Embedding of new Level 2 Canduct
and Customer Policy Suite.

Roll cut new Conduct Risk Training module.

Embed enhanced Vulnerable Customer regulatory guidance.

Link to strategic priority
4 % A K &7

Fpowy a iy

Information Security

The risk of malicious or accidental disclosure, loss, amendment
or corruption of data. The risk a successful cyber attack gains or
prevents access o systems or resources.

We protect Group and customer data and respond to cyber
threats through continuous cyber security manitoring, network
vulnerability scanning and operating system software security
and anti-denial of service processes.

Planned enhancements include:
Enhanced Identity and Access Management.
Embedding of Patching and Vulnerability Policy.

Improved governance framewaork and monitoring system over
access to data.

Automated scanning of all assets against baseline security
standards.

Link to strateaic prioritv
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PRINCIPLE RISKS AND UNCERTANTIES
CONTINUED

IDENTIFYING, EVALUATING AND MANAGIHNG

RISKS FACING THE GROUP CON!

Financial Crime
The risk that financial crime is attempted or perpetrated against

or by the Group or that the Group fails to meet legal and
regulatory obligations in relation to financial crime.

The Group ensures that it protects itself and its customers from
the effects of financial crime. It does this through the effective
identification and management of financial crime risk, including
consideration of money laundering, terrorist financing, sanctions
violations, bribery and carruption, customer behaviour, external
fraud and internal fraud.

Planned enhancements include:

Embedding of enhanced Financial Crime Policy Suite.
Further role-based Financial Crime training to be delivered.

improved Financial Crime Management information, reporting
and governance.

Link to strategic priority

CIRE S P

Business Resilience

The risk of & lack of resilience in the delivery of critical services
and processes as a result of significant business disruption.

The Group ensures it is able to respond to significant disrupting
events thraugh having an effective risk management framework,
appropriate crisis management and scenario planning
underpinned by business continuity plans for each business area.

Planned enhancements include:

Implementation of Operationa! Resilience Framework.
Embedding of Business Continuity Management System.

Upweighted Crisis Management Plans and capability.

Link to strateaic prioritv

Financial

ENIUIR

The risk that the Group has insufficient liquidity, appropriate
access to funds or that there are negative movements in the
market or we cannot meet our obligations as they fail due.

The Group ensures the robustress of its financial controls and
the capabllity for managing liquidity and market risks through
return on investment measures for key areas of discretionary
spending, detailed cash and margin forecasting processes, a
debt securitisation agreement and hedging of FX purchases.

Planned enhancements include:

Embedding of L2 Liquidity and Funding and Financial Reporting
policies.

Enhanced Mi and Reporting to the Financial Risk Management
Committee.

Enhanced stress and scenario testing.

Link to strategic priority

Bl A
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Change

The risk that we fail to execute change effectively and do not
deliver on strategic objectives.

We provide capacity for the Group to deliver its desired change
programme by taking an integrated approach to technological
and business change, adopting continucus, agile IT change
processes, and ensuring data-driven decision-making.

Planned enhancements include:

Embedding of agile methcdology through training and
awareness programme.

Improved RACI supporting change delivery.

Increased investment in Praduct Managers and Lead Deiivery
Managers to build consistency and capability.

Link to strateaic prioritv
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Data
The risk of failing to appropriately manage, maintain and ensure

appropriate usage of data including custormer, colleague and the
group's proprietary data.

The Group has a strong data governance programme across

all business areas and support functions to help ensure dats;

is protected and maintains its integrity and confidentiality; is
available in the right structure, to the right pecple / systems,

at the right time; is of the highest guality required to support
business activity; is retained for no longer than is necessary; is
processed in accordance with regulatory requirements, and;
models are appropriately governed including mitigation of bias.

Planned enhancements include:
Embedding of erhanced Data Risk Policy Suite.

Expand the Data responsibility assignment model implemented
in Financiat Services and Finance to the rest of the Group.

New Data Protaction Training rofled out to all colleagues.

Deployment of technology selutions to underpin data
classification and protection.

Link to strategic priority
RPN ERE Y

Legal and Regulatory Compliance

The risk of receiving legal or regulatory sanctions, fines, or
restriction on trade as a result of misinterpreting or failing to
comply with requlatory or legislative requirements. The risk that
our contracts are not enforceable.

The Group ensures there is an appropriate response to existing
and new legal and regulatory requirements, maintains relevant
licences and autherisations and conducts an open relationship
with regulatory bodies. The Group cenducts appropriate
processes to facilitate the protection of both contractual and
copyright infringements.

Planned enhancements include:

Embed Compliance Policy and Methodology.

Additional investment in Compliance Crganisation Design.

Link to strateaic prioritv

Credit

The rigk that our customers fail to meet their cbligations
when due.

We serve the underserved with inclusive credit whilst ensuring
capability and management of the Group's customer portfolio

and debtor book, including arrears rates and potential bad or
persistent debts through lending and arrears management policies,
customer forecasting, credit loss (IFRS 9) modelling and compliance
monitoring processes.

Planned enhancements include:
Embedding of Credit Risk Dashboard.

Enhanced forbearance reporting.

Link to strategic priority

g
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Process

The risk of failure arising from the design, documentation and
operation of our processes.

We ensure material operational processes are identified,
controlled, compliant with regulation where appropriate and
underpinned by documented standard operating procedures.

Planned enhancements include:

Operational Resilience Framework implemention.

Embedding of Quality Assurance Framework within Financial
Services.

Risk and Control Self-Assessment Key Control testing
requirements implemented over core processes.

Link to strateaic prioritv
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PRINCIPLE RISKS AND UNCERTANTIES
CONTINUED

IDENTIFYING, EVALUATING AND MANAGING
RISKS FACING THE GROUP CONTINUED

Techrnology
M B ._J?)'
The risk of the stability of the Group's currerit mix of new and

legacy IT systems and infrastructure and the failure arising from
the design, documentation and operation of our processes.

We seek to ensure the stability and sustainability of the Group's IT
systems through continuous, agile iT change processes, ongoing
system performance monitoting and modetnisation of legacy

IT systems.

Planned enhancements include:

Enhanced Disaster Recovery / Resilience capability.
Embedding of Technology Risk Policy suite.

Delivery of Technology Roadmap to reduce refiance on legacy
technology.

Update change management methodology from IT infrastructure
Library 3to 4.

Link to strategic priority

e A . N z 9
S ;\i, Ty b
N w2, RAEOD

H

People

The risk that we fail to recruit, develop and retain colleaques,
maintain z safe working environment, maintain an appropriate
organisational design or comply with employment-based legislation.

The Group ensures a safe and secure work environment.

We manage our cultural and peopte risks through performance
management, personal development, recruitment and talent
management of our colleagues through our people pelicies,
performance management system, My People Portal and the
intranet communication hub,

Planned enhancements include:

Embedding of People Risk policy suite.
Improved processes for managing key person dependencies.
Enhanced Organisation structures, forums and decision making.

Consolidation and Optimisation of the Group's Data functions
and capability.

Embedding of a hybrid Ways of Working model.

Link to stratecic orioritv

Strategic

The risk that incorrect planning assumptions or management
information result in incorrect decisions or that managerment fail
to rmake decisions in light of changes in the external environment.

The Group has a well-established and rigorous process for setting
strategy which involves assessing its internal position and priorities
and reviewing this in light of competitor and market context to form
a view on strategic direction. The strategy is reassessed annually and
governed through the Executive Board and N Brown Group Board.
The strateqy forms the basis of the Company roadmap and three-
year financial plan to enable strategy measurement,

Planned enhancements include:
Enhance horizon risk assessment process.

Enhanced risk governance to oversee principal risk framework roll
out and gap remediation.

Link to strategic pricrity

TP T4 R AT

Supplier and Outsourcing

The risk that we fail to appropriately select and manage Goods

For Resale ("GFR") and Goods Not For Resale (“GNFR") suppliers,
including outsourced arrangement, specifically that the supplier

/ outsourcer ceases to operate / suffers a major disruption or
undertakes any activity that would impact on the reputation and
corporate social responsibility cbligations of the supplier or N Brown.

The Group effectively selects and manages GFR and GNFR
suppliers and outsourcers, appropriately building strong and
trusted relationships, ensuring strong supplier governance
processes are followed.

Planned enhancements include:

Embedding a supplier menagement framework.
Digitisation and roll out of new supglier onboarding process.
Increased supplier charter coverage of own branded suppliers.

Enhancad M|, reporting and governance.

Link to strateaic prioritv
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SECTION 172 STATEMENT

The Directors take all factors into account
before making informed decisions. The fair
treatment of relevant stakeholders is
always considered, although the Board
acknowledge that not every outcome will
always benefit each stakeholder group.

Decision-making by the Board balances
the need 1o generate sufficient profit in
order to sustain the business commercially
against the needs of our various
stakeholders and, uliimately, the long-term
sustainable success of the Company.

We are committed to maintaining the
highest standard of business conduct; each
and every decision of the Board is made on
the basis of best ethical practice. We want
alf stakeholders to be comfortable in the
knowledge that our business decisions are
made with the intention of doing the right
thing for the planet and its people.

WHISTLEBLOWING

In fine with its Whistleblowing Policy, the
Group is partnered with an independent,
external whistleblowing reporting service
which provides 24-hour international
telephone lines, web portal and email
reporting facilities. All concerns can be
raised anonymously and are escalated to
the Company Secretary who investigates
them with due care and attention,
reporting accordingly to the Board.

Shareholders Investors and Debt
Providers play a major and vital role in
the success of the Company; they are the
providers of capital without whom the
Company could not grow or invest for
future development.

We engage with our providers of
capital via:

The Company’s Annusl General Meeting

Meetings with shareholders
and proxy advisors

Presentations to analysts and investors

Publication of Stock Exchange
announcerments, press releases,
quarterly trading results and Annual
Reports and Accounts,

Further |nformat|on about our engagement wtth

AFAGUES

Without our colleagues and their
relentless energy, enthusiasm and passion
we couldn’t do what we do. They are our
most important asset.

While the Company’s communication with
colleagues has had to fundamentally shift
during the Covid-1? pandemic, regular
engagement has taken place across a
variety of platforms including:

Colleague Forum — The Culture Club

Colleague Voice: twice-yearly
engagerment surveys and monthly
pulse surveys

Executive Director Sessions — coffee
with colleagues

Weekly Company-wide newsletters
from the CEO and other Directors

Colleague conversations — performance
and feedback sessions

Tearn huddles and meetings
Daily emalls from Internal Comms
Colleague recognition and rewards

The Company-wide intranet

Further |nformat|on about our engagement wrt‘h
colleagues can be found on p40.

CUSTOMERS

The Company is obsessed with its
custorners and has been for generations.
It delights thern with products, services
and finance opticns to fit their fives.

We regularly engage, both proactively
and reactively, with our customers via:

Praeduct testing
Market research groups

Net Prcmoter Scoring and Custorner
Services reports

Engagemeant across social media
and Customer Service channels

CURPLIERS AND PARTNERE
Suppliers and Partners are the key

links in the sourcing, development and
delivery of products and services to cur
customers, They support the Company
across every aspect of its operations and
are crucial to the successful delivery of
our business model.

The Company has continued to support
its suppliers and wider supply chain
throughout the Covid-19 pandemic

Following the Company's admission
to AIM in December 2020 we now
have a Nominated Adviser whose
role is to advise and guide us on our
responsibilities under the AIM rules.

Further |nformat|on about our engagemer\t \mth
suppliers can be found on p45.

COMMUNITY AND

THE ENYIRGBMENT

The Company has always endeavoured
to foster positive change across all
aspects of our community, both local and
global, and we continue to support and
encourage sustainable practices across
our business operations.

Further information about our engagement with
charities and our work on Environmental, Social
Governance can be found on p42 to 53.

TRADE AND

NIDUSTRY BOIDMES
Constructive engagement with trade and
industry bodies is a primary channel via which
the Company can support the sustainable,
ethical and responsible growth of the retail
industry. For example this year we signed up
to the BRC Clirmate Action Roadmap.

We engage directly with and are partof a
number of bodies including:

UN Global Compact

Action Collaboration and
Transformation — Living Wage

Ethical Trading Initiative

2018 Transition ACCORDY/
RSC Bangladesh

The Transparency Pledge

Further mformatlon about our engagement WIth
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BOARD ENGAGEMENT WITH THE WORKFORCE

ERAGE FROM
UM ARD RIOROSE

My second vear,
reporting as the
Designated Directer for
Colleague Engagement,
has been an insightful
one and i continue to

be proud of what the
Company, and our
colleagues, have achieved
throughout the year.”

Our engagement surveys continue

to provide us with rich and important
insight and 1 am delighted to see the
significant year on year improvements

to our engagement score and Net
Promotor Score. Along with my work
with the Culture Club, | have continued
to spend 1ime understanding the Pecple
agenda, roadmap and milestones for the
year ahead.

As we emerge from the various

stages of lockdown, now more than
aver, colleague communication and
engagement continue to be at the
centre of our strategy. Without the
enthusiasm, energy and passion of our
colleagues, we couldn't do what we do
and we hope to continue this good work
going forward.

Richard Moross
Designated Director for

rAallazAiin Encvamamant

COLLEAQGUE vOICE SURVEYS

Along with our twice-
yearly engagement survey,
we also conduct monthly
pulse surveys, providing
regular insight into
colleague sentiment.

This year, the pulse insights have proven
extremely helpful in navigating necessary
changes to working practices throughout
the pandemic, enabling the business

to respond quickly and effectively

to any issues, questions or ideas

from colleagues.

Our full Colleague Voice survey,
conducted in February, saw results
improving across all key metrics year on
year. Our overall colleague engagement
scare increased from 68% to 71% and
our Employee Net Promoter Score
maved from -10 to +7, moving us from

a moderate score to a positive score.

CULTURE CLUB

These are extremely positive results
considering the challengss of the year
and, particularly pleasing, were teams
such as Financial Services and Logistics,
which showed increases of 5% and 11%
respectively. These teams were key

to keeping the business operational
throughout FY21.

HOW ARE YOU
FEELING?

39.18%

| haver myy good S1.58%

ALELY

The role of the Company's Culture Club is to enable
effective two-way dialogue and to give colleagues a
platform and channel to voice their thoughts and influence
decisions in relation to the business and how it operates.

The Cutture Club provides a vital channel
for feedback and dialogue around key
issues and champions the work around
colleague engagement. Chaired by the
Director of Colleague Experience, and
sponsored by myself, a representative
group of colleagues from across each
area of the business meet on a monthly
basis to discuss topical matters.

The Culture Club has gained further
mamentum in FY21, working with
leaders from across the business to
share feedback and influence change.
Alongside garnering insight from across
the organisation, the Culture Club has

piloted walking meetings across our
teams and has launched three sub-
groups to focus on Wellbeing, Diversity
and Inclusion and Ways of Working.
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Courageous conversations
and feedback are key to
colleague engagement.

As we continue to develop our learning and
move towards a performance and feedback
culture, the statistics around check-ing and
feedback show some real improvements on
which we can build. A total of 14,218 check-
ins have been recorded over 2020 rising from
3,609 in the previous year. We have seen
4,738 pieces of feedback vs 3931 last year.

Encouragingly, requested feedback has
increased from 28% to 51% which really

plays into our feedback culture. Much of this
feedback has been positive with only 13%
constructive or growth feedback and a focus
this year will be on increasing constructive or

growth feedback.

SOLLEAGUE RECOGNITION
AR AWARDE

o ]
anition is a key focus
area and remains an engagement driver

In Decemnber 2020, we hosted the first N Browr: Awards at our

N Brown Big Night in. Nominations and Awards were linked to
the Values, along with the Alliance Award, which recognised the
colleague who's pulled out all the stops to put the customer at the
heart of everything they do.

As we continue to recognise our colleagues with digital Shout Quts
and our Wheel of Values, we further developed our channels with
our new #ShoutOut noticeboard, giving colleagues opportunities
to celebrate each other. The combination of these channels gives
us ¢.200 celebrations each month.

The focus for 2021 is on the introduction of a new Comms
Platform which will enable clear communication channels
and two-way storytelling and feedback along with additional
colleague benefits.

EXECUTIVE BOARD SESSIONS ~
COFFEE WITH COLLEAGUES

Sessions have been hosted by members of
the Executive team with a cross-tunc txonal
selection of colleagues to support and
amplify the work around voice, purpose
and community.

As we continue to develop our learning and dovetailing into the
drivers of colleague engagement, these sessions work alongside
the in-department get togethers.

Held once a manth and hosted each month by a different
member of the Executive team, attendees are encouraged

to share their experience, thoughts, ideas and suggestions.
This provides another channel to gather effective feedback
and enable two-way dialogue, along with giving colleagues an
opportunity for direct contact with members of the Exacutive
team from areas other than their own.
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In FY21, N Brown rebranded its
Environmental, Social and Governance
strategy to SUSTAIN which aims to fully align
our ethical policies with cur commercial
activities across our key sustainability pillars,
Our People and Cur Planet.
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Despite the challenges of the year, we are
pleased to report significant progress on
the Year One targets of our sustainability
roadmap, all of which were successfully
achieved within FY21. Information on the
activities in year can be found on p48.
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We are proud to announce that we have
signed up to the British Retail Consortium
(“BRC"} Climate Action Roadmap,
committing to an ambitious plan to achieve
net zero emissions by 2040. Qur current
sustainability roadmap will be combined with
the BRC's; further information on our work
to-date can be found on pd7.

Lhise

THIS YEAR WE REBRANDED OUR
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
("ESG") STRATEGY TO SUSTAIN.

e

MESSADE PR

AL BB TS

pe ‘“ Michael Ross
Chair of the
ESG Committee

"The Committee's primary focus in FY21 has been on
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. Fundamental to
our approach has been the support of our colleagues,
partners and suppliers during this chalienging time. We
have adapled 1o a hybrid system of working and will
continue to invest in building the right physical and virtual
systemns to support our colleagues.”

Another key activity int year has been the
expansion of our ‘Ethical Principles of
Responsible Al', originally announced in
2019, to a draft framework for assessing
‘Responsible Machine Learning’ ("ML").
The goal of the framework is ensure that
our approach to building models does
not contain hidden biases. It also includes
a commitment to consider the impact
of these models on the people who use
them. Work is ongoing to finalise the
framework following lessons learned from
practical application and to embed it
alongside the original principles.

| am available to speak with shareholders
at any time via the Company Secretary and
shall be available at the Annual General
Meeting on & July 2021 to answer any
questions you may have on this report.

| look forward to reporting on our
progress in relation to the priorities
outlined above in the next Annual Report.
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SUSTAIN - FOR TODAY, FOR TOMORROW, FOREVER

CONTINUED
QOUR PEOPLE

Our People includes all colleagues, customers
and stakeholders across our business and
throughout our supply chain.

MEMBERSHIPS

Last year's pandemic gave many
arganisations the opportunity to pause
for reflection, to learn and to adapt,
allowing for a change in approach.

This has been no different for N Brown.
We expect everyone in our supply chain
to be treated with dignity and respect,
and to be provided with fair opportunity
and reward.

In 2020 we saw the transition from the
2018 Transition ACCCRD to the Ready-
Made Garments ("RMG"} Sustainability
Council ("RSC"}, a new initiative to carry
forward the significant accomplishments
made on workplace safety in Bangladesh
by the ACCORD. The RSC will take

over these activities from the ACCORD
on 1 June 2021. N Brown remains
committed to workplace safety and will
continue to support the RSC'’s efforts

in Bangladesh.

We are members of Action,
Collaboration, Transformation {("ACT"),
which is a ground-breaking agreement
between global brands, retailers, and
trade unions to transform the garment
and textile industry. One key aim of
the agreement is to achieve living
wages for workers through industry-
wide callective bargaining linked to
purchasing practices, and campaigns
for the pravision of fair wages for
workers in support of UN Goeal 10 on
reducing ineguality. We also continue
to be active members of the other
arganisations such as Ethical Trade
initiative ("ETI"), United Nations Global
Compact ("UNGC") and All-Party
Parliamentary Corporate Responsibility
Giroun ("APCRGT Over the last vear the

of meetings, but working groups have
continued 1o engage and collaborate
via video conferences. In Mavember
2020 N Brown signed up to the BRC
Climate Action Roadmap. The Company
also became members of the Higg
Brand and Retail Module in January
2021 and will begin reporting on 2020%s
achievements this year.

VAN RIGHTS

g

This year has seen N Brown publish a
number of reports, including our fourth
Modern Slavery statement in December
2020 and our sixth Communication an
Progress (“COP") report for the UNGC in
January 2021.

Collaboration and transparency has been
a key theme across many retail brands
and Non-Government Organisations
alike. In 2020 we published our Tier 1
factory list on our corporate website,
became a member of the ASOS Madern
Slavery working group, completed
questionnaires for The Business of Human
Rights organisation, and signed the
Transparency Pledge.

Human rights issues remain a priority
across the retail sector and the global
apparel industry continues to grapple with
varied challenges in an uncertain backdrop.
This has seen a growing call for all brands
to form a united front, combine resources
and work together to end such offences.

It has highlighted the need to increase

the strength of supply chain transparency
so that products can be traced back

to their source clearly and efficiently.

N Brown acknowledges the importance

of a transparent supply base and the
assurance this will give our customers in the
knowledge that our products continue to
be ethically sourced.

COLLEAGURS

As local lockdowns and government
restrictions start to ease, we have reviewed
the UK Covid-19 guidance protocols in place
and adapted our policies to allow colleagues
to returmn to work within a hybrid operational
model. Regular briefings continue

between the UK sourcing team and global
teams, where colleagues provide key
updates on the business and the Covid-19
situation globally.
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For FYZ1 our voluntary turnover rate was
11.4%, and our share of temporary colleagues
stood at 3.1%. Colleagues have access to a
variety of traning cpportunities, including
our online training portal Always Learning,
and throughout FY21 a total of 4,847 training
hours were recorded on Always Learning,
which is the equivalent to an average of

3.5 hours per colleague.

FREET

Since the beginning of the Covid-19
outbreak, charities, our local communities
and those who are working tirelessly on the
frontline have needed our support more
than ever before. Our colleagues continue to
support our local corporate charity centres
Maggie’'s Manchestar and Maggie’s Oldham,
and are driving towards our goal of raising
£100,000 for the cancer support charity.
Through the donation of net sales proceeds
from a range of products sold across our
brands, we have donated over £20,000

to NHS Charities Together. We have also
made donatiens of clothing and household
items to frontline NHS staff in Manchester
and donated face masks and face shields to
a local care horne near to our distribution
cenitre in Oldham. Donations of clothing have
also been made to a local charity supporting
vulnerable people and children within the
tocal community. During the year, the Group
made charitable donations of £84,054

(2020: £118,238).

DENEASAEIE S of kst
RN ERA A g

We continue 1o believe that a transparent
supply chain will aliow for a more sustainable
one. Audits and gradings of those factories
that produce our own brand products are
managed on our behalf by our supply chain
partner, Verisio, who deliver comprehensive
supplier audits induding information on
wages, working hours, general sustainability,
and ethical practices. This allows us to
better manage our supply chain and align
our strategy, whilst giving us a greater
understanding of our sourcing and supply
base requirements. We have concentratad
our efforts to working closely with our
suppliers to promote responsible sourcing
and ensure that all workers are treated with
fairness, respect and are safe atwork.

THAMSEPAHENCY AMD
o B
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Having a transparent supply base
remains key to N Brown’s SUSTAIN
strategy, and this has never been more
important than during the Covid-19
pandemic. Over the last 12 months

we have continued to collaborate with
our global supply chain to ensure that
our products are ethically sourced.
Transparency within our supply chain is
paramount and having our Tier 1 supply
base mapped and audited has given

us the ability to identify countries and
factories at greater risk and to work
with them to ensure that wages and
benefits are paid on time and in full.

In July 2020, with the support of Verisio,
we carried out unannounced audit visits
to all of our UK partners to ensure that
their operations were Covid-19-safe and
compliant against N Brown's code of
conduct, which parallels the ETi base
code. All visits took place outside of
lockdown pericds and followed full
Covid-19 safety guidance.

Throughout the Covid-19 pandemic we
have paid alt suppliers on time and in

line with agreed payment terms and did
not extend any of our agreed payment
terms, We have been open and honest
with suppliers and made every effort to
rernain in close contact with them during
the year. Atthe onset of the pandemic in
March 2020, we reviewed the business’
commitment to its future purchase order
file which allowed us to re-evaluate
product. In most instances, we were
able to rephase or rework product by
engaging closely with cur suppliers.

Collaborating with our key supply chains
in Bangladesh, India, and China and
ensuring that all workers remain safe and
are treated with dignity and respeact is
always high on our agenda. By taking
the time to build trusted relationships
with our suppliers, we have been able

to support each other through the
challenges of the Covid-12 pandemic;
we will continue 1o develop these
relationships as we move into the next
phase of the pandemic.

ESG DISCLOSUF
As part of SUSTAIN, N Brown will now
use the ESG Disclosure Score outlined by
the London Stock Exchange to provide
stakeholders with & comprehensive
assessment of our ESG progress.

The ESG Disclosure Score is intended

as a tool for companies to consider

good practice in disclosure of key
quantitative ESG metrics. The London
Stock Exchange comment that the “ESG
disclosure score is calculated based upon
the level of disclosure against the metrics
considered by FTSE Russell to be the
most material to investors for different
industries. This is drawn from existing
ESG standards including: the Global
Reporting Initiative (“"GRI"); Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board ("SASB™);
and the Carbon Disclosure Project and
based upon expertise built over 18 years
of cormmercial activity in ESG data and
indexes, working with investors and other
market participants.”

Based on N Brown being in the
"Consumer Goods, Customer Services
& Healthcare” sector, the ESG Disclosure
Score assesses the following criteria and
more information can be found on the
following pages:

Carbon emissions — p50

Energy use — p52- -

Social and Community investment —p45
Employee turnover rates — pdb

Share of temporary employees — p45
Employee tréining Eours - pd5
Independent Di;ectors - p56

Female Directors — péd

In addition, N Brown also considers
the following to be central to its

ESG strategy: human rights, supply

chain, sustainable clothing and waste
and recycling.
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SUSTAIN -~ FOR TODAY, FOR TOMORROW, FOREVER

CONTINUED

OUR PLANET

N Brown is part of a rapidly changing retail world which is under
increased scrutiny and demand from customers, and our wider
stakeholder base, to ensure that our products are sourced,
produced and transported as sustainably as possible.

The climate emergency is recognised

as one of the greatest threats to our
planet. Globally, the five-year period
between 2015 and 2019 was the warmest
of any equivalent period on record;
temperatures increased by 0.2°C on
average, compared to the previcus
five-year period. Since the pre-industrial
pericd, average global temperatures
have increased by 1.1°C.

The Paris Climate Agreement has
established a scientific consensus that
to avoid the worst impacts of climate
change, greenhouse gas emissions need
to reach net zero by the mid-century

to limit the global temperature rise to
1.5°C.

PRty Yin g LETRA TRy AG
it b SRV

FY21 has been a challenging year as a
result of the global Covid-19 pandemic.
We had to adapt quickly to safeguard
our colleagues and wider stakeholder
base and ensure business continuity
alongside progressing our sustainability
readmap and achieving our ESG targets
for FY21.

As we begin to emerge from the
pandemic, our renewed purpose is
to build on the good progress we
have made during FY21 in order to
deliver on the commitments in our
sustainability roadmap.

Further information on our sustainability
roadmap can be found on p48.

SUSTAINABLE CLOTHING

Sustainable clothing is ar importart

+omf 1 S T [
fof oo cadman ard

v recus or FYZ7,

N Brown recognises that we need to
minimise the effect our products have
on the environment and have continuad
to increase our efforts to move towards
more sustainable products.

An example of this is the transition

to using recycled polyester in our
outerwear products in the Spring/
Summer 2020 collections. Across our
womenswear and menswear denim
categories, we have opted to use
sustainably sourced cotton and trims
in the upcoming ranges. We continue
to tocus on moving towards factories
which use hydroiess denim washing
techniques. This is part of ongoing
efforts across our supply base as we
work closely with suppliers in order

to encourage new technologies and
ways of working. Our motivation to
improve the sustainability of our clothing
demonstrates our proactive and
precautionary approach towards future
environmental challenges. This form
of responsible consumption will
improve the sustainability of cities and
communities around the world.

The energy savings delivered by the
project have exceeded our original
business case, resulting in an 80%
reduction in the lighting electricity used
and a 20% reduction in the site’s overal!
energy consumption. Following this
success, we are currently evaluating
three further lighting projects for
implementation over FY22.

Az our busimess madel
we Conbinge 1o maonit
r - L} e les
aur Treet venicies,

We have looked to reduce the number
of vehicles over the year and the size

of our fleet has shrunk in line with
operational business requirements.

The commercial vehicles that support
facilities and logistics are due to be
replaced soon and we are working

to lease the most envirenmentally
efficient vehicies, with the lowest carbon
emissions, to meet our business needs.
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A significant number of colleagues have
worked from home during the year

and commuting habits have therefore
changed significantly. To understand the
impact this has had on our emissions,
our commuter survey has been
expanded to capture emissions arising
from home working. As some of cur
colleagues will continue to work using

a home and office hybrid mode!, we

will continue to monitor the impact that
home working has on our greenhouse
gas ("GHG"} emissions.

WALTE AND RECYULING

Duiring FY27, the
i

facities team launched
TV MAO! DIOjeCLs.

The first waste and recycling project
was at our Head Office in Manchaster
to ‘reset’ the building post-lockdown
and to provide a safe Covid-19-secure
working environment for all calleagues.
The team cleared and sorted ali
redundant materials, clothing samples
and furniture, which generated 113
tonnes of waste being remaoved from the
building and the donation of over 750
bags of clothing to charity.

The second projact was at our main
distribution centre in Shaw where

we removed machinery and assets

no longer needed by the business.

All machinery was stripped down so that
spare parts could be reused; in total 170
tonnes of waste was generated.

All of the waste generated by the
projects was either reused or recycled
with none going to landfill. During FY21
we have maintained zero waste to landfil]
trom our main operational sites through
our ongoing partnership with Viridor.

We continue 1o report to the Carbon
Disclosure Project ("CDP”) on both the
Climate Change and Forests modules.
In FY21, we achieved an improved
score of A- for the Climate Change
response and a C in the Forests
module. We also achieved an A-on
the supplier engagement rating for the
work we do to engage with our supply
chain on climate change.

BRITISH RETAIL COMSORTIUM

CLIMATE ACTION ROADMAP
We are proud to announce that in
Neovember 2020, N Brown signed up

to the BRC Climate Action Roadmap,
committing to an ambitious plan to
achieve net zero emissions by 2040.

We want every customer to be able to
make purchases safe in the knowledge
that they are not adversely contributing
to climate change. We have a fantastic
opportunity to make a real global
difference by combining our own
sustainability roadmap with that of

the BRC and sharing knowledge and
iearning with other retailers in order to
work collaboratively towards net zero.

The BRC Climate Action Roadmap has
three key targets:

Net zero direct emissions
from operations including
from fleet vehicles, heating
| fuels and refrigeration

by 2035

Net zerc emissions from
purchased electricity
by 2030

Ambition for net zero
ernissions embodiedin

¥ product supply chain, both
upstream {from suppliers)
and downstream

{from customers by 2040)

We are delighted to report that we
have met the first major target of the
Roadmap, having net zero emissions
from purchased electricity, nine years
ahead of schedule. For our sites across
the UK, we have sourced 100% REGO
backed wind power since 2016.

LORURE PROGECT

b

We will continue to work towards
improvements across the Climate
Change and Forests modules as we
align our sustainability roadmap to
the BRC cormmmitments, We intend
10 expand our disclosure to the CDP
to include a response to the Water
Security module to cover the FY22
reporting period.

We have obtained renewable energy
certificates (GoO's, REGO’s & I-RECs}
for our non-UK and UK landlord sites.
At our main distribution centre, we
have a sclar PV array, which helps to
meet some of cur energy demand.

Underpinning the main targets of the
BRC Climate Action Roadmap are five
pathways ("PW1-5"). These pathways
guide organisations towards net zero
by setting cut a series of milestones to
track their progress:

1 Placing GHG data at the core of
business decisions

2 Operating efficent sites powered
by renewable energy

3 Moving to low carbon logistics
4 Sourcing sustainably

5 Helping our employees and
customers live a tow carbon lifestyle

The first series of milestones set out
the early actions that can be taken to
establish the necessary foundations
that will help us deliver cur net

zero ambition,

Over the coming months, we will

plot our journey to net zero in more
detail; setting clear and achievable
targets and objectives that support
our overall SUSTAIN strategy, align
with the UN global goals and empower
colleagues 1o help us reach our
sustainability goals.
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OUR PLANET CONTINUED

Year in focus — we are one year into our four-year
sustainability strategy and below is a summary

of progress against our Year One goals.

FY21

/ Qi
WE SET OUT TO

Rebrand to SUSTAIN,

OO PROGHESS

We have completed our

Q2

WE SET OUT TO
Implement supplier
scorecards to allow buyers
full perfarmance viability
on sustainability.

R PROGRESS

Supplier score cards have

Q3

WE SET OUTTO

Introduce sustainable brand
product labels.

CUR PROGRESS
We have sucessiully relled

Q4

WE SET OUT TO
Trial Green PE despatch bags
on Simply Be and Jacamo.

QUR PROGRESS
Following sucessful trials,

rebrand to SUSTAIN. been implemented and are out our sustainable product 90% of our despatch bags
being rolled our across our tabels. All swing tickets for were replaced with Green PE
product teams. Jacame, Simply Be and JD from March 2021. Qur target
Williams are sustainable, is to replace 100% by
and display the Forestry December 2021, giving an
Stewardship Council- estimated carbon saving of
approved logp. 1M2tCOse.
EZ Achieved @ Achieved [ Achieved [¥f Achieved
WE SET OUT TO WE SET OUT TO WE SET OUT TO WE SET OUT TO

Launch new sustainable
men’s denim ranges.

OUR PROGRESS

In April 2020, Jacamo
launched its new sustainable
denim range. All of our
Jacamo denim preducts

are made using sustainably
sourced fabries. Qur supplier
uses hydroless technology,
organic cotton and recycled
yarns along with other
techniques to reduce
environmental impact of
our denim.

LVj Achieved

Complete a green LED
lighting project to achieve
energy saving.

COUR PROGRESS

The project has been
sucessfully implemented
over FY21. Following this,
we are evaulating additional
LED lighting projects

to further reduce our
energy consumption.

{;ZAchieved

Commence input attribution
by raw materials to enable
full traceability.

QUR PROGRESS

The product teams

have started to attribute
sustainable products into
the system and this is being
tracked. Targets have been
set for FY22 to increase the
mix of own brand products
with sustainable properties.

M Achieved

Review progress against
the existing 35% target and
set new targets for GHG
emissions reduction and
climate change.

QOUR PROGRESS
Cngoing— we are
committed to net zero
carbon by 2040 and are a
proud supporter of the BRC
Climate Action Roadrmnap.
We are in the process of
setting interim emissions
reduction targets which will

align to our overarching net
zero ambition.

E} Ongeing
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LOOKING FORWARD

FY22
- RLY: : ‘-‘.f;;“* Pt ERE Own-brand Plan roadmap Review recyéling Complete roll
MGREEN PE™) DESPATCH BAGS product for CO; options for out of Green
Nt . . ) launches across  reduction across  customers (PW5)  PE across all
Ne believe oriine fashion shoula be WOrmenswear th lv base desoatch bags
sustainanle, and a key elerment of that knit d\i?ea (P\e’Vs1L)Jpp yoa Map out new (PVf/pST ¢ 9
15 reducieg the uae of plastic across the 't andnen GHG targets
doluery process ranges Introduce Better  aligned to the All own brand
Initiate LED Cotton Initiative  BRC Roadmap denim ranges to
_ . lighting preject  targets across targets for 2023 have sustainable
This year we changed cur delivery phase 2 (PW2) own-brand (PW1) properties ;
packaging to Green PE despatch bags to product (PW4) /
improve sustainability and reduce our GHQG A
emissions. Green PE is a bio-based plastic, L
manufactured from polymer derived from e e e e e
sugarcane and therefore produced from an ’
entirely renewable resource. These despatch . )
bags are recyclable and reduce our emissions All plastics used ~ 50% of own
by an estimated 12 tonnes of carbon ; across products  brand product
per annum. ! and packaging ranges to be
_ _ § to be recyclable  sustainably
Feollowing a successful trial of Green PE .= (PW4) sourced
despatch bags over autumn 2020, the bags ¢ ol
were launched on 1 March 2021, replacing | mp e'lf“e”t
920% of packaging. We wiil extend to 100% ! rect).rc lngf
Green PE by the end of 2021, { options for
H customers
In future, we want to be known for using N {PW5)
sustainable packaging across our brands 5
which ties into the BRC Climate Acticn A :
: . Fyz4
Roadmap which we are proud to be S . .
committed to.
60% of own All own brand
brand product cotton products
ranges sustainably  to be 100% Better
e sourced Cotton Initiative
lntroduce - approved
e sustainabilit ;
- ! y Review and assess
Q, auditors to ensureé  the next stage of
i he closed | bl
D, the clesed loop the sustainabsility
@ - can be validated roadmap
e
e .
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SUSTAIN - FOR TODAY, FOR TOMORROW, FOREVER

CONTINUED

OUR PLANET CONTINUED

Y2t SOURUING

BEE ANV

Cur sourcing mix has given the business
flexibility and supported trade throughout
the pandemic.

The summer element of the year was

cut short due to the trading conditions,
leading to a higher mix of autumnal
products such as outerwear and knitwear
that are heavily sourced in China.

The strength within the homeware
product category, which has a higher
element of China sourcing, has also
impacted the mix of products being
sourced closer to home.

Our sourcing strategy is to increase our
closer to home sources which brings the
advantage of reducing lead times to allow
us to give our customers the product they
want quicker.

FY21 EMISSIONS PROFILE

The Companies Act 2006 (Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report) Regulation
2018 requires the Group to disclose GHG
emissions and underlying energy use

for all direct emissions sources (Scope 1
and 2). Our enargy and GHG emissions
have been independently calculated

in accordance with the GHG Protocol
using the operational control approach.
Emission factors published by the UK
Government and the International Energy
Agency have been used.

In addition to the mandatory direct
emission sources, we continue to quantify
arange of indirect emission sources
(Scope 3) relating to the operation of our
core business including logistics, business
travel, employee commuting, waste and
water. Due to an increase in homeworking
as a result of Covid-1%, we have included
emissions from homeworking for the

first time.

FY21 SOURCING BREAKDOWN

o

EMISSIONS PROFILE FY21 (TCO.E}

B China

ooUK
Bangladesh
RowW

M ndia

W Turkey

B Pzkistan

“ QOther short lead

Marocco

# Logistics (upstream)
" Logistics {downstream)
Electricity {location based)
Natural gas

Fuel and enargy-
related activities

Home working
Employee commuting
Diesel

Business travel

- HH%EN B

Waste

Gas olf

Company vehicles
Water

HFCs

43 5%
19.3%
10.7%
72%
&6.7%
4.9%
4.4%
22%
12%

45 4%
211%
M.6%
6.2%
38%

3.2%
2.8%
0.7%
0.6%
03%
0.2%
0%
0%
0%
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There has been a fall in customer demand
over the year and a reduction in the
number of items shipped to custormers.
The amount of stock brought into the
business has also decreased as a result

of reduced demand and improved

supply chain management practices

to more effectively manage our stock
levels. We have reduced the amount of
product brought in via airfreight by over
40% and the amount of sea freight by 8%.
Overall upstream emissions have fallen by
25% (4,162.4 tCOsel.

We have expanded the scope of our
downstream calculations in Scope 3 to
include deliveries of bulky items direct
from suppliers and a greater number

of the parcels we ship internationally.
When we factor in the new emission
sources that were not calculated in FYZ20,
emissions have increased by 17% {762.6
1tCO,e). However, on a comparative basis
to FY20, the downstream emissions
sources that were reported have

actually decreased by 20% (925 tCCse).
This is a result of a reduced number of
deliveries in F¥21 and an increase in the
operational efficiency across the year
from our distribution partners who focus
on decreasing the carbon impact of each
custommer order.

Direct emissions (Scope 1 and 2) have
fallen by 219 (1,253.6 tCOse) compared
to FY20. We have completed the roli out
of a large scale LED lighting project at
our main distribution centre and have
continued to rationalise aur operational
estate and vehicle fleets to reduce

our emissions. Covid-19 has also had

an impact on our emissions profile as
colleagues began working from home
which reduced emissions from our offices.

We have quantified the emissions
associated with horme warking which
are reported separately to em ployee
commuting. We will continue to quantify
homewarking emissions in future as we
transition towards a hybrid home and
office working mode! for colfeagues.

Scope 1 Matural gas 1,579.6
Diesel 172.3
HFCs 9.5
Gas ol 424
Company vehicles 123
Scope 2 Electricity (location based) 29258
Elactricity (market based) ) 00
Total Scope 1and 2 AT
Scope 3 Water .02
Employes commutng 7141
Home working 8139
Business travel M5
Waste 81.2
Fuel and energy-related activities 9458
Logistics {upstream) 12,4663
Logistics {downstream) } 75,317.5
Total Scope 1, 2 and 3° LT
Qutside Scopes-A Biogenic element - Diesc| 8.0

Our business travel emissions have fallen
by 93% as a result of restrictions put in
place through Covid-19. Whilst business
travel wilt remain an important part of
our operations, we will embrace the new
ways of working and continue to use
technology to keep our business travel
emissions down.

Overall, our total emissions including
Scope 3 have fallen by 20% (6,3579 t1COLe)
compared to FY20.

PEN

16730

934
2787 1065
173 1636 )
54.0 116 3
78.2 61 I
3,788.2 8625
54.1 541
v 1,253.6
23,30 423
11394 -425.3
0.0 8139
19554 1,8139 i3
10573 241 Ik
1188.6 2428 -
16,6287 43624 :
45550 762.6
S 16,3579
24 14
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SUSTAIN - FOR TODAY, FOR TOMORROW, FOREVER

CONTINUED

OUR PLANET CONTINUED

BRNTH TR R

SR FREOEMANCE

ABSOLUTE GHG EMISSIONS (SCOPE 1 and 2) TCO.e

?.8/0

8,878

Qur absolute emissions have more than halved (52.0%, 5128
+CO,e) when reviewing our performance over the last five years.
We have delivered an average year on year reduction of 17%
since FY17. While absclute emissions have fallen between FY20
and FY21, some of this will have been due to the decrease in the
number of items shipped in the year. As the Company looks to
return to growth in FY22, emissions may increase accordingly.

A full narrative of the absolute emissions performance will be
given in the 2022 Annual Report.

RELATIVE PERFORMANCE
RELATIVE GHG EMISSIONS (SCOPE 1 and 2)

Our direct emissions intensity per item shipped has increased
by 16.6% compared to last year. This is due to a decrease in the
number of items shipped as customer demand dropped as a
resuit of the pandemic. However, our absolute emissions have
falien by 1,254 tCOse over the same period.

VRIDERLYING ENERGY USE

The table below shows the proportion of energy use that occurs
within the UK and non-UK countries alongside the total carbon
emissions. In FY21, 99.2% of the Group's energy consumption
and 99.0% of carbon emissions arose frem UK operations.

F{21 Tneigy Use FY2Y Carbon Ermssicns
Y

Yol £

UK 21848505 992% 460 99.0%
Nen UK 169435 0.8% a7 10%
Total 22017940 - 47415 -

Qur sourcing of renewable electricity has grown from 0% in FY16
to 100% in FY21.

SOURCING OF RENEWABLE ELECTRICITY

FY1é 0%

%
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SHG HEFORTING NOTES
The data disclosed is in conformance
with the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report regulations).
GHG emissions disclosed under the
required reporting categories fall within
the Group's consolidated financial
statement. Scope 1 and Z emissions have
been calculated using the operational
control approach in accordance with the
GHG Protocol Carporate Accounting
and Reporting Standard. The quantified
emissions are for the reporting period

1 March 2020 to 27 February 2021.

GHG emissions factors published by

the UK Government and International
Energy Agency for 2020 have been used
to calculate GHG emissions. For activities
outside the UK, emissions factors provided
by the International Energy Agency

{("IEA™ have been used to calculate

GHG emissions.

EMGE N ERUHSIHONS

There have been no changes to the figures
reported in the previcus reporting period.

B

Natural gas and electricity: Emissions
are primarily calculated based on actual
or estimated metered consumption

from invoices, meter readings or haif
haurly consumption data. Where actual
metered data is not available, for example
if energy is billed as part of 3 landiord
service charge, energy consumnption has
boen estimated using floor arazs and
published berichmarks. Some data has
been estimated from previeus periods of
consumption where guarterly bills have
not yet been published,

Gas oil: Fuelis used in stand-by
generators and onsite transport such

as forklifts. Data for onsite transport is
calculated using actual fuel usage from
invoices and internaf records of gas cil
deliveries. Generator fuel usage has been
estimated using generator fuel demand
per hour and activation information.

Diesel: Data is calculated based on
actual fuel consumption taken from fuet
card invoices.

Company cars / vans: Data is primarily
calculated for the Group using data
ioaged in our Concur system, which
records distance travelled and vehicle
information for each business travel
expense claimed. Any company cars
not logged on this system have been
taken from independent mileage claim
records. Some small vans are used to
transport items between Logistics sites;
the emissions are calculated based on the
annual mileage data for the vans.

HFCs: Refrigeration emissions have

been calculated from the F-Gas register
or services records where the volume of
refrigerant gas lost to the atmosphere
during the reporting period is known.
Where service records were not available,
emissions have been estimated using the
screening methodotogy and an assumed
average leakage rate.

Waste: Most of the Group's waste {Head
Office and Logistics sites) is managed by
Viridar. Viridor provide a breakdown of
weight of waste disposed of by N Brown
split by waste type and disposal method.
For the remaining sites which are not
managed by Viridor, waste audits are
completed over a week as a sample and
figures are annualised. There are a few
closed stores which are included within
the scope of reporting due to them still
being leased to N Brown. As the stores
were closed for the duration of the
reporting pericd, it has been assumed
that there has been no wastage at

the stores.

Employee commuting: Employee
commuting habits are captured using an
annual online coileague survey. The results
are taken as a sample of all employees
and the results are uplifted by the total
number of employees to approximate
total emissions.

Home working: Due to Covid-19
restrictions there has been an increase
in colleagues working fram home during
the reporting period. The emissions
associated with home working (e.g.

as a result of lighting, heating and IT
equipment) has been captured using an
online colleague survey.

Supply chain logistics: Internal data
and data provided by third-party service
providers has been used to caleulate
the supply chain emissions associated
with the movement of goods from the
factory door through te deliveries to our
customers. High leve! estimates have
been used where primary or secondary
data was unavailable. UK Government
emission factors and supplier-specific
emission factors, where available, have
been utilised.

Business travel {air, rail): There are two
types of air travel carried out by N Brown:
traditional business travel and trave! for
photoshoots. The business air travel

is recorded by Clarity wha provide a
breakdown, by journey, including distance
travelled, type of journey {fong-haul,
domestic etc.) and journey class (e.g.
business or economy). There were no
photoshoot journeys by air during the
fatest reporting period due to Covid-1%
restrictions. Rail figures are provided by
Clarity who provide a breakdown, by
journey, including distance travelled and
journey type {underground / national rail).

Business travel {private cars): Data
is calculated for the Group using data
logged in curinternal Concur system
which records distance travelled, and
vehicle information for each business
travel expense claimed.
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SETTING A HIGH
STANDARD OF
GOVERNANCE

LEADERSHIP AND PURPOSE

DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITY
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COMPOSITION, SUCCESSION AND EVALUATION
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REMUNERATION

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES
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The focus of the Board this year has
been on ensuring continued colleague
support and welfare as we navigate
the ongoing challenges posed by

the Covid-19 pandemic as well as
counselling management through a
number of significant strategic and
operational challenges.

Thé Board successfully led the Company
through a £100m equity raise and re-
listing on the Alternative Investment

| Market ("AIM"}in December 2020.

- . We believe that the successful completion
The Board recognises of these projects puts the Company in a
Hhat gOOd Corpo rate stronger position from which it can deliver

sustainable growth.
governance underpins -
busi . f This is further supported by a number of
usiness periormance. key appointments made during the year,
We are com mﬁ:ted to including the appointment of our new

: s TR CFO, Rachel zzard and our first Retail
+ ]
aintaning the highest CEQ, Sarah Welsh. | was appointed as

standards of corporate Chair following the departure of Matt COMPOSITION, SUCCESSION
governance fO“OWfﬂg the Davies. Full details of all changes are set AND EVALUAT]ON
- , out in the Nominations and Governance : :
Cornpany’s move to AlM. Committee Report on pé7.
By promoting integrity We maintain active engagement with our

an (i {'}}\upp neg ,,; \_;a!‘uﬁ-ﬁq stakeholders. Qur Section 172 Statement

. o on p39 outlines how the Board has
d’ ver “"f and ensunng engaged with stakeholders throughout

5@(%‘:\4 e engagement the year and taken their interests into
h ikehold - account when making decisions on behalf .

Wlt stakehoigers, we of the Company. | T

. . N
will c‘ontmue o deve!op t would like to take this opportunity to @ || [NIGHEVRes] 11 e/
and im prove on our thank my fellow Directors for their support mines the Cor

r + 7 during this challenging year. | will be

effectiveness. available to answer any questions you may

v e have on this report or any of the Board's
activities at the AGM on 6 July 2021.

G‘\ 1 AU~ THE CODE

Ron McMillan Following the move to AlM, the
Independent Non-Executive Chair  Company will continue to comply with
the UK Corporate Governance Code
{‘the Code"} on a voluntary basis.
The Board is responsible for ensuring
that the Company has appropriate
frarneworks in place to ensure compliance.
Explanations about how we have applied
the main principles of the Code can be
found opposite.
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LEADERSHIP AND PURPOSE

rat

ROMN MCMILLAN

Appointed to the Board:
April 2013

Appointed Chair of the Board.
March 2021

Meetings attended 16/16

Appointed to the Board:
June 2020

Meetings attended 5/5

LORD ALLIANCE OF
MANCHESTER CBE
“HOMN-EXECUTIVE

Appointed 1o the Board:
November 1968

Meetings attended 14/16*

OUP BOARD DIRECTORS

First appointed to the Board in April 2013,
Ron served as Sznior Independent Diractor
until his appointment to Board Chair in March
2021, Prior to jeining the Board, he was the
Deputy Charr of PricewaterhcuseCoaopers

in the Middle East and Northern Regional
Chairman of the UK firm.

Key strengths
* Ratail

¢ Corporate Finance

» Governance

* Risk managemant

¢ Remuneralion

External appointments

Ron is the Senior Independent Director

and Chair of the Audit Cormnmittee of B&M
European Value Retail $A and SCS Group ple.
He is also 8 Non-Executive Director and Chair
of tha Audit Committee of Homeserve ple,

Rachel was appaointed as CFQO in June 2020
after joining the Company in April 2020. Prior
to this she was CFO at Aer Lingus, leading
the Finance and Technology functions,
successfully driving a step change in
performance, and integrating the company
into the IAG group. Cver her career Rachel
has held 2 range of CFO, technelogy,

and senjor finance roles in the Arline and
Logistics sectors, based in locations in Asia,
the US and Europe.

Key strengths

Strategy and change managernent
Retail and digital retail

Corperate finance

Governance

Risk management

Technology, data analytics and Al

CIEY I T R A

External appointments
None.

Lord Alliance was appointed a Director and
Chair of the Company in 1968, He stood
down as Chair on 1 September 2012, Co-
founder gnd former Chairman of Coats
Viyella PLC, Lord Alliance holds numerous
hanorary doctorates

Key strengths

» Retail and digital retail

* Strategy and change management
* Carporate finance

* Financial Services

* Governance

* Marketing

External appointments

Lord Alllance is alse a Director of a number of
private companigs, committees and trustes
bodies. He was appointed a Iife peer in 2004,

*dord Alanes was nnable i attand tweo Board meetinas .0 FY21 4 1e e

STEVE JOHNSON
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
ISFFPICER

Appointed 1o the Board:
September 2018

Meetings attended 16/16

GILL BARR

SEMIOR
INDEPERDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Appointed to the Board:
January 2018

Appointed Senior Independent
Director: March 2021

Meetings attended 16/16

B

@

RICHARD MOROSS
INDEPENDENT NON-
EHECUTIVE DIRECTOY
Appainted 1o the Board:
Cctober 2016

Meetings attended 16/16

Steve was appointed CEC of N Brown in
February 2019, having beer apoointed
Interirr CEQ in September 2018.

Having originally joined the Group as
Finarncial Services Director in February 2016,
ke was appeintad CEQ of the Financial
Services Opearating Board in Novermber
2017. Steve joined N Brown from Shop
Direct Group Limited where he was Financial
Services Marketing and Product Director far
four years and prier to that held senior roles
at Sainsbury’s and Halifax.

Key strengths

* Strateqgy, transformation and
change management

* Retail and digital retail

* Financial Services

* Governance

* Risk management

* Technrology, data analytics and Al

v Mar<eting

¢ Change management

External appointments
None,

Gill joined the Board in January 2018

and was appointed Semor Independent
Director in March 2021, She was previously
a Non-Executive Director of Margan Sindall
Ple, Group Marketing Director of The Co-
operative Group and Marketing Director of
John Lewis Gill also spent seven years at
Kingfisher plc in a variety of senier strategy,
marketing and business development roles

Key strengths

¢ Retall and digital retal

* Strategy and change management
¢ Financial Services

* Governance

* Rermuneration

* Marketing

External appointments

Gillis a Non-Executive Director of PayPoint
plc and Wincanton ple. She is also the Chair
of the Customer Challenge Group for Severn
Trent Water plec,

Richard joined the Board in October 2014
and was appointed Designated Director for
Colleague Engagement in 2019, As the CEQ
and founder of MOO.com, Richard brings
significant expertise in digital retalling and
technelogy. Betore founding MOQO, Richard
worked for the design company Imagination.
Other past companies include sorted.com
and the BBC.

Key strengths

* Retall and digial retail

¢ Strategy end change manzgeamernt
* Technology and data analytcs

& Remuneration

* Mar<eting

External appointments

Richard is an Executive Direcior of
Mao Print Ltd
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RULCHAEL ROSS
Appaointed to the Board:
January 2018

Meetings attended 16/16

ALLIANMIE

SOEHUA
.. A R

Appointed to the Board,
December 2020

Meetings attended 171

JAATT DAVIES

Resigned from the Baard: March 2021

Appeinted to the Board in January 2018,
Michael is the co-founder and Chief Scientist
of Dynarmic Action which is a leader in big
rata analytics and Al fnr retail. He was
previously the co-founder and CEQ of
figleaves.com and started his career at
MecKinsey Cansulting in the early days of

the internet.

Key strengths

» Retail and digital retail

* Strategy and change management
* Financial Services

¢ Risk managerment

+ Technalogy, data aralytics and Al
* Marketing

External appointments

Michaal 15 a Non-Executive Director of
Sainsbury's Bank. He also sits on the
commercial development board at the
Turing Institute

Joshua joined the Beard in December 2020
After graduating from Manchester University
in 2011 and, following experience warking in
other developing hi-tech businesses, Joshua
joined the Company in 2014 He was formerly
Head of Business Inngvation for .00 Williams
& Cormpany Limited.

Key strengths

¢ Retail and digital retail

+ Strategy and change management

» Technoloqgy, data analytics and A}
External appointments

Joshua is a Nen-Executive Directorof a
number of digitally based private companies
in the UK and lsrael.

NG THE YEAR

LESLEY JONES

R T
P

Resigned from the Board: March 2021,

VICKY MITCHELL
RPN

EHLO

Appainted to the Board:
January 2020

Meetings attended 16/16

oy &

THERESA CASEY

MERLL SOURMNERT
AU IORPANY

SECRETARY
Appointad to the Board:
March 2015

Meetings attended 16/16

WERLT NI Rick
£ DHECTOR % management

Meetings attended: 16/14

Matt was appointed as Chair on 1 May 2018 after
jeining the Board in February 2018 as Indepandent
Nen-Exgcutive Directar and Chair Elect. He was
previcusly the CEQ of Tesco UK and ROL Prior to
Tesca, Matt was CEO of Halfords frem 2012 10 2015
and Finance Director {2001 - 2004) and CEQ {2004 -
2012} of Pets at Homa,

Meetings attended: 1616

Lesley joined the Board in October 2014 with nearly
40 years of experience in financial services, having
spant 30 years at Cirigroup where she had global
responsibility for the corporate credit portfolio and
six years as Chief Cradit Cfficer at RBS from 2008
to 2014.

Appointed in January 2020, Vicky brings over
20 years of consumer finance experiance to
the Board Farmerly Chief Operating Officer
of Capital Onc (Eurcpe] plo, she was one of
the original executives of Capital One :n the
UK, previously holding the positions of Chiet
Risk Officer and Chief Legal Counsel.

Key strengths

* Strategy and change management
* Financial Services

* Governance

*+ Remuneration

External appeintments

Vicky 15 currently a Non-Executive Director and
Charr of the Risk Committee of Lookers plc.
She is also a Non-Executive Director of West
Bramwich Building Society where she sits on
both the Risk and Audit Committees, as well as
representing the Non-Executive Directars on
the IT and Transformation Change Committee,

Theresa joined the Group in January 2015,
Admitted as a sohicitor in 1997, Theresa

has held a number of fegal and company
secretarial roles in the financial services and
retail sectors, inctuding the Ca-operative
Bank, Shop Direct and Brown Shipley Private
Bank Theresa acts as Secretary to all Board
Committees and the Executive Board.

Key strengths

* Retal and Financizl Services compliance
* Retail and financial legal knowledge

* Company secretarial practice

External appointments
Governor of Crossley Heath Grammar School.

CRAIG LOVELAC

ogmili= oM mer b, ek

Resigned fram the Board: June 2020
Meetings attended: 11/11

Craig was appointad CFQ in May 2015. Craig was
Group CFO for General Healthcare Group Ltd from
2011 and, prior to this, held a number of senior UK
and international finance roles at Regus Plc and
Eiectronic Arts Inc and PwC,

i
§
l
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LEADERSHIP AND PURPOSE CONTINUED
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e Steve was appointed CEQ of N Brown in
February 2019, having been appointed
Interim CEQ in September 2018.

Having originally joined the Group as
Financial Services Director in February 2016,
he was appointed CEQ of the Financial
Services Operating Board in November
2017. Steve joined N Brown from Shop
Direct Group Limited where he was Financial
Services Marketing and Product Director for
four years and prior to that held senior roles
at Sainsbury’s and Halifax

STEVE JOMNSON
Co BN EMEDUTIVE
Key strengths

Strategy, transformation and
change management

Retail and digital retail

Financial Services

Governance

Risk managerment

Technology, data analytics and Al
Marketing

Appomted to the Board
September 2018 *

Meetings attended 10/10

External appointments

None,

Alyson joned N Brown in April 2018 with
over 20 years' experience in recruitment,
internal communications, talent
develuopment and building employee
engaged cultures. Alyson has worked on
the baards of dynamic, fast-paced retail
businesses including Missguided, Sofology
and Selfridges

Key strengths

* Retai

s Culture

* Organisaticnal design
¢ Employee engagement

ALYSON FADIL

SRLE

Appointed to the Beard

Apnl 2018 External appointments

Meetings attended 10/10 Nene.

RACHEL 1ZZARD
CHIEF FINANCIAL

s ER

Appointed to the Board:
Apnl 2020

Meetings attended 9/9

ADAM WARNE
CHIEF INFORMATION
OFFICER

Appointed to the Board;
April 2018

Meetings attended 10/10

Rachel was appointad as CFC in June 2020
after joining the Company in Aprit 2020. Prior
1o this she was CFO at Aer Lingus, leading
the Finance and Technology furctions,
successfully driving a step change in
performance, and integrating the company
into the IAG group, Quer her career Rachel
has held arange of CFO, technology,

and senior finance roles in the Airline and
Logistics sectors, based in locations in Asia,
the US and Eurepa.

Key strengths

* Strategy and change management
« Retail and digital retail

Corporate finance

Governance

Risk management

Technology, data analytics and Al

* & » @

External appointments
None.

Adarm joined N Brown in April 2018 as Chiet
Information Otficer following ten years in a
position leading the technology capability
at AQ World PLC. Priar to this, Adam hetd
senior technology roles bullding successful
teams within Skipton Building Society

and EDS.

Key strengths

» Retail

* Tectnology modernisation
* Data strategy

¢ Agile transformation
External appointments
Naone.
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KENYATTE NELSON

Soa e

1

Appointed to tha Beard,
June 201%

Meetings attended 10/10

g

SAEEAH WELSH

Appointed to the Board.
March 2020

Meetings attended 9/9

Kenyatte was appointed Chief Brand

Officer in June 2019, with responsibility

for Customer Insight, Marketing Strategy,
Praposition Design, Creative and Customer
Communication. Before joining N Brown,
Kenyatte spent time at both Shop Direct
and Missguided as Group Marketing and
Creative Director and Chief Customer
Officer respactively. Before moving to the
UK, he spent 16 years at Procter & Gamblzin
various general management roles across the
Armericas and EMEA.

Key strengths

* Customer expenence

* Dngital marketing and CRM

* Marketing and media strategy
* Customer insight and analytics
* Creative production

External appointments
Kenyatte is 3 Non-Exacutive Director of the
British Retall Consortium,

Sarah was appointed CEQ of Retail in March
2020. With over 25 years of retail and brand
experience within the UK high street, Sarah
started her carear on the shop floor. With her
great passion for product, she quickly
developed her skills in buying and has held
senior buying roles at both River Island

and Miss Selfridge before joining Casis.
Having spent 18 years at Oasis she has been
fundamental in shaping the unigue customer
and product preposition, most recently as
Managing Director

Key strengths
* Retail

* Design and product development
* Sourcing

* Trading

* Customer engagement

External appointments
Nane.

WAL T,
Appointed to the Beard:
January 2020

Meatings attended 10/10

g2 e

THERESA CASEY
LrNERAL DOUNSEL
ap iy COMPANY
SECRETARY

Appointed to the Board:
March 2015

Meetings attended 9/10*

LAy 2
5 e

CRAIG LOVELACE

[FAREN

CERMWED DgRING THE YE

Dan was appointed CEO of Financial Services
n January 2020 following 11 years at lkane
Bank where he held several leadership reles
ncluding UK Country Manager and, laiierly,
Group Chief Commercial Officer. Dan has
extensive financial services expenence across
multiple sectors having worked at Zurich
insurance, Fairpeint ple and Capital One.

Key strengths

* Financial Services

* Leadership

» Customer proposition development

External appointments
Naore,

Theresa joined the Group in January 2015
Admitted as a solicitor in 1997, Theresa

has held a number of legal and company
secretarial roles in the financial services and
retail sectors, including the Co-operative
Bark, Shop Direct and Brown Shipley Private
Banrk. Theresa acts as Secretary to alt Board
Committees and the Executive Board.

Key strengths

* Retail and Financial Services compliance

* Retail and tinancial legal knowledge

* Company secretarial practice

External appointments

Governor of Crossley Heath Grammar School.

Resigned from the Board: June 2020

Meetings attended 3/3

Craig was appointed CFO in May 2015. Craig was Group CFO for General

Healthcare Group Ltd from 2011 and, prer to this, held a number of semor UK
and international finance roles at Regus Plc and Electronic Arts Inc and PoW.

* Tharess Casov was unable ta attend cne Exenutive Boara reoctinag
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LEADERSHIP AND PURPOSE CONTINUED

BOARD LEADERSHIP

The Board comprises nine Directors, of
whom seven are Non-Executive Directors
including the Chair. Of the seven Non-
Executive Directors, Lord Alliance of
Manchester and Joshua Alliance are

not considered by the Board to be
independent. The Board met 16 times
during the year, the attendance of which
is set out in the table below. In addition,

a number of Non-Executive Director only
meetings were held this year to allow the
Non-Executives to discuss matters without
the Executive Directors present.

Full biographical details of all
Directors appear on phé.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE

Total meetings
Ron McMillan
Lord Alhance
Gill Barr
Richard Moross
Michae! Ross
Vicky Mitchell
Joshua Alliance
Steve Johnson
Rachel fzzard
Matt Davies
Lesley Jones
Craig Lovelace

The role of the Board is to promote

the long-term sustainable success

of the Company, generating value

for shareholders while meeting the
appropriate interests of relevant
stakeholders. The Board establishes the
Company’s purpose, values and strategy,
and satisties itself that these and its culture
are aligned. Board Directors act with
integrity, lead by example and promote
the desired culture of the business.

The Board ensures that the necessary
resources are in place for the Company

to meet its objectives and measure
performance against them. The Board has
established a framework of prudent and
effective controls, which enable risk to be
assessed and managed.

Further details on risk management
and control can be found on p32 to 38.

The Board ensures effective engagement
with afl key stakeholders of the business,
a core principle of which is providing
effective channels through which
colleagues can raise any matters of
concern. Information on N Brown's
engagement with colleagues during the
year is detailed on pd0 and our Section
172 Statement outlining wider stakeholder
engagement across the year and
whistleblowing procedures is on p39.

Further details on the role and responsibilities
of the Beard, along with key individual
responsibilities can be found on pé2,

POAERS O3 THE TE
The Directors are responsible for the
management of the business of the
Company and may exercise all powers

of the Company subject to applicable
legislation and regulation and the
Company's Articles of Association.

The Company’s Articles of Association
may only be amended by a special
resolution at a general meeting of
shareholders. The powers of the
Directors are described in the Board
Terms of Reference and the Division of
Responsibility section on pé2. The Terms
of Reference for the Board and its
Committees are available on the Group's
website www.nbrown.co.uk.

ol

Ron McMillan n
Gill Barr
Richard Moross n
Michael Ross

Vicky Mitchell

Steve Johnson

Rachel lzzard

Theresa Casey (Secretary)

AENE =

N
BENE

LT TALE I S SEIE e

2B Chair
Audit and Risk Financial Services Board
Ia Reruneration

m Nominations and Gavernance

[V
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CAORNHTTES

The Board delegates authority to a
number of Committees to deal with
specific aspects of management and to
maintain supervision over the internal
control policies and procedures of the
Group. The Board has, where necessary,
delegated cperational matters to
sub-Committees, and to ts Executive
Drrectors and senior officers.

Further mformatlon on the respon5|b|||t|es
of each Committee is set out on pé3.

The minutes of the meetings of these
Committees are circulated to all
Committee members in advance of
the next Committee meeting, at which
they are ratified. Committee meeting

attendance is detailed in the table on pa0.

After each Committee meeting the Chair
of that Committee makes a formal report
o the Board of Directors detailing the
business carried out by the Committee
and setting out any recommendations.

STH AN

Board papers include detalled
management reports from the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer, management accounts, broker
analysis, compliance and regulatory
briefings and bespoke reports.

A comprehensive pack of papers is
electronically circulated to each Director
not less than seven days prior to each
Board meeting. Budgetary performance
and forecasts are reviewed and revised
at each meeting. Outside of the meeting
there is a regular flow of information
between the Board Directors and the
Executive Board.

The Articles of Assaciation of the
Company give the Directors the power
to consider and, if appropriate, authorise
conflict situations where a Director’s
declared interest may conflict or does
conflict with the interests of the Company.
Procedures are in place at every meeting
for individual Directors to report and
record any potential or actual conflicts
which arise. The register of reported
conflicts is reviewed by the Board at least
annually. The Board has complied with
these procedures during the year.

KEY ACTIVITIES

The foilowing sumrma ome of the Bo:

Business performance and strategy

Oversight of the Company s strategic
move from the Main Market on
the'london Stock Exchange to the
Alternative investmant Market. |

and rading.éfrategy durtngrtnev
Covid-19 pandemic.

Review of the Company’s performance
against its strategic priorities and KPls.

Deep Dive assessments of key strategic
initiatives including: Paople strategy,

FProduct strategy, Financial Services ..

platform and FF roadmap

Financial performance

Oversight of the Company s £ Orn
equtty raise.’

Rewew and approval of the Company s

Assessment of the Company’s overall
financial and operational performance
including close monitoring of quuid'ty

Approval of the FY20 Annuzl Report
and Accounts and Preliminary Results
announcement as wellas the FY21

Assessment of capital allocations and
capital expenditure in respect of the
Company s growth strategy.

Approval of the Group's FY21 budget
~and future financing needs.

Risk and opportunity

Review and approva! of the Company 5
risk management framework,

risk register, risk appetite and
governance framework.

Discussions on emerging risks and the
Board's responsibilities to the Company
and its stakehoiders, especaaliy in

lnve_stmen‘t Market. S .

| Regulatory compliance

Contlnued overs;ght of compliance
with the Senior Managers &
Certification Regime.

Debt !nterventaons to Fmanmal

© Services customers.

Receipt of whistleblowing reports.

Stakeholder matters

Review of the Company's approach
-towider supp!;rchajrisopport

and interaction during the -
Covid-19 pandemic.

Communication with shareholders
around the Company's equity raise and
move to the Altérnative investment

- Marketin 2020.

design, souicing, pricing and tradi

Culture and governance

Prior satton of co!league heaith
safety and welfare during the’

. 'Covid-19 pandemic

gag
survey results. I

Reoruutm nt of kev Board pOSItIOnS

See pbb for
further information.
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DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITY

SOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

ROLES AND
RESPONSIBILITIES

GROUP 2OARD

The Group Board is collectively
responsible for the overall leadership

of the Company and for setting its

values and standards. It approves the
Company's strategic aims and objectives,
is responsible for all major policy decisions
and oversees their delivery while ensuring
maintenance of a sound system of
internal control and risk management.
The Board is ultimately responsible for
determining the operational and strategic
risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company's objectives. The Board's duty
is to promote the success of the Company
for the benefit of its members as a whole;
it reviews performance in the light of the
Company’s business plans and budgets
and ensures that any necessary corrective
action is taken. The formal list of matters
reserved for the Board can be found at
www.norown.co.uk,

£

The Board delegates authority to a
number of Committees to deal with
specific aspects of management and to
maintain supervision over the internal
control policies and procedures of the
Group. The key responsibilities of each
Commitiee are outlined in the graphic
overleaf. The formal written Terms of
Reference of each Committee can be
found at www.nbrown.co.uk.

Fepp
H

VIRAIT T

KEY ROLES

Resilient and open working relationships
between Directors are vital to the effective
and successful running of the Board and
the wider Group, with the Non-Executive
Directors providing constructive challenge
and alternative views to the Board.

The roles of Chair, Senior Independernt
Director, Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary
are particutarly crucial to this endeavour; a
summary of their roles and responsibiiities,
s agreed and set out in writing, can be
found opposite:

\NANCIAL SERVig e

(Fse 3

BOP'RD COMMITTEE

NANCE COMM"TTE
£

' WOMINATIONS g,

GOV

4 £
“OIr anp prs COM‘“‘T‘% :

: .'E"‘on'::!.rrnr-e_N.Wt'*_"= o

EXECUTIVE BOARD

The Executive Board 15
accountable for the day-
to-day operations and
running of the Company,
manitoring progress against
and defivering on ite stratecy
while ensuring that the
policies and procedures,

as decided by the Group
Board, are implemented and
enforced across the business,

CHAIR

Responsible for the overall leadership and
governance of the Board and for overseeing

its performance.

Respansibie for promating a culture of openness and
debate by facilitating the effective contribution of all
Baard members.

Responsibile for ensuring the Company's strategy

is formulated cleary and is well understood both
internally and externally.

Responsible for fostering good relationships between
Executive and Non-Executive Directars,

Maintains a productive relationship with the CEC,
praviding a source of caunsel snd challenge an how
the business is cperated.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Has delegatad authority from the Board and

is responsible for the conduct of the whole

of the business of the Company.

Deliers the Company's stratagy 1in accordanas with
its objectives and regulatory requirements.
Develops and has oversight of the Cormpany's
corporate culiure in the day-te-day management of
the business.

Communicates the strategic objectives of
the Company and its core values.

Leads the Executive Board, assigns respansibilitias to
senfor management and ovarsess the establishmernt
of effective sk managemant and cantrol systams

——
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BOARD COMMITTEES

FINANCIAL SERVICES BOARD
COMMITTEE

FINANCIAL SERVICES
OPERATING COMMITTEE

The Financial Services Operating
Comrmittes is responsible for the
day-ta-day oversight and running
of N Brown's ¥irancial Services
business, and reports to the
“xecative Board and Financial
Services Board Committee.

SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Leads the assessment of the performance

of the Chair by maeting with the Non-Exacutive
Directors at least once a year 1o appraise the Chair's
performance and on such other occasions as are
deemed appropriata.

Acts as a sounding board tor the Chair, and acts as an
interenediary for ather Directors when necessary.

Works with the Chair and other Directors and/or
shareholders to resclve significant issues should
they arise.

Chairs the Nominations and Governance Committee
when considering the succession te the role of Chair,

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Supports the CEQ in providing strategic direction
inrelation to the overall finance strategy for
the Company.

Controls all day-ra-day activities pertaining
to finance and business operating systems.

Responsible for the preparation of the

Annual Report and Accounts in line with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP"), international
Financial Reporting Standards (*IFRS™), and all relevant
legislative and regulatory requirements.

Responsibility for assessing the ongoing
appropriatenass of accounting and financial reporting
policies for the Company, and where relevant
escalating matters for the attention of the Board and
Audit and Risk Committes, including matters relating
to provisians and impairments.

Responsible for monitoring and regularly
assessing the adequacy and effectiveness

At Einmmrm mvrmmmeeme amel comeresle

NOMEINATIONS AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Find out more on pb7.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ensures that the Boards and Committees operate in
line with good corporate governance.

Adwvises the Board on all matters relating to

the AIM Rules and applicable legal and requlatory
requirements, while working closely with senior
management to anticipate, plan and address
strategic, legal, governance and compliance matters
concerning the Company.

Manages the internal and external legzl and
compliance resources, with primary responsibility for
the selection, retention, management and evaluation
of outside legal counsel.

Maintains alt necessary minutes and actions all

necessary returns and statutory fitings on behalf of
the Company.
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COMPOSITION, SUCCESSION AND EVALUATION

BOARD COMPOSITION

' NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TENURE

Lord Alliance of

25 Movamber 1948

Manchester CBE

Ran McMilian 1 Aprit 2013
Richard Moross 6 October 2016
Gill Barr 16 January 2018
Michael Ross 16 January 2018
vicky Mitchell 20 January 2020
Joshua Alliance 23 Dacember 2020

GENDER BALANCE AT FINANCIAL YEAR END

ALL COLLEAGUES

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

The Board recognises the importance

of diversity of gender, social and ethnic
backgrounds, cognitive and personal
strengths at all levels of the Company as weli
as on the Board. N Brown is committed to
equal opportunities and increasing diversity
across our operations. The Board continues
to consider haw diversity can be enhanced
through both the Group and Executive
Beards, within the senior leadership team
and across the wider Group whilst still
ensuring the most appropriate candidates
are appointed.

Balanced gender representation across the
business remains a key priority going into
FY22. As of June 2021, there is 2 33% female
representation at Board level and 43% at
Executive Board level

N Brown is committed to creating an
inclusive working environment which
enables everyone to work to the best of
their skills and abilities. As a Compary, we
pride ourselves on providing opportunities
for learning and career development
which do not operate at the detriment of
disabled colleagues. Our application and
interview process are reqularly reviewed

TENURE

Years
- 7y 2
w46 1

- (3 4

persens. We continue the employment
wherever possible of anyone who becomes
diszbled during their employment, providing
assistance and modifications to their
environment where possible,

Strengthening our executive pipeline
remains a priority for us and, as our business
evolves, we will continue to open up new
opportunities for women and ethnic
minorities, working with headhunters

and agencies that can provide trus
diversification in their candidate bases.

For more information on our recent Board
appaintments see péb.
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COMPOSITION

The Board understands the need for Nan-Exacutive Directors to be and remain independent of managemant in order to be able to exercise
proper oversight and to effectively challenge the Executive Directors. The Non-Executive Directors who served during the financial year

ended 27 February 2021 were:

Ron McMillan {Chair, effective
31 March 2021}

Lord Alliance of Manchester CBE

Gill Barr (Senior Independent Director,
effective 31 March 2021)

Richard Moross
Michael Ross
Vicky Mitchell
Jashua Alliance

Lesley Jones [Resigned effective
31 March 2021)

Matt Davies (Qutgeing Charr, resigned
effective 31 March 2021}

The compoasition of the Board and
Committees is regularly reviewed and
refreshed. In June 2020, Craig Lovelace
resigned as CFO and Rache! lzzard was
appointed in his place. Joshua Alliance was
appointed as a Non-Executive Director

in December 2020. These were the only

changes to Board composition within the
FY21 year, but as announced on 25 February
2021, Matt Davies stepped down as Chair
effective 31 March 2021 and was replaced
by Ron McMillan, previously Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director.

Gl Barr was appeinted Senior Independent
Director effective 31 March 2021.

As announced on 24 March 2021, Lesley
Jones also resigned on 31 March 2021.

Vicky Mitchell stepped into the role of Acting
Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee
effective 31 March 2021. An external search
for a new Audit and Risk Committee Chair

is underway. Following his appointment

as Board Chair, Ron McMillan became

Chair of the Nominations and Governance
Committee on 31 March 2021.

Throughout the year, at ieast half of the
Beard, excluding the Qutgoing Chair,
comprised independent Non-Executive
Directors. The New Chair was considered
independent at the time of his appointment,

BOARD SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

‘ﬁon %\]—Z:Milian - n

Lard Alliance ot | |
Manchester CBE

Gill Barr ] ]
Richard Maorcss | |
Michael Ross | |
Vicky Mitchell n
Joshua Aliance | |
Steve Johnson | m
Rachol fzzard u u
BOARD APPOINTMENTS

All appointments to the Board follow a
formal, rigorous and transparent process

1o ensure we appaint the best possible
candidate. Due regard is given to the needs
of the Board in respect of skills, experience,

T e

Further detail on the appointments made during
the year are provided in the Noeminations and
Governance Committee report on pé7.

Appointmenits to the Board are made solely
on merit, based on the skills and experience
offered by the candidate and required by
the role. This ensures that all appointees

BOARD COMPOSITION

me Executive Directors
= Nan-Executive Directors

mm |ndependent Non-Executive Directors

themselves effectively to the business of
the Board and to discharge their duties to
the best of their ability. With regard to the
appointment and replacement of Directors,
the Company is governed by its Articles of
Association, the Code, the Companies Act
2006 and refated tegislation.
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COMPOSITION, SUCCESSION AND EVALUATION CONTINUED

BUOARD COMPOSITION -

SR,

[T e il
Pt s

[ T H .

Prior to appeintment to the Board all
Directors are informed of the expected time
cemmitment. At the time of writing there are
no concerns that any of the current Directors
will be unable to commit sufficient tima to the
role. We have evaluated the commitments

of the New Chair and are satisfied he has
sufficient time to devote to his role.

External appointments of other significant
commitments of the Directors require the
prior approval of the Chair. Other than

a contract of service, no Director had

any interest in any disclosable contract

or arrangemenits with the Group or any
subsidiary Company either during cr at the
end of the year.

At the 2021 Annual General Meeting, all

of the Directors will retire and will offer
themselves for re-election with the exception
of Joshua Alliance who will be seeking
ratification of his appointment to the Board.
All Nen-Executive Directors serve on letters
of appointment stipulating three-year
terms, All appointments are tarminable,
without compensation, on six- months'
notice by either party and are subject to
aother early termination provisions without
compensation, for example in the event

a Director is not re-elected at the Annuat
General Meeting.

Details of current external appointments can
be found in the Directors’ biographies set out
on p3é.

BOARD DEVELOPMENT
AND TRAINING

The Company Secretary provides an
ongoing programme of briefings for
Directors covering legal and regulatory
changes and developments relevant to
the Group's activities and Directors’ areas
of responsibility.

During the year under review, the Board
took part in several training sessions on

the regulatory agenda and specialist

matter topics, mainly focusing around the
Company’s obligations upon its move to the
Alternative Investment Market ("AIM".

The Board underwent extensive training,
facilitated by external providers, on
the following:

Equity Raise best practice and procedural
requirements under the Companies

Act 2006 and the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000

AIM Rules and Regulations

Directors’ Duties and Responsibilities
under the Companies Act 2006

In addition, alt Directors with a designated
Senior Manager Function received a
combination of written and face-to-

face training in relation to their specific
duties under the Senicr Managers &
Certification Regime.

Board meeting agendas across the year
included deep dive discussions on the
following topics:

Refinancing of the Company and the
move to AlM

People strategy

Product strategy

Financial Services platform
Risk Management Framework

IT roadmap (including new website
front-end development)

Directors also underwent external training
and personal development refevant to
their roles.

The Company Secretary is responsible for the
induction of new Directors. New Directors
are provided with a comprehensive pack of
information (including Terms of Reference,
information regarding the business and
guidance on their roles and duties as
Directors) and meetings with key collzagues
are arranged as appropriate. Inductions to
the business for new Directors are designed
to expose them to all areas of the Group's
operations but with particular emphasis on
each Director’s area of expertise.

Non-Executive Directors meet with the
Executive Board and operational teams
and undertake site visits to ensure that
they have the most up-to-date knowledge
and understanding of the Company and
its activities. This also allows colleagues
from across the Company to benefit from
the skills and experience of the Non-
Executive Directors. Site visits have net
been possible for the majority of FY21

diie to the Company's Covid-19 Policy
and associated site access restrictions.
Site visits will recommence in FY22 when the
situation allows.

All Board members are permitted to
obtain independent professional advice in
respect of their own fiduciary duties and

Ablicstiane and hoos foll aed Aiemmd smmaee

solicitor and who attends all Board and
Committee meetings as Secretary. The Chair
has regular contact with each Director

and is able to address their training and
development needs.

BOARD EVALUATION !

In early 2021, the Board took partin an
external Board and Committee evaluation,
facilitated by Sam Allen Associates.

A comprehensive questionnaire was
developed and completed by all Directors.
Key focus topics were as folows:

Business strategy and risk
Communication and remote working
Wider stakeholders

Shareholders’ value

Knowledge and skills

Board processes

In additian, performance reviews of all Board
Committees and individual Directors were
completed, including the Chair.

The results of the evaluation were assessed
by the full Board. Key areas ot focus and
development over the next 12 months were
identified, including:

Strategic discussions and decision-making
by the Board

Risk appetite review and approval

Interaction of the FS and Retail arms
of the business

Board size, skill gap analysis and
succession planning

Best practice for remote
board engagement

Qwerall, the Board is satisfied with the
outcome of the evaluation and believes the
perfarmance of the Chair, Committee Chairs
and Directors, and their commitment to
their respective roles, continues to be fully
effective. The Board and its Committees
continue to provide appropriate oversight

of the Company and chaflenge to the
Executive team. Overall, the Board remains
effective, positive and cohesive, and has the
requisite skills, experience, challenge and
judgement appropriate for the reguirernents
of the business.
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MEMBER

Ron McMillan

April 213 - Present

{Chair from 31 March 2021)

Gill Barr
Richard Moross
Michael Ross
Vicky Mitchell
Matt Dravies

Lesley Jones

RESPONSIBILITIES

Identifying and nominating
candidates to fill Board vacancies
having evaluated the balance

of skills, knowledge and
axperience already on the Board
and identified the capabilities
required for the rols.

Succession planning, taking into
account the skills and expertise
needed on the Board for

the future.

Reviewing the structure, size
and composition {including
the skiils, knowledge and
experience) of the Board and
making recemmendations
to the Board with regard to
appropriate changes.

Reviewing the leadership
needs of the Group to
ensure the continued ability
of the organisation to
compete effectively within
the rarketplace.

January 2018 - Present

October 2076 - Present

January 2018 — Present

January 2020 - Present -
Novermber 2019 — March 2021

October 2014 - March 2021

FY22 PRIORITIES
Recruiting a new Independent
Non-Executive Director

and Chair of the Audit and
Risk Committee.

Reviewing the talent pipeline and
its effectiveness in developing
diverse candidates.

Overseeing succession planning
for the Executive and Non-
Executive Directors to ensure

it aligns to the Group's fong-
term strategy.

Reviewing the composition of
the Board and its Cornmittees,
engaging with external
shareholders where appropriate.

CEAR SHAREHOLDER

W AT o

| am pleased to present the Nominations and Governance
Committee report for FY21. This is my first report as Chair of the
Committee having stepped into the position in March 2021

FY21 has seen a number of changes for the Company. The onset
of the Covid pandemic significantly impacted our business
operations and trading strategy; this was reflected in the changes
made to the Board and Committee structure across the vear.

The Company appointed Russell Reynolds Associates and Sam
Allen Associates to support searches for new Board candidates.
Rachel lzzard joined the Company as Chief Financial Officer in
June 2020, replacing Craig Lovelace. In addition, Sarah Welsh was
appointed as CEO of Retail in March 2020. All appointments were
unanimously approved by the Board.

Following the Company’s admission to the Alternative Investment
Market and successful equity raise in late 2020, the Committee
was pleased to recommend the appointment of Joshua Alliance
to the Board as Non-Executive Director. Joshua joined the Beard
in December 2020.

| stepped down as Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee and
Senior Independent Diractor following my appointment as Chair
of the Board in March 2021. The primary focus of the Committee
over the next few months is to oversee the external process
currently underway to appoint a new permanent Chair of the
Audit and Risk Committee. In the meantime, Vicky Mitchell has
kindly stepped into the role as Acting Chair. Gill Barr became
Senior Independent Director effective from March 2021 Gill is
one of the fongest serving members of the Board and brings a
wealth of experience to the role.

In early 2021, the Board and its Cormmittees underwent an
extarnally facilitated Board evaluation, carried cut by Sam Allen
Associates. The results of the evaluation were discussed with the
whaole Board and an action plan is now in development for FY22
which will focus on succession planning and talert development.
Further information on the external evaluation can be found

on pbb.

The Company is proud of its commitment to and focus on
diversity. Details of cur approach to appointments to and of the
composition of cur Board is set out on péd.

I would like to thank my fellow Board members for their support
during this recent transition. | am available to speak with
shareholders at any time and shall be available at the Annual
General Meeting on 6 July 2027 to answer any questions you may
have on this report.

(e

Ron McMillan
Chair of the Nominations and Governance Committee
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AUDIT, RISK AND INTERNAL CONTROL

AT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

MEMBER
Vicky Mitchell

January 2020 - Prasent (Acting

Chair from 31 March 2021)

Michael Ross*
Ron McMillan

Lesley Jones

January 2018 — Present
April 2013 = March 2021
October 2014 — March 2021 B

* Mizhael Ross was unable to attend ore of the Committee me=tings dus to
3 priar comrm tment.

Reviewing the integrity of the
financial statements, price
sensitive financial releases and
significant financial judgements
and estirmnates relating thereto.

Monitoring the scope of work,
quality, effectiveness and
independence of the external
auditors and approving their
appointment and fees.

Monitoring and reviewing the
independence and activities of
the Internal Audit function

Assisting the Board and

the Financial Services

Board Committee with the
development and execution of
a risk management strategy, risk
policies and exposures and a
risk register.

Keeping under review the
adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group's internal financial
controls and internal control and
risk management systems.

BY24 PRIGRITIER

Appointing a new Audit and Risk
Committee Chair.

Continuing to monitor the
impact Covid-19 is having on the
Group's business, internal control
procedures and governance.

Ensuring that the Group's

risk management procedures
continue to be responsive to the
impact Covid-19 is having on
resources and ways of working.

Ensuring that the Group's
Internal Audit and Risk functions
continue to be fully resourced.

In conjunction with the Financial
Services Board Committee,
ensuring that the Group complies
with the requirements of the
Senior Managers Certification
Regime — the FCA's enhanced
regime for regulated firms.

DEAR SHAREHOLDER
On 31 March 2021, Ron McMillan stepped down as Audit and

Risk Committee Chair, following his appointment as Chair of the
Board. | am presenting this report as the Acting Chair of the Audit
and Risk Committee; the Group has commenced a faciitated
search to find a new Committee Chair. During the year, the Audit
and Risk Committee has continued to carry out a key role within
the Group's governance framework, supporting the Board and
Financial Services Board Committee in risk management, internal
control and financial reporting. The Committee also acknowledges
and embraces its role of protecting the interests of shareholders as
regards to the integrity of published financial information and the
effectiveness of audit.

The Committee maintains oversight of the Group's financial policies
and reporting, monitors the integrity of the financial staternents and
reviews and considers significant financial and accounting estimates
and judgernents. The Committee satisfies itself that the disclosures
in the financial statements about these estimates and judgements
are appropriate and obtains an independent view of the key
disclosure issues and risks from the Group's external auditor.

Whilst risk management is a Board respensibility, the Committee
works closely with the Board, the Financial Services Board
Committee and Group management to ensure that all
significant risks are considered on an ongoing basis and that all
communications with shareholders are properly considered.

In relation to risks and controls, the Committee ensures that these
have been identified and that appropriate responsibilities and
accountabilities have been set. The Committee also reviews reports
from the Group's Compliance function and assesses the means by
which the Group seeks to comply with regulatory obligaticns.

Akey responsibility of the Committee is to review the scope of work
undertaken by the internal and external auditors and 1o consider
their effectiveness.

During the year, the Committee oversaw the internal controf
assessment and working capital review for the equity raise that
completed in December 2020. The Committee also oversaw the
process used by the Board to assess the viability of the Group, the
stress testing of key trading assumptions and the preparation of the
Viability Staternent which is set out on p%6 of this Annual Report.

The Committee considered whether the 2021 Annual Report is
fair, balanced and understandable and whether it provides the
necessary information to shareholders to assess the Group's
performance, business model and strategy. The Committee
considered management's assessment of items included in

the financial statements and the prominence given to them.

The Committee, and subsequently the Board, were satisfied that,
taken as a whole, the 2021 Annual Report and Accounts are fair,
balanced and understandable.

Further information on the Committee's responsibilities and the
manner in which they have been discharged s set out in this report.
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available at the Annual General Meeting on 6 July 2021 to answer
any guestions you may have on this report. | would like to thank my
colleagues on the Committee for their help and support during
the year.

Vicky Mitchell
Acting Chair of the Audit
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The Committee currently comprises two members, each of
whom is an independent Non-Executive Director. Two members
constitutes a quorum. | he Committee requires the inclusion ot

at least one financially qualified member with recent and relevant
financial experience. The Acting Committee Chair, Vicky Mitchell
fulfils that requirement. All members are expected to have an
understanding of financial reporting, the Group's internal control
environment, relevant corporate legistation, the roles and function
of internal and external audit and the regulatory framework of

the business. As reflected in the biographical details on p56 the
Committee members have significant experience of working in

or with companies in the retail, financial services and consumer
goods sectors.

The members of the Commiittee who served during the year were:
Vicky Mitchell (Acting Committee Chair from 31 March 2021)
Michael Ross o -

Ron McMillan {Resigned 31 March 2021)
Lesley Jones {Resigned 31 March 2021)

Details of Committee meetings and attendances are set out on
pb8. The timing of Committee meetings is set to accommodate
the dates of releases of financial information and the approva!

of the scope of and reviews of outputs from work programmes
executed by the internal and external auditors. In addition to
schedufed meetings, the Chair of the Committee met with the
CFO, the Head of Internal Audit and the external auditors during
the year.

Although not members of the Committee, the Chair of the
Board, CEQ, CFO and representatives from the Group's internal
and external auditors attend all meetings. The Secretary

of the Committee is the Group's General Counsel and
Company Secretary.

Pl N Vol B
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As more fully explained on p75, the Financial Services Board
Committee {(“FSB”) is responsible to the N Brown Board for
oversight of the Financial Services business. While ultimate
oversight of Greup risk remains with the Group Board, the FSB
is responsible for the development and oversight of the culture,
the long-term objectives and the strategy of the Group's
Financial Services business.

In relation to internal controls and risk management within
Financial Services, the FSB approves annual plans and
perfarmance targets and maintains oversight of regulatory
compliance. The FSB makes whatever recommendations it
deems appropriate on any area within its remit and escalates to
the Group Board such matters as it deems appropriate.

The table on p74 detalls the core activities of the Committee
during the year. Key matters considered included the following:

IMPACT OF COVID 1S

Afthough the global spread of Covid-19 began in February
2020, the World Health Organization's declaration of a global
pandemic took place in March 2020 snd was not predictable as
at the 2020 balance sheet date. The impact of the pandermic has,
therefore, been accounted for in the current year.

The Committee has reviewed the disclosures made by
management in relation to the pandemic and the measures
taken by management to suppart the business throughout.
The Committee has also reviewed the associated assumptions
used to support forward estimates. In particular, it has reviewed
the reasonableness of the assumptions made in relation to
trade receivables bad debt impairment, software intangibles
impairment and inventories impairment.

Given the ongoing challenges posed by Covid, the Committee
has noted and approved extended timelines for completion of
the Internal Audit Plan and the Risk Management Framewark
Enhancements. In addition and in line with the joint statement
issued by the FCA and FRC in January 2021, encouraging boards
to use the measures granted to allow listed companies an
additional two months to publish their audited annual financiat
reports, the Committee has approved an extended timeline for
completion of the year end accounts.

The Committee remains satisfied that there continues to be
reasonable assurance over key risk areas despite the challenges
to timelines and rescurces.
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The Group assesses its assets for impairment on an annua! basis.
The Committee has reviewed management's jJudgement that
the Group's assets do not need to be impaired. In reviewing this
judgement, the Committee considered the appropriateness

ot the key inputs in the value in use calcutations prepared by
management including the cash flows based on the Group's
three-year plan as at February 2021, the assumed long-term
growth rate of subsequent cash flows and the risk-adjusted
discount rate.

REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE

While no longer considered a source of estimation uncertainty,
the Group operates in a regulated marketplace. This creates

risk for the business as non-compliance can lead to customer
detriment, reputaticnal damage, financial penalties and potential
loss of licence to operate.

The Group is regulated in the UK by the FCA under a licence
granted on 21 September 2016 and by the Central Bank of Ireland
for its Oxendales business. Changes in laws and regulations
impact the Group's business, sector and market, and the
Committes continues to review the outputs of work carried out
by the Group’s Compliance function in order to satisfy itself that
action Is being taken to address the changes that are requited to
comply with the regulations.
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AUDIT, RISK AND INTERNAL CONTROL CONTINUED

ALDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT OO0

CAPITALISATION OF SOFTWARE
DEVE{ OPMENT COSTS

The Group's software development and implementation
programme is ongoing, albeit at a slower pace, and the
Cormmittee has continued to review the treatment of the
significant software and project costs in order to satisfy itself
that the Group's approach to capitafisation of these costs
remains appropriate.

The Committee concurs with management’s reassessment of the
useful economic lives of its legacy assets in light of the Group's
strategy and in the wider technology arena.

SVIPAIRBAENT OF CUSTOMER RECEIVABLES
The Group's methodology to determine provisions for

expected creditlosses in its credit ledgers is both complex and
judgemental. A significant part of external audit is focused in

this area and the Committee seeks assurance from the Finance
function and the auditors that the approach to provisioning is
consistent year on year or, if not, that changes are made to better
reflect changing econemic or commercial circumstances.

The Committee again reviewed the IFRS 9 model and the
refinerments that had been made to it in the year.

SEFST PENSION PLANS

The Committee has continued to review the various assumptions
that underpin the actuarial valuation and recognise that

these may differ from actual developments in the future.

The Committee concurs with management’s assessment that
the assumptions are appropriate for the expert to use in their
actuarial valuation for the Group's defined benefit pension plan.

RS AND INTERMAL CONTROLE

Oversight of the Group's risk management process is provided
by the Director of Risk, the Head of Internal Audit, the Head

of Compliance, the Financial Services Board Committee, the
Audit and Risk Committee and, ultimately, the Group Board.
The Director of Risk and the Heads of Compliance and Internal
Audit are invited to attend all Audit and Risk Committee
meetings. The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring that
the Group maintains 2 sound system of internal control and risk
rmanagement. There are inherent limitations in any system of
internal control and no system can provide absolute assurance
against material misstatements, loss or failure. Equally, no system
can guarantee elimination of the risk of failure to meetthe
objectives of the business,

Leading up to the intreduction of the Senior Managers

& Certification Regime ("SM&CR"), the FCA's enhanced
accountability regime for firms, in December 2019, the

Group embarked on the process of further up-weighting its
risk management capability across the Group through the
implementation of an enhanced Risk Management Framework.
A number of activities are being progressed:

Rationalisation and consolidation of key risk policies.
Optimisation of corporate and risk governance arrangements.

Improving risk decision-making, risk reporting, and the way
material risks across the Group are identified, assessed
and managed.

The Group has always maintained a Risk Management

Process reporting into the Audit and Risk Committee. SM&CR
has provided an opportunity for further up-weighting and
formalisation of this process. Further information on the Group's
Enterprise Risk Management Framework is detailed on p32.

Against this background, the Committee has helped the Board
develop and maintain an approach tc risk management which
incorporates risk appetite, the framework within which risk is
managed and the responsibilities and procedures pertaining to
the application of policy.

The Committee reviews annually the overall risk strategy and
Risk Policy, including risk appetite, exposure, measures and
limits, and material amendments to the risk appetite and related
policies. The Group is proactive in ensuring that corporate and
operational risks are identified and managed. A corporate risk
register s maintained which details:

The key risks to the Group and the impact they may have
Actions to mitigate

Inherent and residual risk assessments to highlight the
implications of occurrence

Ownership

Target dates for actions to mitigate

A description of the Level One risks is set out on p35 to 38

The Board has carried out a robust assessment of the principal
risks facing the Group, including those which threaten its
business model, future performance, insolvency or liquidity.

The Committee has focused on addressing some identified
control weaknesses, continucusly improving the Group's internal
control framework. The Committee continues to believe that
appropriate controls are in place througheout the Group and that
the Group has & well-defined arganisational structure with clear
iines of responsibility and a comprehensive financial reporting
system. The Committee alsc believes that the Company
complies with the Financial Reporting Council ("FRC") guidance
on risk management, internal control and related financial
business reporting.

GOING CONCERM AND VIABILITY

The Committee reviewed the appropriateness of adepting the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the full year
financial statements and assessed whether the business was
viable in accordance with the Code. The assessment included

a review of the principal risks facing the Group, their financial
impact, how they are managed, the availability of finance, and the
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The Committee considered in pamcular the following:

The accounting principles, policies and practlces adopted and
the adequacy of related disclosures in the reports;

The significant accounting issues, estimates and judgements
of management in relataon to financial reporting;

Whether any sugnn‘ncant adjustments were reqUIred asa result
of the review by the external auditors;

Compliance with statutory tax obligations and the Group's
Tax Policy;

Whether the information set out in the Annual Report was fair,
balanced and understandable; and

Whether the use of "alternative performance measures”
was appropriate.
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Following the resignation of the previous Head of Internal
Auditin FY20, 2 new Head of Internal Audit was appointed, and
resources were strengthened.

The Head of Internal Audit has a direct reporting line to the
Committee and attended all Committee meetings. During the
year Group Internal Audit ("GIA") undertock a risk-based
programme of wark which was discussed with, and approved
by, both Executive Management and the Committee.

During the year GIA has carried out reviews covering the
following areas:

Affordability
Persistent Debt
Conduct Risk Frahework

Debt Securitisation

Information Security and Data Protection

[T Risk Management

IT Change Management

SM&CR Readiness

HR Systems Post-lmplementation

The outcomes of GIA's work were reported regularly during the

year to the Committee, the Executive Board and the Financial
Services Board.

The reviews culminated in a series of recommendations against
which management agreed a number of remedial actions.
Progress against these actions is formally monitored and their
status reported to the Committee.

On joining the Group, the new Head of Internal Audit undertook
a seff-assessment aqainst prevailing professional standards.

There were no restrictions placed on the scope of work to
be carried out by the GIA function or its ability to report to
the Committee.

Notwithstanding the self-assessment action plan, the
Committee has evaluated the perfermance of GIA and has
concluded that it continues to provide helpful and constructive
challenge to management and demonstrates a commercial and
canstructive view of the business.

S CONIRATTED

The Audit and Risk Committee's performance was assessed as
part of the Board's external evaluation carried out in early 2021,
as detailed on péé. The Board considers that the processes
undertaken by the Committee are appropriately robust,
effective and in compliance with the guidelines issued by the
FRC. During the year, the Board has not been advised by the
Committee, nor has it identified itself, any failings, frauds or
weaknesses in internal control which have been determined to
be material in the context of the financial statements.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

KPMG LLP were appointed as external auditors on 14 July

2015. The partner responsible for the audit is Anthony Sykes, a
partner in the London office. Anthony is in his first year as the
engagement partner. The total fees paid to KPMG for the year
ended 27 February 2021 were £1.6m, of which £0.5m was in
respect of non-audit services. Further details are set outin ncte 5
to the financial statements on p126.

The Board's policy in relation to the auditors undertaking non-
audit services is that they are subject to tender processes, unless
the nature of the work means the auditors are best placed to
provide services. The allocation of work is done on the basis

of competence, cost effectiveness, regulatory requirements,
potential conflicts of interest and knowledge of the Group's
business. KPMG LLP has, during the year, provided non-audit
services in the form of advisory work relating 1o the Company's
Equity Raise in 2020. The Committee is satistied that, in relation
to these services, KPMG LLP has taken actions to ensure that any
potential conflicts of interest are properly managed.

The Committee remains mindful of the attitude investors

have towards the auditors performing non-audit services.

The Committee will continue to ensure that fees for non-audit
services do not exceed 70% of aggregate audit fees, as measured
over a three-year period.

The Committee reviews the performance of KPMG LLP annually
based on their understanding of key areas of judgement and the
extent of challenge, the quality of reporting and the efficiency
and conduct of the audit. Feedback is sought from management,
the Group's Finance and Internal Audit functions and the
General Counsel.
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AUDIT, RISK AND INTERNAL CONTROL CONTINUED

AUOIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT U040

The N Brown 2020 audit was not chosen for review by the

FRC. However, the Committee reviewed KPMG's transparency
report 2020 and noted the firm’s commitment to quality and risk
management. The Committee also discussed with KPMG the
results of the FRC Audit Quality Inspection of the UK firm, which
were published in July 2020.

The Committee noted that KPMG had taken steps to address
the key findings of the 2019 FRC report by continuing with and
extending the initiatives within its three-year Audit Quality
Transtormation Plan. Whilst there has been considerable focus on
audit quality, the FRC concluded that there remain some areas
where iImprovements need to be made.

On an annual basis, the Audit Quality Review ("AQR"} team of
the FRC carry out reviews of the audits of listed companies.

In the year to July 2020, across the seven largest accounting
firms, 33% of audits reviewed were considered to need more
than limited improvement. The individual results of firms were
similar. The main areas of concern to the AQR continue to be
impairments of goodwill and intangibles, revenue and contracts
and provisions, including loan loss provisions.

KPMG are taking steps to improve the resuits of the 2020 ACRs
undertaken and the Committee will monitor progress it is making.

The Committee considered in detail KPMG's audit planning
documentation and satisfied itself that the audit work to be
carried out by KPMG covered all significant aspects of the
Annual Report and Accounts. There were no areas which the
Committee asked KPMG to lock at specifically. KPMG's report

to the Committee at the conclusion of the audit confirmed

that the audit had been carried out as set out in the planning
documentation and the Committee considered the findings of
KPMG as reflected in their audit opinion and their year end report
to the Board. KPMG's audit opinion sets out the key matters that,
in their professional judgement, were of most significance in their
audit. These are consistent with the key matters considered and
agreed with the Committee when the audit was planned. KPMG's
opinion describes how these matters were addressed in the audit
and the scope and nature of their work reflects the thoroughness
of their approach and the degree of scepticism applied.

ALIHTOR INDEPENDENCE

The Committee sought and was provided with assurance from
the Audit Engagement partners that they and all members of
KPMG's staff engaged on the audit had confirmed that they and
their dependants were independent and that KPMG as a firm
was independent.

AUDIT OUALITY ALE]

The Committee assessed the quality of KFMG's auditin a
number of ways:

1} The Committee met with the senior members of the KPMG
audit team on three occasions during the year and discussed
the planning, execution and reporting of audit work and
findings. All senior membaers of the KPMG team contributed
to these meetings.

2) In conjunction with the CFC and senior members of the
finance team, the Cormmittee discussed and assessed
KPMG's approach to the execution of and reporting
of their audit and related findings.

The overall conclusion of the process was that KPMG LLP's work
continues to be thorough and professional and it is, therefore, the
Committee’s recommendation that the reapgointment of KPMG
LLP be put to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on

& July 2021. Given that this is only the sixth year of KPMG LLP's
tenure as auditors, the Board has no present plans to consider an
audit tender process.

ANTL-BRIBERY AND
ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICIES

The Group remains committed to conducting its business with
honesty and integrity and expects all colicagucs to maintain
equally high standards, encouraging open communication
from all those who work within the business or across its supply
chain. The Group is committed to ensuring that it offers good
quality, transparently and fairly sourced products and services to
its customers and operates with integrity and in an honest and
ethical manner at all times. Comprehensive Anti-Bribery and
Anti-Carruption and Gifts and Hospitality policies are in place
and are applicable to all colleagues across the business, along
with a dedicated central Register of Gifts and Hospitality which
all colleagues are required to use. Compliance to the policy

is monitored by the Internal Audit function which reports any
findings of note to the Committee.
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Frm RALANIED AND UNDERSTANDALBLE
At the request of the Group Board and as required by the UK
Corpaorate Governance Code, the Committee assessed whether
the content of the FY21 Annual Report and Accounts, preliminary
results annocuncement and presentation, taken as a whole, were
fair, balanced and understandable. Consideration was also given
to as to whether key messages, disclosures and information were
included in a consistent manner throughout the report.

The Committee considered the prominence given to certain
items included in the financial staternents and the language

used to describe performance. The Committee advised the
Group Board that it was satisfied that, taken as a whole, the

2021 Annual Report was fair, balanced and understandable, and
that it provided shareholders and other stakeholders with the
necessary information to allow them to determine the Company's
performance, business model, risks and strategy.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The significant judgements made by management in applying
the Group's accounting poiicies and key sources of estimation
uncertainty are set out in note Z on pi21.

These relate to the impact of Covid-19, impairment of customer
receivables, software and development costs and the useful
economic life assessment, the impairment of non-financial
assets, the defined benefit pension plan and the Allianz claim
and counterclaim.

The Committee discussed with the auditors how these matters
impacted the financial statements and reviewed the sensitivities
which were considered by management to be appropriate.

HYIPAIRMENT OF CUSTOMER RECEIVABLES

This involves a number of areas of judgement, the estimating
of forward-looking modelling parameters, developing a range
of future economic scenarios, estimating expected lives and
assessing increases in credit risk. The Committee has reviewed
the disclesures made by management in relation to these
estimation components and related sensitivities and considers
them to be appropriate.

SOFTWARE ANMOG
included within intangible assets are significant software and
development costs in respect of the Group's technological
development programme. The Committee has discussed
with management whether the related projects will be
completed successfully and whether the carrying value is
supported by sufficient revenue and profitability going forward.
The Committee has also considered management’s exercise
performed in the year in reviewing the useful economic lives of
its legacy intangible assets in light of general advancements in
technology and the Group's strategy.

DEVELOPRENT 20T
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At the balance sheet date and following a significant drop
inthe Group's share price, the market capiialisation of the
Group was lower than the Group's net assets. As this is an
indicater of impairment, management are required to test

for impairment based on value-in-use calculations reflecting
expected cash flows, long-term growth rates and a pre-tax
discount rate. The Committee has discussed these with
management and reviewed the refevant disclosures in the
Annual Report. The Committee has discussed the sensitivities
of key assumptions including Product Revenue, EBITDA growth,
capital expenditure and the discount rate with management and

reviewed the relevant disclosures in the Annual Report.

DEFINED BENEFIT PEMSION PLAN

The cost of the Group's defined benefit pension plan and present
value of the pension cbligations are determined using actuarial
valuations. The Committee has reviewed the disclosures in the
Annual Report in relation to the pension plans and ensured

that these are consistent with the advice received from the
Group's actuaries.

ALVIANZ CLAIM AND COUNTERLTLAIM

The Committee noted the claim lodged against the Group by
Alliznz Insurance ple and the counterclaim that the Group has
made. The legal position in relation to this claim and counterclaim
has not made any meaningful progress within the period.
Therefore, the Committee again concurred with management’s
judgement that, because of the complexity of the claims and the
early stage of proceedings, it is not currently possible to reliably
estimate the amount of any potential outcome and, therefore, no
provision for the claim has been made.




>

N Brown Group ple Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT O

AUTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTES
Meetings of the Commillee are scheduled to coincide with key dates in the financial calendar and reporting cycle. Recurring agenda

items of the meeting included matters relating to the review and approval of the Internal Audit Plan, risk mapping and appetite,
financial reporting and tax matters. Additional matters covered at each of the meetings during FY21 were as follows:

MAY 2020 ¥ NOVEMBER 2020

il of the G

Internal Auditor
External Auditor

Audit and Risk Committee

JUNE 2020 JANUARY 2021
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Vicky Mitchel! (Chair)
Ron McMillan

Steve Johnzon
Rachel lzzard

Matt Davies

Lesley Jones

Craig Lovelacs

Cversight of the Financial
Services business of the Group.

Setting the values and
standards of the Financial
Services operations.

Oversight and development of
culture and approval of long-
term objectives and strategy

in relation to the Financial
Services business.

Ensuring that the Financial
Services business delivers good
customer Qutcomes.

Establishing the risk appetite of
the Financial Services business.

January 2020 — Prosent
Novemnber 2019 - Present
Novermnber 20019 — Present
June 2020 - Present
November 2019 - March 2021
November 2019 - March 2021
November 2019 - June 2020
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Continuing to support credit
customers in respect of the
Financrial Conduct Authority's
("FCA") payment deferral
regulations following the
Covid-19 outbreak.

Overseeing the strategic
contributions of the Financial
Servicas business to the Group's
commercial development.

Ensuring compliance with
and delivery against the
requirements of the evolving
regulatory agenda.

Continuing to ensure the Senior
Managers & Certitication Regime
("SM&CR") is embedded across
the Group.

Delivering against the Persistent
Debt regulation.

Supporting the development of
arevitalised Financial Services
customer proposition, including
delivery of a new Financial
Services IT platform.

DEAR SHAREHOLDER

This is my first full year reporting as Chair of the Financial
Services Board Committee (the “Committee”) having taken
over the position from Lesley Jones in January 2020.

in addition to providing general support to and oversight of the
Financial Services ("F5") business of the Group, the Committee
remains responsible for the development and oversight of the
culture, long-term objectives and strategy of the Group’s FS
business. While ultimate oversight of Group risk remains with
the Audit and Risk Committee, the Committee establishes risk
appetite and approves risk management plans in relation to FS.
The Committee also maintains oversight of internal control and
governance frameworks across FS.

Throughout FY21, the Committee has prioritised the support of
credit customers affected by the Covid-19 outbreak. In response
to the pandemic and the FCA's evolving guidance, the Company
undertook a series of strategic, operational and reguiatory
changes to ensure that custormers continued to receive good
outcomes and additional support as required by the requiator.
Covid-19 forbearance was offered and applied to customers

who were temporarily impacted by Covid-19, in line with the

firm's processes and the regulator’s expectations. Agents had
good, empathetic conversations with customers, and reached
appropriate solutions. The Committee will oversee further
menitoring activity planned for 2021 to assess the provision of
tailored support for customers post-deferral. The Company has
maintained regular, open dialogue with the FCA on its operational
response to the Covid-19 pandemic and payment deferral activity.

In 2020, the Committee approved a new governance approach
for FS, including a revised reporting framework and policy
approval process. Particutar attention was paid to the Group's
risk management and tactical approach to the Covid-19
pandemic. In addition, the Committee considered the Group’s
Payment Card Industry risk mitigation and approach to

credit risk. The Committee also maintained oversight of the
Company's application of the new Persistent Debt rules.

Work remains ongoing in respect of the development of a
revitalised FS customer proposition, including delivery of a new
FS [T platform. The Committee continues to oversee progress
and advises the business on its key strategic developments.

Looking ahead to FY22, the Committee will focus on supporting
customers as they emerge from the Covid-19 pandemic; N
Brown remains committed to helping its credit customers
through these challenging times. The Committee will continue
to oversee compliance with the regulatory agenda, ensuring the
FS business is focused on the needs of our customers and on
delivering goed customer outcomes,

| am available to speak with shareholders at any time and shall
be available at the Annual General Meeting on 6 July 2021 to
answer any questions you may have on this report.

Vicky Mitchell
- Chair of the Financial Services
Board Committee
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REMUNERATION

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT

MEMBER
Gill Barr {Chair)
Ron McMillan
Richard Moross
Matt Davies

Jraﬁuary 2018 — Present
April 2013 —Present

January 2017 - Prasent
May 2018~ March 2021

ARESPONSIBILITIES

Setting and reviewing the
remuneration policy and
determining the total individual
ramuneration package for all
Executive Directors, the Chair of
the Board and cther designated
senior executives taking into account
the policies, practices, pay and
employment conditions of the
Group and in accordance with the
UK Corporate Governance Code
fthe "Code”).

Establishing remuneration
schemes that promote long-

term shareholding by Executive
Dhrectors and align with long-term
shareholder interests.

Cresigning remuneraton pelicies
and practices which support the
Group’s long-term strategy and
promote sustainable success and
are aligned to the Group's purpose
and values. Remuneration policies
and practices will take into account
all relevant factors, legal and
reguJlatory requirements and
provisions and recormmendations of
the Code and associated guidance.

Approving the design of, and
datermining targets for, any
performance-related pay
schemes operated by the
Group and approving the total
annual payments made under
such schemes.

Reviewing the design of all share
incentive plans for approval by the
Beard and shareholders.

Reviewing workforce remuneration
ard related policies and overseeing
any major changes in employee
benefits structures throughout

the Group.

Ensuring that the Group engages
as appropriate with its principal
shareholders about remuneration.

FYZ22 PRIQGRITIES

Reviewing the Directors’
Remuneration Policy to ensure that
it continues to be aligned to and
support the business strategy as we
enter the third and final year of our
current policy.

Continuing to ensure our approach
ta pay provides fair and appropriate
reward, balancing the interests

of all stakehclders with the need

to provide remuneration that is
aligned to sharehaolders interests
and drives the achievernent of ocur
business strategy.

Monitoring the ongoing impact
of the Covid-1% pandemic on
the business and ensuring that
remuneration continues to be
appropriate in this context.

Considering the introduction of
a broader mix of performance
measures into the annual bonus
recognising our greater focus on
ESG matters as a business.

As we return to more narmal
working arrangernents and the
opportunity for increased calleague
engagement, ensuring that the
overall Group pay policies and
practices support the fikely mare
flaxible world of work and slightly
different business culture.

DEAR SHAREHOLDER
| am pleased to present the Directors’ Remuneration Report for
FY21 on behalf of the Board.

Our focus in 2020 has been on ensuring the safety and wellbeing
of our workforce and managing the business through the
Covid-19 pandemic. In addition, we have led a comprehensive
restructuring and refinancing of the business which has included
a relisting of our shares on AIM.

The governance regime for companies listed on AlM is different
to the Premium Segment of the Main Market and in many
respects is less stringent. However, the Board is committed to
maintaining the highest level of governance, including continuing
to report against the UK Corporate Governance Code.
Furthermore, in terms of the Directors’ remuneration reporting,
we will continue to report to the same standards as a Premium
Listed company.

Against a backdrop of the significant changes to the business in
the past year, we have thought particularly carefully about the
impact of the pandemic and performance of the business and
the remuneration of the senior management team. The result

is an approach that it considers to be fair and reasonable

for all stakeholders, taking into account the very significant
achieverents of the management team in repositioning the
business for future growth.

TOARD UHANOGES

We were delighted to welcome Rachel fzzard as our new CFO

on 29 June 2020. Rachel joined us on a salary of £350,000,
pension at 8% of salary, aligned to the workforce rate and normal
incentive opportunities aligned to the policy. Further details

are set out below and in the Annual Report on Remuneration.
The buyout arrangements for incentives which lapsed on her
leaving her former employer were set out fully in last year's
Remureration Report.

Craig Lovelace resigned and stood down as CFO on 28 June
2020. His remuneration for FY21 is disclesed in this Annual Report
on Remuneration and comprised salary, benefits and pension to
28 June 2020 with no annual bonus payment and ail outstanding
incentive awards lapsing. He received no compensation for loss
of office.

Matt Davies stepped down from the Board on 31 March 2021
and has been succeeded by Ron McMillan. The Chair fee is
unchanged on appointment at £255,000.
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There were no increases to base salaries, cur CEQ remained

on his FY20 salary and our new CFQ's base salary was set
on appointment.
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The market turmoil at the start of the financial year was
unprecedented as the UK entered its first national lockdown.
Recognising the immediate imperative to conserve cash, as

part of wider cost saving measures the Directors immediately
voluntarily waived 20% of their base pay and this reduction lasted
for the three months of the full lockdown*.

The market uncertainty made it very difficult for the Committee
to set the annual bonus performance targets and so the
Committee determined that the target setting should be delayed
until the half year. |n light of the delay, the shorter performance
period and the recognition that total potentiai remuneration
should reduce in FY21, the maximum annual bonus opportunity
was scaled back by half, to 75% and 62.5% of satary for the CEO
and CFO, respectively. The Committee selected performance
metrics that would drive and reward short-term performance

and achievement of our strategy while building towards longer-
rerm sustainable growth. Taking inte account the impact of

the Covid-19 pandemic on the business, our immediate short-
term priorities to preserve our cash position while maintaining
underlying profitability and to take advantage of the opportunity
10 grow our customer base, the bonus was based 75% on EBITDA
targets and 25% on Net Promoter Score ("NPS").

As the year progressed the Executive Directors, supported by
the senior management team and wider Group employees made
great strides in every area of the business to deliver against our
business strategy, including the repositioning of the business for
the post-Covid-19 operating environment, successful refinancing
and listing on AIM. As the Chair has set out on pd the result of
their efforts is a much more robust business, with a strong cash
position, a good level of underlying profitability and customer
satisfaction and we are well positioned now to drive the business
forwards. As a result of the performance delivered the targets
for the annual bonus have been met at close to maximum. The
Committee is clear that the performance achieved has been key
in laying the foundations for longer-term sustainable growth as
we ook to now accelerate our business growth.

Notwithstanding the considerable achievements of the
management team, the bonus available for the year has been
reduced to 50% of the usual maximum. The outcome by
reference to the stretching performance targets resulted in a
bonus level equivalent to 44% of the normal bonus maximum
and 88% of the scaled back maximum. This provides a bonus of
66% of salary (£280,500) for the CEQ and 55% of salary £128,741
for the CFQ, noting the CFO's bonus is pro-rated from the

date of her appointment. 40% of this amount is deliverable in
deferred shares.

Each year the Commitiee considers carefully whether the
formulaic outcome of the bonus is appropriate in light of broader
factors and this year there are additional factors relating to the
Covid-19 pandemic and the re-financing of the business, to be
factored into cur assessment. These are discussed in turn below.

We have considered the appropriateness of bonus payments in

a year where the Company has received Government assistance
under the Coronavirus Job Retention Schermne ("CJRS”) amounting
to £3.8m 1o support the furlough of some of our workforee.

This support protected over 500 jobs that would otherwise

have been at risk of redundancy and has not had a beneficial
impact on the profit element of the performance condition as,
importantly, the EBITDA target range took this into account,
These colieagues have now returned to work and are a critical part
of our growth story. The limited draw-down we made under the
CLBILS loan scheme has since been repaid and the colleagues

we have regretfully lost though redundancies were as part of our
restructuring, not as a direct consequence of the pandemic.

We believe in appropriate and fair reward. All eligible colleagues
will receive an annual bonus for FY21 based on the same metrics
as the Executive Directors, acknowledging their exceptionat
contribution during the year. Whilst senior staff had their bonus
opportunity reduced by 50%, the reduction was limited to 25%
for more junior employees, to ensure that senior executives
shouldered mare of the burden. We strongly believe that paying
a bonus to all of our colleagues, with the scale back weighted

to the benefit of less senior employees is appropriste for the
performance delivered over the year.

We have also considered the appropriateness of bonus payments
by reference to the experience of our shareholders in a year
where the dividend has been cancelled and we have raised
capital as part of our refinancing. This has been recognised
through the scale back of bonus opportunity and the reduction
of the 2020 Long Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP") awards (and
mareover the 2018 LTIP award measured over the three yearsto
FY21 will not vest). The bonus will be paid 60% in cash and 40%

in shares with a three-year holding period and, along with the
shares atready held, ensures the Executive Directors continue to
be aligned to long-term performance and shareholders’ interests.
In relation to the dividend we believe that this value has been
retained in the share price and retaining cash has enabled us to
accelerate our investment and growth plans. The capital raise was
not an emergency fundraise caused by the impact of Covid-19

on the business, but part of the strategic recapitalising and
restructuring of the business that has, with other management
actions, ensured we are now well positioned financially, also
making us better able to accelerate our growth plans.
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We set stretching EBITDA and NPS targets at the half year

with the EBITDA targets at the top of the market range, and
performance over the second half of the year was excellent.

We believe that the annual bonus was an important motivational
factor in the delivery of such strong performance and helped
deliver the best possible outcome for shareholders, it is vital that
employees are confident in the integrity of the annual bonus plan
and that if challenging performance conditions are set, and then
achieved, the resultant bonus should be payable other than in
genuinely exceptional circumstances.

As a result of our restructuring and reflecting our much stronger
financial position, the Committee has noted that N Brown's
share price at ¢.70p is higher than it was a year ago before the
pandemic impacted trading, showing a robust resilience to the
crisis and confidence in management’s actions and the future
prospects of the business.

No bonuses were paid for FY20 and incentive payment levels
have been low for a number of years. As noted above, the

2018 LTIP will not vest and it is very unlikely that there will be
vesting of the 2019 LTIF. This is understandable given historic
business perfarmance and the Committee will continue to
ensure strong alignment between pay and performance and
restraint in pay at all times. However, incentivising and rewarding
proven performance of the new Executive Directors and their
management team {most of whom are also new to the business)
is vital. The Board believes that it has the right business strategy
and right people to deliver that strategy and that incentives
must be aligned to drive and reward outcomes that benefit

our shareholders,

in conclusion, the Executive Directors and employees must be
commended for delivering a financial performance well ahead of
expectations whilst repositioning the business in a very difficult
year o lay the foundations to accelerate future growth, On this
basis, and having consulted with shareholders, the Committee has
determined that payment of the reduced bonus, partly in deferred
shares, is appropriate to recognise and reward this performance.

EOPEETERM INCENTIVE

The earnings per share ("EPS"), free cash flow and revenue
threshold targets for the 2018 LTIP awards, which were measured
over the performance period ending in FY21, have not been met
and these awards have lapsed.

The grant of LTIP awards and target setting in F¥21 was also
defayed in light of the pandemic. As explained in my Annual
Statement last year the Committee agreed, given the business
and economic volatility and difficulty in forecasting and setting
long-term earnings per share targets, exceptionally that the
2020 LTIP awards should not include an earnings per share
performance measure but instead be determined as to 50%

on refative total shareholder return ("TSR”) and the other 50%
Net Cash Generation. The Committee determined a scale back
of the LTIP of 15% taking into account the overall approach to
incentives for FY21 including the scale back of the annual bonus.
The Committee has, under the policy, the discretion to scale back
the vesting outcomne if it has concerns that the level of vesting

HOW THE POLICY WILL BE APPLIED
INFY22

The salaries of our CEQ and CFO will be £431,375 and
£355,250 respectively.

Annuat bonus maximum opportunity will revert to normal levels
at 150% of salary for the CEO and 125% of salary for the CFO.

Cur focus for the year ahead is profitability and customer growth
with 65% of the annual bonus based on EBITDA, 15% on Active
Customer Accounts and 10% Customer NPS. The remaining
10% of the bonus will be based on cur ESG agenda which is an
important part of our strategy.

Subject to a review of the prevailing share price at the time
awards are granted, LTIP award levels will alsc revert to normal
levels, for our CEQ 150% of salary and our CFO 125% of salary.

We will retain the relative TSR performance measure for
50% of the award with the other 50% based on earnings per
share growth reflecting our focus on the future profitability
of the business. The targets are set out in the Annual Report
on Remuneration.

POLICY REVIEW

Our 2022 AGM will be the third anniversary of shareholder
approval of our current Directors’ remuneration policy. During the
course of 2021 the Cornmittee will carry out a thorough review of
the policy and will bring a new policy to shareholders for approval
at our 2022 AGM.

SHAREHOLDER EMGAGERMENT

I have engaged in recent months with several of aur larger
shareholders in respect of the application of policy in fight
of Covid-19 and look forward to further engagement with
shareholders as we review our policy during the year.
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The Committee is satisfied that with the appropriate exercise of
discretion to reduce the maximum annual bonus opportunity

for the year and scale back LTIP award levels, there is a fair and
appropriate level of reward for the Executive Directors for FY21,
taking into account wider stakeholder considerations but also the
resilience and performance of the Executive Directorsin such a
chaltenging year. The Committee is further comfortable that the
policy operated as intended, with the appropriate exercise of
discretion and that no change is required to the policy.

| very much hope that you will suppert the shareholder resolution
on the Annua! Report on Remuneration at our ferthcoming
Annual General Meeting on 6 July 2021. In the meantime,

shouid you have any questions, | am contactable via the
Company Secretary.

G\ By

Gill Barr
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

This report sets out the information required by Schedule 5 and
Schedute 8 to the Large and Medium-sized Companies and
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008, as amended.
The report also satisfies the relevant reguirements of the
Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority and describes
how the Board has applied the principles and complied with
the provisions relating to Directors’ remuneration in the UK
Corporate Governance Code.

The full Directors’ Remuneration Policy 1s shown on the following
pages. It was approved by shareholders at the 2019 AGM and is
effective for three years from that date. Despite the move from
the Premium Segment of the London Stock Exchange to an

AlM Listing, we will continue to operate the policy on the terms
approved by shareholders.

The Company's policy ensures that the remuneration package

is linked to the Company’s annual and long-term strategy

and that it is capable of attracting, motivating and retaining
Executive Directors. The policy aims to provide Executive
Directors with competitive remuneration packages which are
prudently constructed, reward achievernent of long-term growth,
profitability and sustainability of the business and which do not
encourage excessive risk taking.

In particular, the Committee strives to ensure that remuneration
packages are:

Aligned with the Group's strategic plan

Aligned with the shareholders’ interests and the longer-term
growth, performance and sustainability of the business

Measured against stretching targets, both in absolute and
relative terms

Competitive and sufficiently flexible to support the recruitment
needs of the business

Paid in a combination of cash and shares

Linked to performance measured over annual and three-year
performance periods
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Reflects the perfarmance
of the Company and

the indiadual, their skills
and experience, and the
responsibilities of the role.

Provides an appropriate level
of basic fixed income.

Drives and rewards annual
delivery of financial,
corporate and individual
strategic goals.

Arnual performance targets
are aligned to the annual
and longer-term financial
and strategic KPls of the
Company and aimed at
ncreasing shareholder value,
whitst being prudent and
safeguarding the future of
the Company

The holding period

pravides alignmant with
sharaholders and the longer-
term performance of the
Company.

SAARPONENTS

Reviewed annually, taking account of
Group performance and individual
performance as well as changes to
the market value of the Company.

Set with reference to the levels of
base salary for similar positions
with comparabie responsibility and
skills in competitor organisations of
cormparable size and complexity,

in particular thuse in the home
shopping and retail market sectors.

When reviewing salary increases
the Committec takes into account
the impact of any increase to base
salaries on the total remuneration
pac<age.

Any changes normally take effect
from 1 June.

The annual benus is based on the
Group's performance as set and
assessed by the Committee on an
annual basis.

Bonuses will be paid 60% in cash and
40% in shares, which must be hald
for a turther three years (including

in normal circumstances post
cessation).

The payment of any earned bonus
remains ultimately at the discration of
the Committes.

Salary increases will normally be in
line with increases awarded to other
employees of the Group.

More significant increases may e
awarded at the discretion of the
Committee, for cxample: where
there is a change in resporsibiiities or
scope of the role; to reflect individual
development and performance in
the role (e.q, for recent hires); orin
exceplional circumstances.

Chiet Executiver up to 150% of base
salary p.a.

Other Executive Directors: up to
120% ot base salary paa.

OF BEXECUTIVE DIRECTORS REMUNERATION

None, although overalt individual
and Company performance is a
factor considered when setting and
reviewing salarias

A significant majority of the annual
bonus will normally be determined
by reference to performance against
tinancal measurss,

Additionally, corporate and
individual strategic performance
abjectives may be sot. Individual and
corporate strategic objectives will
be measurable and based on the
Group's longer-term strategic plan.

Payment rises from 0% ta 100% of the
maximum cpportunity for levels of
performance between threshold and
maximum, with 50% of the maximum
normally payable for on-target
performance.

The Committee has the discretion
to adjust bonus payments (including
reducing to zero} f it considers

that the formu'aic outcorme is

not reflective, forinstance, of the
underiying performance of tne
Company or investor experience or
wider Group employee reward
Recavery of payments may occur in
the event of a material misstatcment
of the Group's financial results, error
in calculation of performance or
payment, ndividual misconduct,
reputational damage, failure of risk
management and Company faiture.
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Frovides incentives to
reward sustained long-term
performance and success
through the achievement

of challenging fong-term
porformance targets,
thereby aligning the
interests of sharsholders and
Exacutives.

A g o g

ALb BEMPLOYDE &
Provides all employees,
including Executives, with a
mechanism to acguire shares
in the Group and to together
narticipale in the success of
the Group.

. B
RO

Provides retirement benefits.

P L2 F
Pgmbe b

Provides a competitive
package of benetits that
assists with recruitment and
retention and suppaorts the
well-being of the Executives
o enable them to carry out
thair role effectively

TIVE PLARN "LT18”

3

A SUMENLC

Annual grants of performance shares
which vest, subject to the Group's
performance, measured over Lthree
years.

Participation and all awards are
subject to the discretions giver to the
Committee in the plan rules.
Exacutives may also receive dividend
equivalents on vested shares

which will, except in exceptional
circumstances, be paid in shares.
Shares acguired from LTIP awards
must be held for a total period

of five years from the date of

grant. This comprises the three-

year performance period and a
turther 2 years (including in normal
circumstances post-cassation) before
they can be disposed of subject to
sales to meet taxes payable).

L

CSAYED)

The Group operates an HM Revenue
& Customs approved savings-related
share option scheme for Group
employees.

The Company operates a defined
cortribution plan and may also pay a
cash supplement in lieu,

Main benefits currently include but
are not limited to private medical
insurance and a car allowance.

Executive Directors are eligible for
other benefits which are introduced
for the wider workforce on broadly
similar terms.

Any reasonable business-refated
expenses including tax (grossed
upj thercon) can be reimbursed f
aetermined to be ataxable benefit.

Normal maximum of 150% of salary.

Exceptional circumstances maximum
ot 200% of salary

The plan is subject to statutory
individual limits as amended from
time-to-time or such lowear hmits as
set by the Group.

8% of salary.

Car and fuel allowance up to £20,000
per annum.

Other benefits will be in line with the
market. The value of each benefit s
based on the cost to the Company
and is not predetermined.

The Committee may select
performance measures and
weightings for awards from year
to year that support the Group's
business strateqgy.

Asliding scale of targets is set by the
Committee prior to each grant with
25% of an award vesting for threshold
performance.

The Committee has the discretion to
adjust awards (including reducing to
cero) if it considers that the formulaic
vesting cutcome is not retlective

of, for instance, the underlying
performance of the Campany or
invastor axperience.

Recovery of payments may occur in
the event of a material misstaternent
of the Group's financial results, error
in calculation of performance or
payment, individual misconduct,
reputaticnal damage, faiture of risk
management and Company tailure.

These are broad based all-employee
plans and are not subject Lo
performance targets.

IN/A

N/A
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FAENT OF DIRECTORS PAY WITH
R OWORKFORCE PAY POLICIES

The remuneration policy for the Executive Directors is aligned
with the policy for employees across the Group as a whole.
Nearly all of our employees are eligible for a bonus which, as with
the Executive Directors, is fully aligned with Group financial and
corporate objectives. The corporate objectives are tailored to
the rale of the individual, 5o they have clear line of sight between
their individual contribution, the results of the business and

their reward.

Longer-term share-based incentives are provided to our
Executive Directors and more senior managers through the same
long-term incentive plan with vesting determined by the same
Group targets. There are differences in guantum and whether
participation is offered.

All employees are able to share in the longer-term performance
of the business through our SAYE scheme.

The majority of our employees including our CEQ and

CFO receive the same 8% of salary retirement allowance.

The exception to this was the outgoing CFO whose retirement
allowance was 10% of salary.

The Committee has taken into consideration the pay and
employment conditions of all employees when determining

the policy. The Committee did not consult with employees
specifically regarding the Directors’ Remuneration Policy but
does consult regarding Group-wide reward and remuneration
pclicies and practices at the Group's employee forum.

The Annual Report on Remuneration sets out what engagement
has taken place this year with stakeholders generally in relation
to remuneration and to explain the alignment of the Directors’
Remuneration Policy with the wider business.

As part of the Comrmittee’s broader remit under the UK
Corporate Governance Cade, the Cammittee reviews and
provides input and challenge in respect of the Group's wider
remuneration policies with the objective of ensuring an
appropriate cascade of policy for Executive Directors to the rest
of the workforce.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
MSCRETION

The Committee operates the Group's variable incentive plans
according to their respective rules and in accordance with HMRC
rules where relevant. To ensure the efficient administration

of these plans and to be consistent with market practice, the
Committee has certain operational discretions as set outin the
plan rules. These include:

Determining the extent of vesting based on the assessment
of performance.

Making the appropriate adjustments reguired in certain
circumstances (e.g. change of control, rights issues, corporata
restructuring events, and special dividends).

Determining "good leaver” status for incentive plan purposes
and applying the appropriate treatment.

Undertaking the annual review of weighting of performance
measures and setting targets for the annual benus plan and LTIP
from year to year.

If an event occurs which results in the Annual Bonus Plan or

LTIP performance conditions and/or targets being deemed no
longer appropriate (e.g. a material acquisition or divestrment),

the Committee may adjust appropriately the measures and/ or
targets and alter weightings, provided that the revised conditions
or targets are not materially less difficult to satisfy,

Any use of the above discretion would, where relevant, be
explained in the Annual Report on Remuneration and may, as
appropriate, be the subject of consultation with the Company's
major shareholders.

AMENDMENTS TO POLICY

The Committee may amend this shareholder-approved policy

to take account of changes to legislation, taxation and cther
supplemental and administrative matters without the necessity to
seek shareholder approval for those changas.

LEGACY ARRANGEMENTS

tn approving the remuneration policy, authority is given to the
Company to honour any commitments previously entered into
with the current or former Directors under a previously approved
Directors’ Remuneration Policy. ft is also part of this policy that
the Company will honour payments or awards crystallising after
the effective date of this policy but arising frorn commitments
entered into at a time when the relevant individual was nct a
Director of the Company. Details of any payments to former
Directors will be set out in the Annuat Report on Remuneration.
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Varizble pay and remuneration is linked to both corporate and
individual performance with measures clearly aligned to business
strategy and KPIs of the business. The Committee reviews the
measures to be used for the annual bonus and LTiP each year to
ensure they remain appropriate before awards are granted.

Targets for the Executive Directors” annual bonuses are set by the
Committee at the beginning of each financial year and for LTIP
awards prior to awards being made. In setting stretching targets
the Committee takes into consideration current and prospective
market conditions, the economic outlook, market expectations,
the business plans and long-term strategy of the Company.

The targets are linkad to KPls which are drawn from, and relate
to, the achievement of "milestones” contained in the Company’s
strategic long-term plan. This ensures they are aligned to the
strategic objectives of the Company and designed tc increase
sharehalder value, whilst being prudent and safeguarding the
long-term future of the Company.

The Committee also considers the Group's performance and
forward planning on Environmental, Social and Governance
{"ESG") matters when selecting performance measures and
setting targets. This ensures that the incentive arrangements for
senior managers taka account of ESG matters so as to mitigate
any inadvertent irrespoensible behaviour including the taking of
undue risks with the business.

CHAREHOLDING RECLIRFMENT

Executive Directors are required to build and retain a minimum
shareholding in the Company of 200% of salary through the
retention of shares acquired from annual bonuses and the vesting
of LTIP awards. Post-cessation of employment, the requirement

is to hold shares equal in value to 100% of salary for two years
post cessation.

Subject to Board approval, Executive Directors may accept one
external Non-Fxecutive Director position and retain the fees
payable for such appointments.

F‘w’"" ‘;wi"-fﬁk it iﬂf

The Committee considers shareholder feedback received
regarding the Directors’ Remuneration Report and guidance
from shareholder representative bodies more generally.

As appropriate, the Committee also seeks feedback from
shareholders on specific matters. These views are key inputs
when shaping remuneration policy and operation of that policy
from year to year.

In developing the remuneration policy, the Committee consulted
with its largest shareholders and representative bodies such as
the Investment Association, 1S5 and Glass Lewis.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS SERVICE
AGREEMENT AND FPOLICY ON
FTERMUMATION OF EMPLOYMENT

Executive Directors have contracts with an indefinite term
providing for a maximum of 12 months’ notice.

The Company does not make payments beyond its contractual
obligaticns on termination. In addition, Executive Directors

are expected to mitigate their loss or, within existing
contractual constraints, accept phased payments for any
contractual payments.

The Committee will ensure that there are no payments for failure.,
No Executive Director contracts provide for liguidated damages.
There are no special provisions contained in the Executive
Directors’ contracts that provide for longer periods of notice or
additional remuneration on a change of control of the Company.
Furthermore, there are no special provisions providing for
additional compensation on an Executive Director’s cessation of
employment with the Company.

The Company may negotiate settlement terms including to deal
with a potential legal claim that the Committee considers to be in
the best interests of the Company and to enter into a settlement
agreement to affect the terms agreed under the service contract
and any additional statutory or other claims. The Committee
may pay reasonable outplacement and legal fees where
considered appropriate.

Other than in certain “good leaver” circumstances, (including,
but not limited to, redundancy, ill-health or retirement or on a
change of control), no bonus is payable unless the individual
remains employed and is not under notice at the payment date.
Any bonuses paid to a "good leaver” would be based on an
assessment of their individuat and the Company’s performance
over the period, and normally pro-rated for the proportion of the
borus year worked.
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Deferred benus share awards will normally lapse on cessation of
employment, unless the Executive Director is deemed to be a
"good leaver” by the Committee in which case they will vest in
full at the usual time or exceptionally on the date of cessation.
Awards wilt vest early in full on a change of control subject to the
plan rules, Annual bonus shares subject to a holding pertod must
normally be retained for the remainder of the holding period
post-employment.

The LTIP rules provide that other than in certain "good leaver”
circumstances, awards lapse on cessation of employment.
Where an individual is a "good leaver”, the Committee’s

policy is for awards to continue untit the end of the original
performance period and to vest to the extent targets are met,
with a pro-rata reduction to take account of the proportion of the
vesting pericd that elapsed prior to termination of employment,
although the Committee has discretion to partly or completely
dis-apply pro-rating in exceptional circumstances. On a change
of control awards would vest, subject to the extent to which

the performance conditions have been achieved and, normally,
pro-rating for time. The Committee has discretion to determine
“good leaver” treatment. In doing so, it will take account of the
reason for their departure and the performance of the individual.

Apart from service contracts, no Executive Director has
any material interest in any contract with the Company or
its subsidiaries.

Copies of Executive Directors’ service contracts (and also Non-
Executive Directors’ letters of appointment) are available for
inspection at the Company’s registered office on application to
the Company Secretary.
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9% February 2019 12 menths’ Qafary

and benefits

Steve Johnson

Rachel tzzard & April 2020 12 months’ salary

and benefits

RECRINTMENT OF EXECUTIVE DIHECTORS
Base salary levels will be set in accordance with the Company's
remuneration policy, taking account of the Executive's skills,
experiance, current remuneration package and securing the best
candidate for the role. Where it is appropriate to offer a lower
salary initially, a series of above inflation increases to the desired
salary positioning may be given over subsequent years subject to
individual and Company performance.

Benefits and pension will be provided in accordance with the
approved palicy. Assistance with relocation may e provided
where appropriate. Tax equalisation and an expatriate allowance
may alsc be considered, as may payment of the Executive's legal
fees in connection with the appointment.

The variable pay opportunity will be in accordance with the
Company's approved policy as detailed above. However,
different performance measures and targets may be set for the
first year in the case of the annual bonus and long-term incentives
taking into account the responsibilities of the individual and the
point in the financial year at which they joined. A new employee
may be granted a normal annual share award in the first year of
employment in addition to any awards made with respect to prior
employment being forfeited.

if it is necessary to buy out incentive pay, which would be
forfeited by reason of leaving the previous employer, in order

to secure the appointment, this would be provided taking into
account and replicating as far as possible the form {cash or
shares), delivery mechanism, performance measures, timing

and expected value (i.e. likelihood of meeting any existing
performance criteria} of the remuneration being forfeited and
sucliother spedific inallers as e Cunurnillee cunsiders ielevantl.
Existing arrangements may be bought out on terms that, in

the Committee’s judgement, are no more favourable than the
remuneration being forfeited. Existing plans will be used to

the extent possible (subject to the exceptional limits contained
in the plan rules), however, the Committee retains discretion

to agree baspoke arrangements and, if required, to make use

of the flexibility provided by the Listing Rules to make awards
without prior shareholder approval when buying out existing
entitlerments. Other benefits or remuneration may also need to
be "bought out” and the Committes will use its judgement as to
the most appropriate way to structure this.

The service contract for a new appointment would be in
accordance with the policy for the current Executive Directors.

In the case of an internal hire, any outstanding variable pay
awarded in relation to the previous role will be allowed to pay out
according to its terms of grant.

The chart overleaf sets out three scenarios for Executive
Directors’ remuneration for FY22.
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2,500
2,104

2,000

1.780 1,523
1,500

1,301
1,000
36%
34%
500 413
Below target Target Maximum Below target Target Maxirmum )
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

# Fixed Pay Annual Bonus & LTIP LTIP with 50% share price growth

Fixed pay = salary on first day of financial year, benefits and pension.
Target = fixed pay plus target annual bonus and target LTIP, both at 50% of the maximum.

Maximum = fixed pay plus maximum annual bonus and full vesting of LTIP, including an additional scenario showing the value total
remuneration assuming a 50% increase to the share price.

o REES

Fooraom aadnehte slat gy - . e
TORT AND CHalR s FEES

To attract and retain high- The Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration is determined by the Board within the

calibre Non-Executives and limits sel by the Articles of Association.
ensure they are appropriately
paid for thair skills and
experience, responsibilitics and
time commitment of

their role.

The Chair s paid a single fee for ali his responsibiiities.
The Non-Executives are paid a basic Board membership fee. The Chairs of

Cornmittees, Senior Independent Director and Non-Executives with other specitic
additional roles receive additional fees to reflact their extra responsibilities.

Non-Executive Directors may not participate in any of the Company’s share incentive )
schemes or performance-based plans and are not eligible to join the Company’s -
pension scheme or receive payments in lieu.

Any raasonable busnass-related expenses {including tax thereon (grossed up) where
an expense 1s reated as a taxable benefit can be reimbursed and limited benefits
retating Lo travel, accommodation, secretarial support and hospitality provided in
refation ta the performance of the Non-Exacutive Directors’ duties.

When setting and reviewing fee levels, account is taken of the experience and skills
required for and responsibilities of the role, fee levels in comparabie companies,
Board Committee responsibilities, ongoing time commitments, the general econormic
ervironment and the level of increases awarded to the wider workforee.

In exceptional circumstances, additional fees may be paid where there is a substantia!
increase in the time commitment required of Non-Executive Directors

it there is a ternporary yet matenial increase in the time commitment required of
Non-Executive Directors, the Board may pay additional fees on a pro-rata basis tc
recognise the additional workload
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REMUNERATION CONTINUED

AMNMUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION

SCMCEXECUTIVE DIRECTORS LETTERD OF APPOINTMENT
Non-Executive Directors are retained on letters of appaintment. All letters of appointment provide for six manths' notice in the
event of early termination. All Non-Executive appeintments are on threa-year rolling terms terminable upon three to six months’
notice. All appointments are subject to successful re-election upon retirement at the Annual General Meeting. Fees are payable
to the date of termination, but termination carries no right to compensation other than that provided by general law. All Non-
Exccutive Directors signed new letters of appointment, effective upon the Company's re-listing on the Alternative Investment
Market in December 2020; this did not impact the progression of their current three-year roliing terms. Brief details of Non-
Executive Directors’ letters of appointment are summarised below:

- sy e P dpeme ot

Rén MeMillan - C 1 March 2013 9 March 2021 T 31 March 2021 -:S-months

Lord Alliance of Manchester CBE 16 May 2007 20 October 2020 10 Aprit 2039 6 months
Gilt Barr & December 2017 26 October 2020 16 January 2021 & months
Richard Maoross 13 September 216 29 Octaber 2020 6 October 2019 3 months
Michael Ross 8 December 2019 27 October 2020 16 January 2021 3 months
Vicky Mitchell 24 January 2020 28 Octaober 2020 28 January 2020 Imonths
Joshua Alliance 5 Novermnber 2020 5 November 2020 23 Decermnber 2020 & months

The Annual Report on Remuneration will be put te an advisory shareholder vote at the 2021 Annual General Meeting. The information
on p86 to 89 has been audited.

EARECTORS REMUNERATION PAYABLE FOR FY29 [AUDITED

Exécutive Directors
Steve Johnson

2019/20 425 20 34 0 o] 479 - 479
Rachel lzzard’ P L i I - R o T

2019/20 - - - - - - - -
Craig Lovelace! fo - -

2019/20 361 17 36 0 o 414 - 414
Non-Executive (fees}
Matt Davies R R |

2019/20 255 0 - - - 255 - 255
Lord Alliance of P N E
Manchester CBE” 2019/20 0 0 - - - 0 - 0
Ron McMillan ERPREYE : ! . o

2019/20 73 <] - - - 79 - 79
Losley Joncs o o . - £ -

201920 ) &7 3 - - - 70 - G
Richard Moross - ‘ - g B

2019720 58 E - - - &7 - &/
Gill Barr 0 : o - o

201%/20 64 5 - - - &Y - £
Michae! Ross L . = s

2019/20 40 3 - - - 63 - 63
Vicky Mitchell EE M - . i

2009120 5 0 - - - 5 - 5
Joshua Alliance’ o ’ - B

2019/20 - - — - _ _ _ _

Tarable censfits compriss orvete madical ~over and ca elloviance “or Nor-Exeoutive D ractors taxatz | barefits compres travel sra ac smradanin,

- Pernsicrog pad as a cash supplement

- Rachellzzard's remunerat.on s for har rale as Exacutve Drector enly and nct far tha parnio2 prior to being appomted a D rector Sne was agcoirtec ok 2
Boord on 29 June 2020 after joming the Company as CFO Desigrate on 6 April 2020 Her taxatle berefits nelute a relosation fae

© Crag Lovelace stepped down from the Bosrd on 28 June 2020

> Lord Alliance has waived hiz Non-Executive Director's fee of £51,000 n FY20 and FY21

 eehoa Alllance wse acmnintad fathe Revard fn 22 Diae ombae e 7000
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The table below sets out pertormance against targets for the Executive Lirectors’ annual bonus for FY21. 60% of the bonus is paid in cash and
A0% is paid In shares with a three-year holding period. The annual bonus is also subject to clawback until the end of the holding period.

The normal maximum annual bonus opportunity for the Executive Directors was scaled back by 50% at the time the targets were set.

As set out in the Annual Statement of the Committee Chair, the Committee has carefully considered the formulaic bonus outcome which has
already been subject to a 50% scaleback and determined, for the reasons set cut and having consulted with shareholders, that no further
adjustment to the cutcome should be made.

: . - o ) . IS EITEE P N Vo L N
EBITDA - 5%, £79.7m £41.3m 82 8m £84 4m £859m 865 5%
Customer NPS 25% 62 6275 635 64.25 a5 636 13%
Steve Johnson 75% £425,000 B88% £280,500
Rachel frrard o 62.5% £238111 88% 1128761

Rached l72aed's Borus s pro-rated tor her role as Exacutive Direstor only and not for the per’od oror to beirg apponted a Directorn. She was eppointa to the
Board on 29 June 2020 atter joining the Company as CFO Designate on & April 2020,

CTIP AWARDS WITH PERFORMANCE PERIOD ENDING 1N FYDT AUDITED
Fii i s «f E P L ¥

The L TIP awards granted on 22 August 2018 are subject to EFS, Free Cash Flow and Revenue performance targets measured
over the performance pericd ending 27 February 2021, Performance against targets is set out below:

N

EPS growth 0% Zyreending FY21  Atleast 3% CAGR T AtlemtgnCAGR % D%ourots0%
FCF 30% 3yrs ending FY27 At least £350m Atleast £420m £283m 0% cut of 30%
Revenue 20% 3yrs ending FY21 At least 3% CAGR At least 5% CAGR -8% 0% out of 20%

Total vesting
straight-lae vastimg fetveena tnresheld o max mum performance.

Set out below are the details of the LTIP awards held by Executive Directors and the vesting resulting from the performance
detailed above.

i e BERCIS TN

Steve Johnson' 100% Triens 140 12625 o% w0 £0

Stove Johnuor’s 2008 LTIP sward was ararted orior ta b beirg appontcd 3¢ CEC
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REMUNERATION CONTINUED

ANMNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION 7 i s

Ce LR CFRO BUYDUT AWARD

The CFO was granted two 2020 LTIP Buyout awards to compensate for LTIP awards forfeited on leaving her previous employer,
Aer Lingus. These awards are granted over N Brown shares and subject to the original Aer Lingus performance targets.

The performance period for one of the awards ended on 31 December 2020. As a result of the pandemic, all three measures
(relative TSR, EPS, and Return on Invested Capital ("RolC") fell short of the threshold level at which payments begin, resulting in

zero vesting overall. Set out below is the award outcome,

Luad Phreabead R I I

TSR performance compared |AG's TSR performance equal to 145 underperformed the
to the TSR performance the index (25% of award vests) index by 20.7 percentp.a.
of the MSCI European

Transportation {large and

mid-cap) index {one-third)

Adjusted earnings por share 2020 EPS of 130 €cents
{EPS) (ene-third) (10% of award vasts)
Return on Invested Capital 2020 RolC of 13 per cent
{RolC) (one-third} (10% of award vests)

(122.6) €cents

(22.4) per cant

DLRE A RL T
oA RS

GRHANTED IN FY21 (AUDITED)

<o

170,998 0% 0 £0

0% 0 £0
0% 0 £0

The table below provides details of the long-term incentive awards granted to Executive Directors during the year. Awards were
scaled back by 15% from normal award lavels for the CEO from 150% of salary to 127.5% and, for the CFO from 125% of salary to
106.25% of salary. The scale back takes into account the overall approach to incentives for FY21 including the scale back of the
annual benus and our newly appointed CFO. The Committee has, under the policy, discretion to scale back the vesting cutcome

if it has concerns that the level of vesting and overall quantum are not appropriate.

LT R O L vh Qs v ) D 3]
Sieve Johnson 06/1172020 50% TS 127.5% £541.875
50% Net Cash
Generation
Rachel l7zard 06/11/2020 As sbove 106.25% £371,875
’ ‘ ) R 1 g
L . i "_‘_:—,"};‘.d_-',:.:-g’"? B R DR R 1
TSR 50% Median rankin Upper quértile rénk\né
Relative TSR compared to
the FTSE SmallCap excluding
Investrment Trusts
Net Cash Generation” 50% £1214m £1914dm or more

Deliverad over FY21,
FY22 and FY23

" Straight-line vasting between threshald and maximum performance.
Far a debninion of Net Cash Generation see glossary on o141

7979,882 755,3 Three years to end of

financial year FY23
672,468 553 As above

Sememeiy fo v coara

To incentivise the achievemnent of
above average stock market returns for
shareholders.

To incentivise management's focus on
strong Businegss performance ond careful
cash management, thus reducing the
business’ net unsecured debt.
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The table below summarises each of the Executive Directors’ long-term share awards and the changes that have taken place in the year.

Steve Johnson' 65,645 - 65,645 - - August20n7 T LTIP
7.3 - 17,316 - - August 2018 DABS
126,225 - - - 126,225 August 2018 LTIP
35410 - - - 35470 June 2019 OSBP
601983 - - - 601,983 September 20N9 LTIP
- 379,882 - - 979,882  November 2020 LTIP
Rachel lzzard? 672,468 - - 672,468  November 2020 LTIP
- 170,998 170998 - MNovember 2020 LTIP buyour award
- 482.6/4 - - 482,674 November 2020 LTIP buyout award
Craig Lovelace* 133,915 - 133915 - - August 2017 LT
12,586 - 12,586 - - July 2017 CSBP
29355 - 29355 - - June 2018 DsepP
238,771 - 238,771 - - August 2018 LTIP
48,834 - 48,836 - - June 2019 DSBP
479,292 - 426292 - - September 2019 LTIP
Deterred annual brinus rataning sharz awards ("DABS" were grantad to Stave Johnson pror to »is appointment as CEO ana a2 part of the below Boara

incantive anargemants where part of the annasl bonus 1s paid to employess in shares (and rot a3 a deferred share award; and there s g shara-matching
slement Vesting 5 gererminec by an sarrings per share performance taget, Awards are no longer bemg mads under the matching share sward plan to any N
Browr emaloyee. The carnirgs por share performance targets for the DABS award granted ts Steve Jonnsonin August 7018 prior to his appointment as CEO

b ave not been met and thi; award hes now lapsed

Tne pe-formance targats for the LTIP swards grontea in August 2018 hava not been met ana thesa awards have lapsad.

Awards were made to Racnel lzzard Lo compansate *or awards torteited upon leaving her former employer, Aer Lingus, part of the IAG Group The Awards ware
made under tha terrns of the LTIP Long-Term Incentive Plan and vall have the same vasting dates and the same performance condiioned as the awards forteited
*More detail on the Iapse of the first award is set outin the section on oB8 entitled Vesting of CFO Buyout Award’

+ All of Craig 1 ovelace's outstanding awards lapsed upon cessalion of employment in accardance with the terms of his emeloyment.

o -,

SMRERO DNGS (ATHNTEL

e
*

itis the Board's policy that Executive Directors build up and retain a minimum shareholding in the Company. Under these guidelines
the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are expected to hold Campany shares equal in value to 200% of their base

salary and must retain at least 75% of the net of tax value of vested LTIP and annual bonus share awards unti this threshold is achieved.
The beneficial interests of Directors who served during the year, together with those of their families are as follows:

LA Chress i 0T nTnate

Steva Johnson 60,240 97160 15.7% No 1,708,090 - 1,840,660
Racheal lzzard” — 57377 - 12% No 1,155,142 - - 1,212,519
Craig Lovelace’ 46,672 - N/A No G - - 0
Matt Davies 31,130 50,154 N/A N/A - - - 50,154
Lord Alliance of Q4,643 P4 184,194,762 N/A NrA - - - 184,196,762
Manchester CBE

Ron McMillan 50,000 80,555 N/A N/A - - — 80,555
Lesiey dones - - N/A N/A - - - a
Richard Meoross - - N/A N/A - - - 0
Gilt Barr 8,506 13,704 N/A N/A - - - 73,104
Michael Ross - - N/A IN/A, - - - 0
Vicky Mitchel - - N/A N/A ) - - - 0
Joshua Alliance - 21,213,800 N/A N/A - - - 21,713,800

the figures lor the Lxecutive Drectors nclude the nurrbesr of beneficrally owned shares obtained via direct curchase, acquisitions undear the Comguany’s open
orter as axcouted 2n 23 December 2020 and detarred borus shares.

The vilue af sharehold rg as a % of salary is caleulated using the market clos.ng price of 68.5p on 26 Febrruary 2027,

Racnel lgzard joired *he Board o0 29 June 2020,

© Cramg Lovelace steppzd down rom the Roard on 28 June 2020 ard the table states mis pasition at that tme and not 27 Febrary 2021,

The Directors’ share interests shown above include shares held by members of the Directors’ families, as required by the Companies
Amre MWL Tl v e b m s ke e TN b m e Tt e T b e b e D7 Crbvi imen s VY mn Al 1O R AA N
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REMUNERATION CONTINUED

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION C 001

FOIEER SHAREHOLINNGS

The araph shows the Company’s ten-year performance, measured by TSR, compared to the performance of the FTSE Small Cap,
FTSE 250 and AIM 100 indices, also measured by TSR. The Company has been a member of these indices during the ten-year period
and they are therefore considered appropriate as comparator groups for this purpose.

L SHAREMOULDER RETURN PERFORMANCE: N BROWN VS FTSE 250,

TaTa
FTEE SMALLUAP & AlIM 100
350
300
250
200
150
100
50 ) e
# N Brown Group plc FTSE 250 Index MR FTSE SmallCap Index W8 FTSE AM 100 T e
a
Feb 11 Febk 12 Feb 13 Feb 14 Feb 15 Feb 16 Feb 17 Feb18 Feb 19 Feb 20 Feb 21

AIALYRIS D RRES PRECUTIVES PAY OVER TEN YEARS

o o FY12  FY13  FY¥4  FYM4  FY15  Fvi6  FY17  FY18 Fr1e  FY1$ Fyao” Fv21
Total rernuneration {(£°000} 2,734 1,780 2,734 1,364 728 783 1,373 1,208 555 266 479 737
Arnual bonus (% of max) 38/%  T14% 0 158% 83.2% Q0% 279% 429% 667 %  344% 38.5% 0% 8%
Long-term share vesting (% 100% 100% 85% N/A N/A 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
of max)

The sne-off recrutment award grantad to Argels Spindlerin 2013 and which vested iIn FY16 and £Y17 nas boen incudad in the figures {or total reruneration,
bu: net counted as long-term share vasting
The anrual vonus farmulac sutcoame tor FYZ0 was 6.5% of maxmarn although no annual bonos was actustly paid.
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The employee data for the CEQ pay ratic has been compiled using Option A as it represents the most statistically accurate
method for identifying UK employee remuneration. The FY21 pay data has been taken for all individuals on a full-time equivalent
basis using fixed pay data as at 27 February 2021. A review has been carried out to ensure that the individuals at the quartiles are
representative by checking individuals both above and below the quartile points.

The reward policies and practices for our employees are aligned 1o those set for the Executive Directors, including the CEQ,
and on this basis the Committee is satisfied that the median pay ratio is consistent with the pay, reward and progression policies
across all of the N Brown employees.

20421 3614 6.1
2020 _ N A o 221 143
: Shin e Entee T Ee B SR Cefreti T
oyt Yot b
2021 £404_,404 £737.326 £19.000 £20,327 £20, 360 25,333 £36,26 £40,232
2020 £424 934 £478,968 £17,418 £17944 £20,883 £22,537 £30,739 £35417

The increase in the pay ratio year on year is due to the payment of the Annuzal Bonus for FY21, no bonus was paid for FY20. This has
increased the total remuneration for all colieagues, but to a significantly higher degree for the CEO. We have seen an increase in
salaries and total remuneration across the percentiles, this is due to two factors:

1 The proposed payment of the bonus; and

2 The shape of the organisation has changed considerably over the past 12 months with a reduction of 16% in the headcount,
this included the redundancy of ¢.160 of our lowest paid colleagues at Logistics, these factors have caused a shift in the

positioning of the percentiles.

PTAGE THANGE N THE
The table below shows the percentage change in the Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors’ salaries, benefits
{excluding pension} and annual bonus between FY19 and FY20 and between FY20 and FY21, compared to that of the average for
alt employees of the Group.

i . SRS el TG )

Steve Johnson® ' 49% 100% 2% 0% 100%
Rachel lzzard* - - - - - -
Matt Davies” -51% 0% - - - -
Ran McMillan 0% 0% - 15.9% 100% -
Gill Barr 1.6% -80% - 10.3% 5% -
Vicky MitchelV - - = - - -
Michael Ross 3% -100% - 9% 50% -
Richard Moross 0% -27.8% - 16% 200% -
Lesley Jones 1.5% -100% - -5.6% 0% -
Lord David Alliance 0% 0% - % 0% -
of Manchester

Joshua Alliance® - - - - - -
Average of other employees’ 8.1% ) 338% 100% 4.7% 0% -100%

Non-kxarutive Dirsctor faes wers increased afferctiva 1 June 2019 in ine with the 2% salary increase :mplementad across the Company. Feas for Comrmittze Chairs and
‘he Seniar Independent Director ware increased to take account of the increased responsibilites and time commilment of the roles
Naorni-Exacutive Director benefits include ravel and accommodation expenses Exccutive and other ernployee expenses includs private medical cover and car allowance
7 Y2 all membars ot the Board took a valuntary salary reduction of 20% across April, May and June 2020

© Steve Johnson did net receive a bonus in FY20,
Rachelbrza-dwnad the Caompanyin dune 2020, therefore rofull yoar of rerrunseration nas been pad to her across ary of the tnancel years under roviewe,
Matt Davies did rot recevs 3 full year of remunerat on as Chairin F¥19 having being aopomtad in May 2018, hus full year as Cnar was FY20
Voky Mitchell was app amted to the Board in Janaary 2020, therefore FY21 is the anly full year of remunzration paid to her azross any o° the financial years under review
Joshua Allance was acpa nted Lo the Board n Dacember 2020 therclare no tull year of remunsration bas been pa dto bir acress any of the finanoal years under raviaw
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REMUNERATION CONTINUED

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION

PORTANCE OF
‘ v I PAY
The foliowing table shows the Company’s actual spend on pay

{for all employees) relative to dividends, These figures relate to
amounts payable in respect of the relevant financial year.

260 FLRG v Lhanae
Colleague costs (fm) C725m  £673m 56%
Dividends (fm) ”EOm B £20.1m -100%
L3THER DMEE T ORSMIPS

The current CEQ and CFC do not serve as Non-Executive
Directors for any company.

n!&,\’ﬁﬁﬁw?": Tf'} PAST DIRECTORS AND
WHE T LOSL OF OFFRICE

Craig Lovelace resigned and stood down as CFO on 28 June
2020. Craig's remuneration for FY21 is disclosed in this
Rermuneration Report. For the period he was employed by the
Company in FY21, Craig Lovelace received his salary, benefits and
pension in accordance with the terms of his employment. He was
not eligible for an annual bonus for FY21 and did not receive an
LTIP award. All of Craig Lovelace's outstanding LTIP and DSPB
awards lapsed upon cessation of employment.

Matt Davies stepped down as Chair on 31 March 2021 and
received no fees beyond this date or any payments in lieu
of notice.

SHAREHOLDER YOTING ON THE DIRECTORY
‘?EM’@JNE?AT?QN REFPORT AT THE 2020

LIS N o P o MbF & TR
APanNUAL GERERAL MEETING AND 2GLDY

AT THE 2019 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Voting outcome for the 2019 Remuneration Policy vote:

For
%ofvotescast 9960 048
Number of vates cast o 177995,722 706951

Notes 26,023,384 vates were wthheld in 2019 A vate withheld is not o vete
milaw zno s not couated @ the vores for or agarpst 2 resalubion butweuld be
conziderea by tve Committee in the event of 2 significant number of votes
being withheld

Veting outceme for the 2020 Remuneration Repoert vote:

%ofvolescast 9594 .06

Number of votes cast 171,973,863 109,805

MNotes: 11,429 votes wera withhald in 2020 A vote withheld s neta vete in
law and 15 not counted in the votes tar or aganst a resalution but would be
considlered by the Committee inthe event of a sigruficant number of votes
being withheld.

MEMBERS OF THE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Gill Barr (Chain)
Ren McMillan
Richard Meross
Matt Davies

16 January 2018 Presont

1 April 2003 Present

3 January 2017 - Present

1 May 2018 - 31 March 2021

The General Counsel and Company Secretary acts as Secretary
to the Committee and the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer and Chief People Officer may also attend meetings by
invitation. However, no Director takes any part in discussion
about their own remuneration.

The Committee has formal written Terms of Reference which are
available on the Company's corperate website. The Committee
met six times during the year, see p7é for details of attendance.
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The Committee received advice during the year from Korn
Ferry who were appointed through a formal tender process
by the Committee in March 2018. Korn Ferry is a signatery

to the Remuneration Censultants’ Group Coede of Conduct.
Fees amounting to £87,401 were paid to Korn Ferry during the
financial year for their services t¢ the Committee.

The Committee reviews the performance and independence of its
advisors on an annual basis and is satisfied that the advice received
is objective and independent. The advisors’ terms of engagement
are available on request from the Company Secretary.

P-s

nk g
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The Committee reviews workforce pohc ies and practices
and invites members of the management team to attend
Committee meetings to provide input into the Committee’s
considerations. A key part of the Group People Officer’s
role, supported by the Designated Non-Executive Director
for Colleague Engagement, Richard Moross, and the CEQ,
is to engage with the wider workforce and feedback on
remuneration is provided to the Committee and Board.

The Company engages with its workforce throughout the year
via the colleague forum, The Culture Club, (as set out in more
detail on p40). The forum acts as a platform through which
Directors can liaise with colleagues about broader pay policies
and practices and the alignment to the Executive Directors’
Remuneration Policy, as measured against the Group's annual
performance, strataegy and reward agenda.

The Committes Chair engaged with several of our larger
shareholders in respect of the application of policy in light of
Covid-19.

The Cormmittee has also considered investor and proxy agency
voting policy guidelines and market practice developments
carefully in light of the pandemic to ensure the operation of

the policy reflects current investor thinking. Support for the
remuneration policy at the 2019 AGM was 92.60% and for

the Remuneration Report in 2020 92.94% and there were no
material concerns for the Committee to consider from the AGM
voting outcomes.

The Committee considers the appropriateness of the
Executive Directors’ remuneration not only in the context

of overall business performance and Environmental, Social
and Governance matters but also in the context of wider
warkforce pay conditions. It does this by reviewing workforce
pay policies and practices as well as the ratio of CEQ pay to
all-employee pay.

The Committee is comfortable, in reviewing the remuneration
for FY21 against corporate performance, employee reward,
investor return and the external economic, sacietal and
business environment that there has been an appropriate link
between reward and performance and that the policy has
operated as intended.
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REMUNERATION CONTINUED

APPLICATION OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY FOR FYZE

The apphcat;on of the remuneration po!ecy for FY22 is set
out below.

L ; :.... &H A
Effectwe 1 June 2021, the CEC and CFO's salaries increased

by 1.5% in line with the salary increase awarded to the rest of
the workforce.

TR

| £431,775
£355,250

F475,000
£350,000

Steve Johnson
Rachelizzard

FPENSION
Our CEO and CFO both receive cash supplements of 8% of

salary, in lieu of pension contributions and these are aligned to
the majority of the workforce.

BENAL BONLS PLAN

For FY22 the annual bonus maximum opportunity will revert to
normal levels at 150% of salary for the CEO and 125% of salary for
the CFQ. 60% of the bonus will be paid in cash and 40% of the
bonus will be paid in shares with a three-year holding period.

Our focus for the year ahead is a return to profitability and
customer growth with an element based on Environmental,
Social and Governance factors which is an important element of
our business strategy.

The performance measures and weightings are set out below.

L: Tl e RN
Adjusted EBITDA! 5%
Active Customer Accounts 15%
Customer NFS 0%
ESG Metric 10%

cradefiniton of Adjust24 EBITDA see the glossary on plsl

The Committee considers that the targets for the annual bonus
are commercially sensitive and are not therefore disclosed in
this report. The targets and performance against them will be
disclosed retrospectively in the FY22 Remuneration Report.

g I

TERRG INCERNTIVE AV ARDS

Following the 15% scale back of the 2020 awards the | TIP award
levels for 2021 will revert to the normal policy level of 150% of
salary for our CEQ and 125% for our CFO. The Committee is
satisfied that th?s award level is apprOpriate taking into account

over the !ast 12 months.

For the 2021 awards we have retained the TSR performance
measure for 50% of the award and reintroduced earnings per
share for the other 50% with targets as set out below. The LTIP
awards are not made until August each year and targets may
need to be reviewed if there is a significant change in business

[ I U [ U SUN N U S

e Wi ghong vt HVIN LTy

TSR 50% Median Upper To incentivise

Relative TSR to ranking quartle  the

the FTSE SmallCap ranking or  achievement

excl Investment above of above

Trusts average
stock market
returns for
shareholders.

Adiusted EPS 50% 4% CAGR  12% Ta incantivise

Growth from CaGRor  management

FY21to FYZ24 above 1o generate

sustainable
profitable
growth, in
line with the
strategy.

© Straight-hne vesting in between threshold and maximum

FEES FOR THE CHAIR AND
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTUORS

Details of the Non-Executive Directors’ fees are set out below.
From 1 June 2021 the fees increased by 1.5% in line with the
salary increase awarded to the rest of the workforce with the
exception of the Chair.

55000 255,000

Chair ot the Board fee

Other Independent Non-Executive Directors’ 51,006 51,765
base Board fee

Non-Executive Director base Board fee 51,000 51,7860
(Lard Allfance)

Non-Executive Director base Board fee (Joshua - 40,600
Alliance)

Additional Non-Executive Director fags:

Senior Independent Director’s fee 10,000 10,150
Chair of Audit and Risk Committee 15,000 15,225
Chair of Remuneration Committee 15,000 158,225
Chair of Financial Services Board Committee 24,000 24,360
Designated Directar for Calleague Engagement 16,000 10,150

The Directors’ Remuneration report was approved by the Board
on 19 May 2071,

Signed on behalf of the Board on 19 May 2021.

@M L,
Gill Barr
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
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ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their Annual Report
and auditad Accounts for the year ended 27 February 2021,

The Directors’ Report comprises pd4 ta 97, together with the
sections on the Annual Report incorporated by reference.

Somc of the matters required W be included in the Directors’
Reports have been included elsewhere in the Annual Report and
Accounts, namely:

Financiai and Iéiél;Managéménf N
Future Business Developments 20
Disclosure of the Group’s greenhouse gas ernissions in FY21 50

Additional information to be disclosed in the Directors’ Report is
given in this section.

This Directors’ Report together with the Strategic Report set out
on pl to 97 form the Management Report for the purposes of
DTR4.1.5R.

Both the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been
prepared and presented in accordance English company taw and
the liabilities of the Directors in connection with those reports
shall be subject to the limitations and restrictions provided by
such law.

T pd 4 LHE
DRI
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Details of the Group's issued share capital are shown in note

39 on p160. The Group has one class of ordinary shares which
carry no fixed income. Each share carries the right to one vote at
general meetings of the Group.

On 5 November 2020, the Company announced its proposal

to delist fram the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange
and re-list on the Alternative Investment Market. The move was
approved by shareholders at a General Meeting on 23 November
2020 and effective from 23 Decernber 2020, the Company's
ordinary shares {as listed on the Official List) are now traded on
the Alternative Investment Market.

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on
the transfer of shares, which are both governed by the general
provisions of the Compary's Articles of Association and prevailing
legisfation (except as set out in the section entitled "Voting Rights
and Restrictions on Transfers”). No person has any special rights
over the Group's share capital and all issued shares are fully paid.

On 5 November 2020, the Company announced a placing and
open offer to raise £100m by way of issuing 174,666,053 new
ordinary shares at 57p per share. The placing and open offer were
approved by shareholders at a General Meeting on 23 November
2020 and on 23 December 2020, 174,666,053 new ordinary shares
were issued bringing the Company’s total issued share capital to
460,483,231 ordinary shares,

At the 2020 Annual General Meeting, the Directors were given

the power to issue new shares up to a nominal amount of
£10,530,106. This power will expire on the earlier of the conclusion
of the 2021 Annual General Meeting or 6 July 2021. Accordingly,
a resolution will be proposed by Directors at the 2021 Annual
General Meeting to renew the Company’s authority to issue

new shares up to a further nominal amount of £16965,171 in
connecticn with an offer by way of a rights issue.

An approval will be sought at the 2021 general meeting fora
certain number of shares up to a maximum nominal value - to
be allotted pursuant to the authority granted to Directors set out
above without being coverad by statutory pre-emption rights
regime. Further information regarding this will be included in the
Notice of the Meeting for the AGM.

As in previous years, authorisation for the Directors to buy back
the Company’s shares will nat be sought at the 2021 Annual
General Meeting. The Directors have no current plans to issue
shares ather than in connection with employee share options.

arvda e RO e

In addition to the Directors’ shareholdings shown in the
Remuneration Report on p/6 and in accordance with Chapter 5
of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules, the following
notifications had been received from holders of notifiable
interests in the Group's issued share capital at 10 May 2021:

" 58,835,160

Schroder Investment Mat - 1235
Nigel Alliance and Joshua Senior A42/4,432 10.z7
Hargreaves Lfaryso_t_own Asset Mgt 17396562 378

None of the ordinary shares in the Group carry any special rights
with regard to control of the Group. There are no restrictions on
transfers of shares other than:

Certain restrictions which may from time to time be imposed by
laws or regulations such as those relating to insider dealing;

Pursuant to the Company’s code for securities transactions
whereby the Directors and designated employees require
approval to deal in the Company's shares: and

Where a person with an interest in the Company's shares has
been served with a disclosure notice and has failed to provide the
Company with information concerning interests in those shares.

The Directors are not aware of any arrangements between
shareholders that may rasult in restrictions on the transfer of
securities or voting rights. The rights and obligations attaching
to the Company's ordinary shares are set out in the Articles

of Association.
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ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

rER SHARE SCHEMED -

BT A HETROL,

The trustees of the N Brown Group plc Employee Benefit Trust
hold shares on trust for the benefit of the Exacutive Directors and
employees of the Group. The shares held by the trust are used
in connection with the Group's various share incentive plans.
The trustees currently abstain from voting but have the power to
vote for or against, or not at all, at their discretion in respect of
any shares in the Company held in the trust. The trustees may,
upon the recommendation of the Company, accept or reject
any offer relating to the shares in any way they see fit, withaut
incurring any liability and without being required to give reasons
for their decision. In exercising their trustee powers the trustees
may take all of the following matters into account:

The long-term interests of beneficiaries;
The interests of beneficiaries other than financial interests;

The interests of beneficiaries in their capacity as employees or
former employaes or their depandants;

The interests af persons (whether or not identified) who may
become beneficiaries in the future; and

Considerations of alocal, moral, ethical, environmental or
social nature.

CHARNGE OF CONTROL

There are a number of agreements that take effect, alter or
terminate upen a change of control of the Company such as
commercial contracts, bank loan agreements, property lease
arrangements and employee share plans. None of these are
considered to be significant in terms of their likely impact on the
business of the Group as a whole. Executive Directors’ service
contracts are terminable by the Group on giving 12 months’
notice. There are no agreements between the Group and its
Directors or employees that provide for additional compensation
for loss of office or employment that cccurs because of a
takeover bid. No relevant events were reported in the year.

LR ANT CONTRACTS

The Group has a number of contractual arrangements with
suppliers (both of goods and services) and occupies leasehold
premises for the purpose of conducting its business, Whilst these
arrangements are impaortant to the business of the Group,
individually none of them are essential to the business of the
Group and do not require disclosure under section 4175} (¢} of
the Companies Act.

T
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Arifial CENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting will be held at 12:30 on 6 July 2021.
The notice canvening the Annual General Meeting will be sent to
members by way of separate circular. Explanatory notes on each
resolution to be proposed at the meeting will be available online
and accessible to all shareholders unless they have specifically
requested to receive hard copies.

GOING COMNCERN

As explained fully in note 2 on p120, the Directors have adopted the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

VIABIITY STATEMENT

As reguired by the UK Corporate Governance Code, the
Directors have assessed the prospects of the Group. The period
used for this assessment is a three-year period (consistent with
the prior year) i.e. to 2 March 2024, being the first three years of
the five-year strategic planning period.

The change in strategy implemented during the course of FY20
to strengthen our position as a leading digital retailer put us in
2 strong position to respond to the challenges posed by the
Covid-19 cutbreak,

During FY20, the Group undertook a strategic review to return

N Brown to sustainable growth and built a plan based on driving
profitability through the Retail business. Whilst the pandemic has
altered the structural dynamics of the retail sector, the Directors
believe that the refreshed strategy remains the right one 1o
ensure long-term sustainable growth because:

Online retailing is expected to continue to take market share,
accelerated by the impact of Covid-19 on customer behaviour;

N Brown’s target markets cantinue to be underserved, offering
significant opportunity for growth through a streamlined and
more focused brand portfolio; and

The Group's new, refreshed customer-centric strategy will attract
a broader range of customers to the Group's brands and flexible
credit offering.

At the onset of the pandemic the primary business objective was

on cash generation and reducing non-securitised debt. The Group
took swift and decisive action in March 2020 and this, combined

with delivery of strategic initiatives, enabled the Group to make
material cost savings and stabilise the business in the first half of the
financial year. in the second half of the financial year, the Group saw
a compelling opportunity to de-risk the business and accelerate its
refreshed strategy through successfully completing a capital raise

of £100m and securing new financing arrangements with its long-
standing, supportive lenders through to December 2023. The Group
finished FY21 with no unsecured debt, positive trajectory in product
revenue, a stable financial services business and a strong Balance
Sheet that facifitates accelerating its refreshed strategy. The strategic
progress made in FY21 is set out in more detail on p8to 21.

Tzking into account the continued challenges facing the retail market
following the Covid-19 outbreak, the Groug's current position, its
principal risks and uncertainties as described on pd0 to 45 and how
these are managed, as well as its FY22 base and downside planning
scenarios as described in note 2 to the Group accounts on p120, the
Directors have assessed the Group's prospects and viability.

Although the base strategic plan reflects the Directors’ best
estimate of the future prospects of the business, they have also
tested the potential impact on the Group of a number of scenarios
over and above those included in the plan, by quantifying their
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Under the base and downside scenarios the new financing
arrangements provide the Group with a strong basis from which
to continue to service its custormners and to manage appropriately
the challenges faced by the Group. The above considerations form
the basis of the Board's reasonable expectations that the Group
will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they
fall due. The Directors will maintain oversight of and frequently
assess the perfarmance of the Group against the strategy. This will
include regular reporting by the Group's Operating Board and

the discussion of any pivots to strategies undertaken by the Board
in its normal course of business. These reviews will consider both
the market opportunity and any associated or emerging risks to
rmanaging its working capital performance and the level of financial
resources available to the Group.

The 3-year plan to 2 March 2024 assumes that all financing
facilities that mature in the review period will be renewed or
replaced with facilities of similar size on commercially acceptable
terms. This is considered to be a reasonable planning assumption
given actual and planned business performance.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the Group and parent Company financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and
parent Company financial statements for each financial year.
The Group financial statements are prepared in accordance
with international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The Directors have
elected to prepare the parent Compary financial statements in
accordance with UK accounting standards, including Financiaf
Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework

{"FRS 1017,

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of their
profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the Group and
parent Company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

Select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

Make judgernents and estimates that are reasonable, relevant,
reliable and prudent;

For the Group financial statements, state whether they have been
prepared in accordance with international accounting standards
in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

For the parent Company financial staternents, state whether
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject
tc any material departures disclosed and explained in the parent
Company financial statements;

Assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
congern; and

Use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either
intend to liquidate the Group or the parent or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do se.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the parent Company and enable them to ensure
that its financial staternents comply with the Companies Act 2006.
They are rasponsible for such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
apen to them to safequard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are alse
respansible for preparing a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance
Staternent that complies with that law and those reqguiations,

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and

integrity of the corporate and financial information included

on the company's website. Legisfation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislaticn in other jurisdictions.

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

The financial statements, prepared in accordance with the
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view
of the assets, lisbilities, financial position and profit or loss of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole; and

The Strategic Report includes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and the position of the issuer
and the undertakings included in the consotidation taken as

a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that they face.

We consider the Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced
and undearstandable and provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance,
business model and strategy.

The Strategic Repart on pl to 53 and the Directors’ Report an
p54 to 97 are hereby approved by the Board and signed on
behalf of the Board.

Theresa Casey LL.B {Hons) (Sclicitor)
Company Secretary

19 May 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF N BROWN GROUP PLC

We have audited the financial statements of N Brown Group

ple {"the Company”} for the 52 week period ended 27 February
2021 which comprise the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
balance sheet, consolidated cash flow statement, consolidated
statement of changes in equity, the Company balance sheet, the
Company statement of changes in equity, and the related notes,
including the accounting policies in notes 2 and 33.

SR

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of the Group's and of the parent Company’s affairs as at

27 February 2021 and of the Group's profit for the period
then ended;

the Group financiai statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

the parent Company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards,
including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

the financial staternents have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

HASIS FOR ORIPMION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK ("1SAs (UK)") and applicable law.
Qur responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Group
in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC
Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate
basis for cur opinion.

£2 4m (2020: £2.8m}

A.4% (2020, 4 A3} of group profit betore tax
normalised to exclude exceptional itens and
by averaging aver the fast three years dus (o
fluctuations in the business cycle

91% (2020: $0%) of group profit before tax

Materiality:
Group inancigl
stalernents as a whole

Coverage

Recurring risks:

Impairment of customer receivables o
Alliznz legal claim - contmgent lisbility dw
Capitalised software and development costs as intangible A
assets.

Impairment of the carrying value of non-current assets S

in the core group cash generating unit ("CGU") and the
carrying amount of the parent company’s investment in
subsidiaries
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF N BROWN GROUP PLC
CONTINUED

SOCEN ALY MATTERS: DUR ASSESSMENT OF RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements and include the most signiticant assessed risks of material misstatement {whether or not due to traud} identified by us,
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the
efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of cur audit of the financial statemenits as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In arriving at our audit opinion above, the

key audit matters, in decreasing order of audit significance, were as follows:

Impairment
of customer
receivables

£85.2m (2020: 71.7m)

Refer to p73 (Audit
and Risk Committee
Report), piisto 117
fazccounting policy)
and pl121 and 134
{hnancial disclosures)

Subjective estimate:

The rmx

The calculation of the impairment losses
provision is based on an expected credit

loss ("ECL") model which includes a number
of judgements and subjective estimates,
including the determination of Significant
Increases in Credit Risk {SICR™), Lifetime and
12-month Probability of Default ("PD”) and
Post-rmadel adjustments {"PMA").

There is a risk that the impairment losses
provision on trade receivables is materially
misstated as a result of inapproprisle
judgemeants or estimates made by
management, as explained above. The risk is
heightened in the current year as 3 result of
the ongeing uncertainty due to the impact of
COVID-19 on tha determination of the ECL.

We determined that the impairment losses
provisien on trade receivables has a high
degree of estimation uncertainty, with a
potential range of reasonable outcomes
greater than our materiality for the financia
staterments as a whole, and possibly many
times that amount. The financial staternents
{ncte 2) disclose the sensitivity estimated by
the Group

(&3 4
Our procedures included:
Benchmarking assumptions: We critically assessed the appropriatenass
of the judgements and estimates made by management in determining
the key assumptions used for the expected credit losses calculations. This
involved evaluating the key assumptions in the impairment calculation
using our cumulative entity and industry knowledge to assess against
factors such as husterical experience and industry benchmarking where
appropriate.

Our sector experience: Wa assessed completenass of the PMAs and
critically assessed the assumptions underpinning the most significant
PMAs applied due to model weakness identified. We specifically tested
those PMA's in relation to impact of COVID-19 through assassing a range
af plausible scenarios. We also tested management's calculations of

the PMAs in addition to testing a sample of the underlying data used

in determining the PMAs through agreeing the sample to relevant
internal and third party reparts. Together with our credit risk modelling
specialists, we critically assessed the methodology for determining PD
and SICR, We challenged the PD criteria against actual default rates and
staging allocation of receivables using SICR thresholds. With the support
of economic specialists, in response to identified model weakness, we
performed an assessment of the approprateness of the macroecunomic,
variables {"MEV") and scenarios included within the ECL.

Sensttivity analysis: We performed sensitivity analysis over SICR and PDs
to assess how the model would perform under aiternative assumptions
and the resulting impact on the ECL We also applied stress scenarios of
the MEV to assess the resulting impact on the ECL.

Assess transparency: We assassed the adeguacy and appropriatenass
of the Group's disclosures about the degree of estimation and sensitivity
analysis involved in arriving at the impairment of customer receivables.
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Adlianz Insurance
plc ("Allianz™) legal
claim ~ Contingent
liability

Refer to p/3 (Audit
and Risk Committee
Report), p118
(accounting policy)
and p144 ffinancial
disclosures)

Dispute outcome:

In the normal course of business for the Group, potential
exposures may anse from disputes relating to regulatory
matters. Whether thera is a liahility and tne quanturm of any
such fiability, is inherently uncertain and judgemental.

In January 2020, in the prior year, a legal claim was received
from Allianz in respect of all payments of redress Allianz
has made 10 the Group's customers. The claim 15 extremaely
complex and is at an early stage of proceedings.

There has been significant disruption in the year due to
COVID-19 which has delayed the progress of the claim.
No provision is recognised as it has been determined
thal it is not possible to calculate a best estimate of the
potential liability as legal proceedings remain at an early
stage. As a result, a contingent hability is disclosed.

Tae amounts involved are potentially significant, and the
applcation of accounting standards to determine whether
3 provision could or should be recoanised, and whether
areliable estimate can be made, requires the exercize of
significant judgement,

Our procedures included:

Inspecting correspondence: Together with cur own legal
specialists, we inspected correspondence with the Group's
external counsel and held discussions with the Group's
in-house legal counsel.

Legal expertise: With the assistance of our own legal
specialists, we assessed the facts, complexities and
uncertainties of the claim, 10 evaluate whether a reliable
estimate of the amacunt of any potential liabitity can be
determined.

Assessment of experts: We assessed the competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the external legal expert
engaged by the Groug.

Enquiry of external legal experts: With the help of our
own legal specialists, we held direct discussions with
management's legal experts in respect of the legal claim,
including challenging the current status and complexities of
the claim.

Assessing transparency: We assessed the adequacy of
the Group's related disclosures in respect of the contingent
liability and the judgements taken by management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF N BROWN GROUP PLC

CONTINUED

Software and
development costs
as intangibie assets

£133.0m (2020-
151 4rm)

Referto o73

(Audit and Risk
Cormmittee Report),
p114 faccounting
policy) and p131-132
financial disclosures)

Impairment of
the carrying value
of non-current
assets in the Group
cash generating
unit {("CGU"}

and the carrying
amount of the
parent company's
investment in
subsidiaries

Refer to p/3 (Audit
and Risk Cornmittee
Report), p114
{accounting policy)
and 0132 {financial
disclosuras)

T ey

Accounting treatment:

The Group continues to incur significant software and
development project costs in respect of its ongoing
transformation from a catalogue company to a fully
online retailer. This is a significant system infrastructure
programma which has been ongoing for several years.

The Group capitalises both internal and external costs
These costs are capitalised to the exient that future
economic benetits are expected to be generated by

the project and they meet the appropriate capitalisation
recognition criteria for software and development costs.
This reguites significant judgement as to whether the
internal costs incurred meet the recognition criteria
Subjective estimate:

Further to the above judgement, the Group continues

to undergo fast-paced change as part of its ongoing
transformation process, and continues to capitalise
significant amounts of new softwars and development
expenditure. The Group's ability to implement its strategic
investmeant in technological advancements following

the completion of the equity raize and refinancing in
December 2020, has resulted in an increased risk this year
around the appropriateness of the Useful Economic Lives
"UELs") of the existing ntangible assets and whather
any assets previously capitalised may be superseded by
newly capitalised intangible assets such that these older
assets could be subject to obsolescence, or a shortened
expected UEL dus to revised timelines for new technclogy
projects. The financial statements [note 12) disclose the
sensitivity estimated by the Group.

The level of risk for capitalised software and development
costs has increasad in the year as the length of tme waken
to complete the digital transformation extends.

Forecast-based assessment:

The carrying value of non-current assets in the Group
CGU and the carrying amount of the parent company's
invastments in subsidianes are significant and there are
indicators of impairment due to the Group's market
capitalisation being lower than the carrying value of nat
assets of the Group and the parent Campany, continuing
pressure on the Group's share price, and the impact of
COVID-12 on the Group's trading performance.

The estimated recoverable amount of these balances
is subjective due to the inherent uncertainty invalved
in forecasting and discounting future cash flows which
forms the basis of the Group's value in use calculation
and assessment of the carrying amount of the parent
company's investments in subsidiarics.

We determined that tnhe value in use of the Group CGU has
a high degree of estimation uncertainty with a potential
range of outcomes greater than our materiaiity for the
financial statements as a whole, and possibly many umes
that amount.

The financial statements (note 12) disclose the sensitivity
ted by the Groun

STOou.

Our procedures included:
Tests of detail: We agreed a sample of internally capitalised
labour costs to timesheets and other relevant project
information. We interviewed selected employees who

were assigned to projects to corroborate the nature of

the work performed and time capitalised and to evaluate
the appropriateness of classification as capitalised costs,

by reference to the recognition criteria of the applicable
accounting standards.

Qur experience: We assessed the Group's criteria for the
capitalisation of intangible assats in the year with reference to
the recognition critena tor software and developiment costs.

Critical assessment of useful economic lives: We criticaliy
assessed management’s exercise to revise the UEL of the
existing intangible assets portfolio. For selected intangible
assets, we challenged the future plans and the viability and
economic use of these assets. We assessed management’s
astimation of the useful economic lives of selected intangible
assets with reference to the Group's latest 1T strategy.

Enquiry of experts employed by the entity: We held
direct discussions with the Group's [T technical parsannel
to challenge the nature and use of the selected intangible
assets, and the basis for the UEL assigned, with reference wo
the Group's [T strategy.

Assessment of experts: We assessed the competence and
capabilities of the Group's IT technical tead who was involved
in management’s exercise to reassess the UELs.

Assessing transparency: We assessed the adequacy of

the Group's disclasures about the judgements taken in

the capitalisation of software and development costs as
intangible assets and the estimation of the Group's useful
economic lives fur existing intangible assets with reference to
their continued use in the Group.

Our procedures included:

Benchmarking assumptions: We challenged, with the
support of our awn valuation specialists, the key assumptions
used in the value in use calculations of the Group CGU by
cormparing them to externally derived data in relation to key
inputs such as projected growth rates in years one to three

and discount rates.

Historical comparisons: We compared previous financial
periods’ cash flow forecasts against actual results to assass
the reliability of the current period's forecasts.

Sensitivity analysis: We performed breakeven analys:s an

the key assumptions, including the discount rate and reduced
projectad growth rates in years ons to, to ass235 how sensitive
the value in use calcutation 1s to a reasonably possible change
in kay assumptions.

Comparing valuations: We compared the total of the value in
use calculation to the Group's market capitalisation 1o assess
the reasonableness of thase cash flows and critically assessed
the rationale for the difference from that comparison.
Assessing transparency: We asscssed whether the Group's
and parent Company’s disclosures about the sensitiaty of

the outcome of the imparment assessment 1o changes in

key assumptions retlects the risks inherent i the valustion

of the Group
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For each of the key audit matters reported above, we performed
the tests above rather than seeking to rely on any of the Group’s
controls because the nature of the balance is such that we would
expect to obtain audit evidence primarily through the detailed
procedures described.

We continue to perform procedures over the carrying value of
inventories. However, following management’s strategic focus

on reducing the inventory balance and the improvement in the
profile of ageing of inventery, we have not assessed this as one of
the most significant risks in our current year audit and, therefore,
itis not separately identified in cur report this year.

Furthermore, we continue to perform procedures over the going
concern assumption. However, following the Group's completion
of the equity raise in December 2020, we have not assessed this
as one of the most significant risks in our currertt year audit and
therefore, itis not separately identified in our report this year.

In the prior year we reported a key audit matter in respect of

the impact of uncertainties due to the UK exiting the European
Union. Following the trade agreement between the UK and the
EU, and the end of the El-exit implementation period, the nature
of these uncertainties has changed. We continue to perform
procedures over material assumptions in forward looking
assessments such as going concern and impairment tests
however we no longer consider the effect of the UK's departure
from the EU to be a separate key audit matter.

ONOF MATERIAL

FIEA O THE SO

P T NP SR

Materiality for the Group financial staternents as a whole was
set at £2.4m (2020: £2.8m), determined with reference to a
benchmark of Group profit before tax, normalised to exclude
exceptional items as disclosed in nate &, and by averaging over
the last three years due to fluctuations in the business cycle, of
which it represents 4.4% (2020: 4.4%)}.

In line with our audit methodology, our procedures on
individual account balances and disclosures were performed
to a lower threshold, performance materiality, so as to reduce
to an acceptable level the risk that individually immaterial
misstatements in individual account balances add up to a
material amount across the financial statements as a whole.

Performance materiality for the Group and parent Company was
set at 50% (2020; 65%) of materiality for the financial staterments
as a whole, which equates to £1.2m (2020: £1.8m) for the Group
and £09m (2020: £1.6m} for the parent Company. We applied
this percentage in our determination of performance materiality
based upon the level of identified misstaternents and control
deficiencies during the prior period.

Materiality for the parent Company financialf statements as a
whole was set at £1.8m (2020: £2.1m), determined with reference
to a benchmark of Company total assets, of which it represents
0.5% (2020: (.5%).

We agreed to report to the Audit Committee any corrected
or uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding £120,000
(2020: £140,000), in addition to other identified misstatements
that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Of the Group's 32 (2020: 33} reporting components, we
subjected 4 (2020: 4) 1o full scope audits for Group purposes.

The components within the scope of our work accounted for the
percentages illustrated opposite.

For the residuat components, we performed analysis at an
aggregated Group level to re-examine our assessment that there
were no significant risks of material misstatament within these.

The work on the 4 components, including the audit of the parent
Company, was performed by the Group team.

The component materialities ranged from £0.42m to £2.04m
(FY20: £0.49m to £2.49m) having regard to the mix of size and risk
profile of the Group across the componenis.

The Group team performed procedures on the items excluded
from normalised Group profit before tax.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF N BROWN GROUP PLC

CONTINUED

GROUP PROFIT BEFORE
TAX NORMALISED TO

GROUP MATERIALITY
£2.40M

EXCLUDE EXCEPTIONAL {2020 £2.80M)
ITEMS AND AVERAGED

OVER THE LAST 3

YEARS £54.4M

{2020: £64.2m)

£2.40m
Whale financial statements
materiality (2020 £2 80m)

£2.04m

Range of materiality
at 4 components
(£0.42rm-£2.04m)

£0.12m
Misstatements reported

to the audit committes
(2020: £0.14m)

i Normalised PBT

Group materiality

GROUP PROFIT AND
LOSSES BEFORE TAX

GROUP REVENUE

91%

(2020: 96%)

{2020: 90%)

96
]

el

GROUP TOTAL ASSETS
|3 ]

(2020: 96%)

# Full scope for Group audit purposes 2021
Audit of specific account balances for Group purposes 2020
B Full scope for Group sudit purposes 2020

B Residual components

4 GOING CONCERN

The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the
going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the Group
or the Company or to cease their operations, and as they have
concluded that the Group's and the Company’s financial position
means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there
are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant
doubt aver their ability to continue as a going concern for at least
a year from the date of approva! of the financial statements (“the
going concern period”).

We used our knowledge of the Group, its industry, and the
general economic environment to identify the inherent risks to

its business model and analysed how those risks might affect

the Group's and Company's financial resources or ability to
continue operations over the going concern period. The risks that
we considered most likely to adversely affect the Group's and
Company’s available financial resources and/or metrics relevant
to debt covenants over this peried is consumer confidence.

We also considered less predictable but realistic second order
impacts, such as the impact of COVID-19 and the erosion of
supplier confidence, which could result in a rapid reduction of
available financial resources.

We considered whether these risks could plausibly affect the
liquidity or covenant compliance in the going concem period by
comparing severe, but plausible downside scenarios that could
arise from these risks individually and collectively against the level
of available financial resources and covenants indicated by the
Group's financial forecasts.

We considered whether the going concern disclosure in note 2
to the financial staternents gives a full and accurate description
of the Directors’ assessment of going concern. We assessed the
completeness of the going concern disclosure.

Cur conclusions based on this work:

we consider that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements
is appropriate;

we have not identified, and concur with the Directors’
assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty related

to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s or Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern for the going concern periad; and

we have nothing material to add or draw attention to

in relation to the Directors’ statement in note 2 to the
financial staternents on the use of the going concern basis
of accounting with no material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt over the Group and Company's use of that
basis for the going concern period, and we found the going
concern disclosure in note 2 to be acceptable.
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Heowever, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions
and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgemenits that were reascnable at the time
they were made, the above conclusions are not a guarantee that
the Group ur the Cornpany will continue in operation.

0 TENG AND RESPONE ;
ASSTETEMTR BUE 10 FRAL

PhL e L Rl
To identity rlsks of materlai misstaterment due to fraud
{“fraud risks”) we assessed events or conditions that could
indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide
an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment
procedures included:

Enquiring of Directors, the Audit Committee, internal audit
and inspection of policy documentation as to the Group's
high-tevel policies and procedures to prevent and detect
fraud, inciuding the internal audit function, and the Group’s
channel for "whistieblowing”, as well as whether they have
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

Reading Board, Audit & Risk Committee, Operational, Risk
and compliance committee, Financial services operations
committee, and Remuneration committee minutes.

Considering remuneration incentive schemes and
performance targets for management and Directors, including
the EPS target for management remuneration.

Using analytical procedures to identify any usual or
unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the
audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud
throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking intc account
possible pressures to meet profit targets and our overall
knowiedge of the control envirenment, we perform procedures
to address the risk of management override of controls and the
risk of fraudulent revenue recognition, in particular the risk that
Group management may be in a position to make inappropriate
accounting entries, through journals throughout the period

in respect of, product revenue {exciuding postage & packing
revenus) and cradit account interest financial statement captions.

We also identified a fraud risk related to inappropriate
impairment on customer receivables and inappropriate
capitafisation of capitalised internal software and development
costs in response to pressures to meet proﬁt targets, covenants,
management compensation arrangements, historic internal
cortrol deficiencies identified and decline in the environment in
which the entity operates.

Further detail in respect of the above is set out in the key audit
matter disclosures in section 2 of this report.

We also perfarmed procedures including:

Identifying journal entries and other adjustments to test for all
full scope components based on risk criteria and comparing the
identified entries to supporting documentation. These included
those posted to unusual accounts.

Assessing significant management judgements in relation to
capitalised internal software and development costs for bias; and

Assessing significant accounting estimates for bias.

We |dent|fled areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably
be expected to have a material effect on the financial statements
from our general commercial and sector experience, through
discussion with the Directors and other management (as
required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the
Group's regulatary and legal correspondence together with

our legal specialists, and discussed with the Directors and other
management the policies and procedures regarding compliance
with laws and regulations.

Asthe Group is regulated, our assessment of risks involved
gaining an understanding of the control environment
including the entity's procedures for complying with
regulatory requirements.

Wa communicated identified laws and regulations throughout
our team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance
throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial
statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly
affect the financial statements including financial reporting
legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable
profits legislation, taxation legislation, pension legislation, and
the regulations relevant to the Job Retention Scheme, and

we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and
regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial
statement items.

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and
regulations where the consequences of non-compliance

could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the
financial statements, for instance through the imposition of
fines or litigation or the loss of the Group's licence to operate.
We identified the following areas as those most likely to have
such an effect: health and safety, anti-bribery and employment
law. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures

to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to
enquiry of the Directors and other management and inspection
of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore, if
breach of operaticnal regulations is not disclosed to us or evident
from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that
breach. Further detail in respect of the Allianz legal claim is set
out in the key audit matter disclosures in section 2 of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF N BROWN GROUP PLC

CONTINUED

“f’ OF THE AUDIT TO OETECT
2 OF LAY TR REGULATION
meg to the inherent |lI’Y'|ItatI0nS of an audit, there is an
uravordable risk that we may not have detected some material
misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have
properly planned and perfermed our audit in accerdance with
auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and
transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely
the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards
would identify it.

in addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of
non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal controls. Qur audit procedures are designed to detect
material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing
non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-
compliance with all laws and regulations.

foT THRNG TO REPORT
HER NFORMATION IN

?
AN

The Directors are responsible for the other information presented
in the Annual Report together with the financial staternents. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
informaticn and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion
or, exceprt as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the other information and, in

doing so, consider whether, based on our financial staternents
audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or
inconsistent with the financial statermerts or our audit knowledge.
Based solely on that work we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information.

ECTORG GEPORT
Baaed solely on our work on the ther information:

we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic
report and the Directors’ Report;

in our opinion the information given in those reports for the
financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and

in our opinion those reports have been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT

In addition to cur audit of the financial statements, the Directors
have engaged us to audit the information in the Directors’
Remuneraticn Report that is described as having been audited,
which the Directors have decided to prepare as if the Company
were required to comply with the requirements of Schedule 8 to
The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
and Reports) Regulations 2008 (S| 2008 No. 410) made under the
Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 2006, as if those requirements applied to
the Company.

CHECLOSURES OF EMERGING AND PRINCIPAL RiBHE

AND LONGER-TERM VIABILITY

We are required to perform procedures to identify whether there
is & material inconsistency between the Directors’ disclosures

in respect of emerging and principal risks and the viability
statement, and the financial statements and our audit knowledge.

Based on those procedures, we have nothing material to add or
draw attention to in relation to:

the directors’ confirmation within the Viability Statement on
pages 96-97 that they have carried out a robust assessment of the
emerging and principal risks facing the Group, including those
that would threaten its business modef, future performance,
solvency and liquidity;

the Principal Risks disclosures describing these risks and how
emerging risks are identified, and explaining how they are being
managed and mitigated; and

the Directors’ explanation in the Viability Statement of how
they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what
period they have done so and why they considered that pericd
to be appropriate, and their statement as to whather they
have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to
continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due
aver the period of their assessment, including any related
disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications
or assumptions.

Qur work is limited to assessing these matters in the context of
only the knowledge acquired during our financial statements
audit. As we cannot predict all future events or conditions

and as subseguent events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the

time they were made, the absence of anything to report on
these statements is not a quarantee as to the Group's and
Company’s longer-term viability.

e
ARPOEATE GO

We are required to perform procedures to identify whether there
is a material incansistency between the Directors’ corporate
governance disclosures and the financial statements and our
audit knowledge.

Based on those procedures, we have concluded that each of the
following is materially consistent with the financial staternents and
our audit knowledge:

the Directors’ staterment that they consider that the annual report
and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable, and provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance,
business model and strategy;
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the section of the annual report describing the work of the

Audit Committee, including the significant issues that the audit
committee considered in relation to the financial statements, and
how these issues were addressed; and

the section of the Annual Repert that describes the review of
the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
contro! systems.

In addition to cur audit of the financial statements, the
Directors have engaged us to review their Corporate
Governance Statement as if the Company were required to
comply with the Listing Rules and the Disclosure Guidance
and Transparency Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority in
relation to those matters. Under the terms of our engagement
we are required to review the part of the Corporate
Governance Statement relating to the Company's compliance
with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified for our review. We have nothing to report in

this respect.

PREETT (T
g"}"ﬁ E:}f.i V@'*ﬁ{“i-ﬁ WWE O 1;;__:1'”
PORT BY EMCEFTION

ct 2006, we are required to report to you

I

Under the Companies
if, in our opinion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent
Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

the parent Company financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are notin
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

certain disclosures of Directers’ remuneration specified by law
are not made; or

we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

As explained more fully in theur statement set out on page 97,

the Directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial
statements including being satisfied that they give a true and

fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial staternents that are free from
materiai misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing
the Group and parant Company's ability to continue as a gaing
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company

or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUITORS RESPONSIBITIEY

Qur objectives are to obtaln reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements as a whole are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

or error, and to issue our opinion N an auditor’s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but does
not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK} will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the
FRC's website at www.fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

©THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WOREK AND
TO WHOM WE OWE OUR RESPONLRILTEY

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as &
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006 and the terms of our engagement by the Company.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the Company’s members those matters we are required to state
to them in an auditor's report, and the further matters we are
required to state to them in accordance with the terms agreed
with the Company, and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assurme responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members,
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opiniens
we have formed.

Anthony Sykes (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London

E14 5GL

19 May 2021
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GROUP ACCOUNTS

TAMMBITIIRATED INCOME STATEMENT

Moo
Revenue ;
Credit account interest h
Group revenue (including credit interest) 3
Cost of sales
Impairment losses on customer receivables 4
Profit on sale of customer receivables 4
Net impairment charge 4
Gross profit
Operating profit/(loss) 5
Finance costs
Profit/(Loss) before taxation and fair value adjustments to
financial instruments
Fair value adjustimants to financial mstruments 18 7
Profit/{Loss) before taxation E !
Taxation g R P
Profit/(Loss) for the period
* Refer to prior year adjustment note 32
Earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic "
Diluted 1

CONSOLDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Profit for the periodr
Iterns that will nat be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Actuarial flossl/gains on defined benefit pension schemes

Tax relating to items not reclassified

Net other comprehensive {loss)/income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

Net other comprehensive (lossl/income that may ba raclassified to profit or loss

Other comprehensive (lossy/income for the period

Total comprehensive income for the peried attributable to equity helders of the parent

52 waeks ended 29 February 2020
(Restated)”

" Before E;xcéptionai

exceptional items
items note &}
- LR o
574.2 -
2633 -
8375 -
(270.0) 0.3
11339 -
6.3 -
1127.6) -
4359 0.3)
6.6 (28.5)
(17.1)
59.5 (28.5)
47 -
642 (~8.5)
(13.8) 55
50.4 (23.0)
Note
29
9

Total
fm

5742
2633
8375

(270.3)
1339}
63
177.6)
4394

48.1
(171
310

47
357

8.3)
774

3463
562

52 weeks

ended

29 February

2020
Em
274

0.8
6.3
05

0z
02
0.7
281
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MNon-current assets

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equiprnent
Right-of-use assets

Retirement benefit surplus
Denvative finandial instruments

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Irventarnes

Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial instruments

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current habilities

Bank overdratts

Provisions

Trade and other payables
Lease lability

Derivative financial instruments

Current tax liability
Net current assets

Non-current liabilities

Bank lcans

|ease liabiiity

Derivative financial instruments

Deferred tax liabilitias

Total liabilities
Net assets

Equity attributable to equity hoiders of the parent
Shars capital

Share premium account

Own shares

Foreign currency translation reserve

Retained earnings

Total equity

Note

12
13
27
29
18
20

15

18
25

27
21
27
18

17
2/

20

23

24

As at

29 February

2070

£m
(Restated)*

1514
62.6
56
263
1.3
13.2
2604

745
6144
4.0
161.7
8750
11354

(114.2)
(1
{110.5}
2.2
{1.3)
12.8)
253.1)
6219

(544.6
a7
09

{14.6
(564.8
8179
3175

314
1.0
0.3
30
2724
3175

* Both Cach and cash equ.valents and Bank overdrafts have been restatad 'n 2020 to gross up the effect of bank accounts in overdraft and cash separately

sea note 25)

The financial statements of N Brown Group ple (Registered Number 814103) were approved by the Board of Directors and

authorised for issue on 19 May 2021.

They were signed on its behalf by:

ity
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GROUP ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

SH FLOW STATEMENT

Note Forthe
52 weeks
ended
v 29 February
2020
S £m
Net cash inflow from operating activities = 514
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment {6.5)
Purchases of intangible assets (33.2)
Net cash used in investing activities : {(39.7)
Financing activities
Interest paid . (17.8)
Cividends paid (200
{Decrease)Increase in bank loans o 444
Principal elements of lease payments . (3.5)
Procaeds onissue of share capital -
Transaction costs relating to the issue of share capital
Purchase of shares by ESOT o
Net cash (outflow) / inflow frem financing activities . 29
Net foreign exchange difference . 0.6
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and bank overdraft R 15.2
Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdraft at beginning of period ) LR 323
Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdraft at end of period 5 475
o o~
! i
T Forthe
[P 52 weeks
ended
29 February
2020
P fm
Profit for the period 274
Adjustments for,
Taxation charge 83
Fair value adjustments to financial instruments @.7
Nat foreign exchange gain / (foss) 1.6}
Finance costs 171
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1.3
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4.2
frmpairment of Intangible assets 1.5
Amartisation of intangible assets 247
Share option charge/ (credit) 1.3)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 78.2
Decrease in inventories HaXs)
Decrease in trade and other receivables 5.5
Decreasein trade and other payahles ' @
Decrease in provisions t. 109
Pension obligation adjustment 07
Cash ganerated by operations - 474
Taxation (paid)/freceived 38

Net cash inflow from operating activities ) S oL ) 51.4
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e, T b E Py R NTNIE T
A EIRIAMOING ACTIVITIES

Loans and borrowings

Balance at 29 February 2020

Changes from financing cash flows

Net frepayment)/proceads from loans and borrowings
Leases recognised on transition of [FRS 14

New leases entered inte in the period

Lease payments in the period

(Decrease)/Increase in loans and borrowings due to changas in interest rates
{Decrease)/Increase in loans and borrowings

Balance at 27 February 2021

Dk CHANGES N EGUTY

Share Share
capital premium
note 23} £m
£m
Balance at 3 March 2017 N4 1.0

Comprehensive incorne for the period

Profit for the period -
Other iterns of comprehensive income for the period -
Total comprehensive gain for the period -
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

Fquity dividends -
Share option credit -
Tax an items recognised directly in equity -
Totat contributions by and distributions to owners ] -
Balance at 29 February 2020 314
Comprehensive income for the pericd

Profit for the pericd

Other Hems of comprehensive loss for the period

Total comprehensive income for the period

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

issue of shares v
Share option charge

Tax on itemns recognised directly in equity

Total contributions by and distributions to owners

Balance at 27 February 2021

Own
shares
note 24)
£m

©3

Q.3

Foregn
currency
translation
reserva
fm

28

3.0

Retained
earmngs
fm

2660

274
G5
279

{200
i1.3)
(0.1)

{21.5)

2724

52 wenks to
29 February
2020

fm
500.2

43.2
2.5
09
(3.6)
1.3
51.3
55315

Total

fm

3109

774
07
7281

(20
1.3
0.7

(21.5)

3145
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS

TP o i Facllr ¥
PORDMERAL IR

LEOREMATION

N Brown Group pleis a company incorporated in the United
Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The address of
the registered office is listed in the Shareholder Information
section on ptéZ at the end of the report. The naturs of the
Group’s operations and its principal activities are set out
onpZ.

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling
because that is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Group operates. Foreign operations
are included in accordance with the policies set out in note 2,

The Group financial statements for the 52 weeks ended

27 February 2021 have been prepared in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The Company has
elected to prepare its parent Company financial statements
in accordance with FRS 101 and these are presented on p152
to 161

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the fereseeable future. Accordingly, they have adopted
the going concern basis in the preparation of these financial
staternents, This is explained further in note 2 (Going
Concern section).

The accounting policies have been applied consistently

in the current and prior period except for the accounting

for government grants for funds received under the UK
Government's Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme which has
been paid to employees on furlough.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the
following standards and interpretations were in issue but have
not been applied in these financial statements as they were
not yet mandatory:

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”

"Classification of Liabilities as Currenrtror Non-Current
tAmendments to JAS 1)

“References to the Conceptual Framework {Amendments
to [FRS 3)”

“Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended
use [Amendments to 1AS 16)"

Onerous contracts — Cost of fulfilling a contract (Amendments
to IAS 37)”

“Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020"
"Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its

associate or joint venture (Amendments to [FRS 10 and 1AS 28)"

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the
standards listed above will have a material impact on the
financial statements of the Group in future periods.

The following accounting standards and interpretations
became effective this financial year and have been applied for
the first time in these financial statements:

"Definition of Materiat (Amendments to IAS 1 and |AS 8)*
“Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)”

"Interest Rate Benchmark Reform {Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39 and IFRS 7}"

"Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions amendment to IFRS 16"

“Revised conceptual framework for Financial Reporting”

None of these new standards and interpretations have had any
material impact on the financial statements.

Z ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF nCCOUNTING

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost
basis except that derivative financial instruments are stated at
their fair value. The principal accounting policies adopted are
set out as follows.

ACCOUNTING PERIGD

Throughout the accounts, the Directors’ Report and financial
review, reference to 2021 means at 27 February 2021 or the 52
weeks then ended; reference to 2020 means at 29 February
2020 or the 52 weeks then ended, unless otherwise stated.
BASE F COmE ST

The consolidated financial stétements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries) made up to the Saturcay that

falls closest to 28 February each year. The Employee Share
Ownership Trust is also made up te a date coterminous with
the financial period of the parent Company.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
contrals an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvernent with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. In assessing cantrol, the Group takes into consideration
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable.

The acquisition dats is the date on which control is transferred
to the acguirer. The financial statements of subsidiaries

are included in the consolidated financial statements

from the date that control commences until the date that
control ceases.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies

used into line with those used by the Group.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.
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Where the Group securitises its own financial assets, this is
achieved through the sale of these assets to a securitisation trust
{the "Trust"}, which is financed through the issuance of loan notes
to a number of funders. The Trust used 1o hold the securitised
recaivables and funds raised by the issued loan notes is
controlled by N Brown Group plc due to the Group retaining the
risks and rewards over the financial assets and issued loan notes;
as such it is consolidated under IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Staternents. The Group therefore continues to recognise

the receivables in full and the amounts repayable under the
securitised borrowing are presented as a bank loan.

Lar N pE s
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Product revenue consists of sales of goods as well as postage
and packaging receipts, and is measured at the fair value

of the consideration received or receivable and represents
amaunts receivable for goods and services provided in

the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales-

related taxes.

Product revenue for all goods, including the ones delivered
to the customers directly frem suppliers and goods delivered
to partners, is recognised in accordance with [FRS 15,

when goods are delivered to the customer or partner and
therefore control is transferred. In regards to goods directly
despatched to the custarer from suppliers, the Group has
the ability to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of
the benefits from the specified goods. More specifically, the
Group is responsible for providing the specified gocds to the
customer, has inventory risk prior to these being transferred
to the customer and has significant influence over the pricing
of the goods, therefore it is acting as the principal in these
arrangements. Revenue from direct despatch sales is therefore
recognised gross.

Sales returns in the period are recognised as a deduction

to revenue based on expected levels of returns. Provision is
made for outstanding returns not yet made at the period end.
Accumulated experience {including historical returns rates) is
used to estimate and provide for such returns. The provision is
recorded as a reduction in revenue with a corresponding entry
against trade receivables. Inventory expected to come back
as a result of returns is recorded as a reduction in cost of sales
with a corresponding entry to increase the closing stocks.

Postage and packaging subscription revenue is recognised
over the length of the subscription and deferred where this
relates to future periods.

Financial services revenue includes interest and administrative
charges. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and the applicable
effective interest rate. Effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial assets to that asset’s gross carrying
amount, being its amortised cost excluding expected credit
losses. Interest income from stage 1 and 2 trade receivables is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the asset; for stage 3 trade receivables, the

Revenue from non-interest-related Financial Services

income primarily comprises administration fees arising from
missed payments by customers and is recognised when the
associated arrears management activity has been performed.

BERTY S anT ol BDUHPRENT
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, {ess
accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment

in value.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets to
their estimated residual values, based on current prices at the
balance sheet date, over their remaining useful lives, using the
straight-lime method. No depreciation is charged on freehold
land. Assets under construction are not depreciated but
instead tested for impairment annually.

In this respect the following annual depreciation rates apply:
Land and Buildings

Freehotd buildings

Leasehold property and
improvements

2%
wver the period of the lease
Fixtures and Fquipment

between 2% and 20%
10%

Ptant and machinery
Fixtures and fittings

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset s
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset, or as the assets residual net
book value in the case of asset retirements, and is recognised
in the income statement.

BORROWING 08T

Any borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
development or production of qualifying assets are added

to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

BIGEITOF USE AYSETR

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease {i.e. the date
the underlying asset is available for use).

Right-of-use assets are measured at the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liability, plus any lease
payments made prior to commencement date, inttial direct
costs, and estimated costs of restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the lease, less any iease
incentives received.

Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of
the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

TN G POLIGIES CONTINUED

It AR ASLETS

Computer software development costs that generate economic
benefits beyond one year are capitalised as intangible assets
and amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of up to six
years, or by exception over a longer period where itis expected
that economic benefits are attributable over a longer period.
The remaining useful life of assets is reviewed on an annual
basis, or where a change in the business or other circumstances
wouid trigger a revision. Assets under development are

not amortised but instead tested for impairment annually.

The amortisation expense on intangible assets is recognised in
the income staterent within Depreciation and Amortisation.

Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the
product or process is technically and commercially feasible

and the Group intends to and has the technical ability and
sufficient resources to complete development, future economic
benefits are probable and if the Group can measure reliably
the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development. Development activities involve a pian or design
for the production of new or substantially improved products
or processes. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of
directly attributable materials and direct labour. Research costs
and other development expenditure which does not meet the
criteria of an asset under IAS 38, is recognised in the income
statement as an expense as incurred.

Software as a service ("SAAS"} contract costs are expensed to
the Income Statement over the life of the contract. Far SAAS
and cloud based technology, integration costs are capitalised
only when they represent enhancements to to Group's
existing assets.

Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and less accumulated
impairment losses.

Legally protected or otherwise separable trade names
acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised

at fair value on acquisition and are assumed to have an
indefinite useful life. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are
not amortised, but are subject to annual impairment tests.
The indefinite life assessment is also reviewed annualiy to
determine whether this continues to be supportable.

PRADNT OF TANGIRLE AMD INTONGIZLE A53EE

¥
L
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At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying value
of its tangible and intangible assets (including right- of-use assets)
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not
generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. For intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the
recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
maoney and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable
armount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
Animpairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

INVERMTONIES

Inventories have been valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventaries comprises of direct
materials calculated on a first-in-first-out basis and those
overheads that have been incurred in bringing inventories
to their present location and condition. Where materials are
purchased in a foreign currency, the cost of inventories also
includes the currency gains and losses incurred.

Provision is made based on management’s estimates of future
disposal strategies.

Net realisable value means estimated selling price less all
costs ta be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Stock in transit is recognised where control of the goods has
transferred to the Group, following the transfer of the risks and
rewards associated with the goods.

T w AP

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
itemns that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable
on aifferences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liakilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised 1o the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be avaitable against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition {(other than in a business
combination] of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except
when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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The individual financial statements of each Group company are
presented in the currency of the primary economic environment
in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose

of the consolidated financial statements, the results and
financial position of each Group company are expressed in
pounds sterling, the presentation currency for the consolidated
financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency (foreign currencies; are recorded at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each
balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
pravailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
velue was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in z foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are included
in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on
the retransiation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of
which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. For such
non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is alse recognised directly in equity.

In order to hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks,
the Group may enter into forward contracts and options {see
below for details of the Group's accounting policies in respect of
such derivative financial instruments),

For the purpose of presenting consclidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are
translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet
date. Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that periad, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are classiied as equity and transferred to the
Group's translation reserve, Such transiation differences are
recognised as income or as expenses in the pericd in which the
operation is disposad of,

LT R RL T

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

At A NNTLAL B

SETY
IFRS 9 contains a classification and measurement approach

for financial assets that reflects the business model in which
assets are managed and their cash fiow characteristics.

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for
financiat assets: measured at amortised cost; fair value through
other comprehensive income ("FYOCI"); and fair value
through profit and loss ("FVTPL"). The Group has determinad
that all of the trade and other receivables are classified as
amortised cost, as a financial asset is measured at amortised
cost if both the following conditions are met and it has not
been designated as at FVTPL:

All such assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the asset to collect its contractual cash
flows; and

The contractual terms of all such assets give rise to cash flows
on specified dates that represent payments of sotely principal
and interest on the outstanding principal amount,

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the
business model in which z financial asset is held at a portfolio
level because this best reflects the way the business is
managed and information is provided to managemant.

The information considered includes:

The stated policies and cbjectives for the portfolio and the
operation of those policies in practice. These include whether
management's strategy focuses on earning contractual
interest income or realising cash flows from the sale of assets;

How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and
reported to the Group's management;

The risks that affect the perfermance ¢f the business model
and how those risks are managed;

How managers of the business are compensated; and

The frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets
in prior periods, the reasens for such sales and expectations
about future sales activity.

Forthe purpose of this assessment “principal” is defined
as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition.
Interest is defined as the consideration for the time value of
money and for the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.q. liquidity risk and
administration costs), as well as a profit margin.
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: POLHIES COMTINUED

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest the Group considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing
whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that
could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows
such that it would not meet this condition. in making this
assessment the Group considers:

Contingent events that would change the amount or timing of
cash flows; and

Terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate.

IFRS 9 contains two classification categories for financial
liabilities: measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. All of the
Group's financial liabilities other than derivative liabilities are
measured at amortised cost.

RITE L
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
Group's balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset

is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
financial asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned. The Group derecognises financial liabil ties when,
and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at tair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
lizbilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities as appropriate on
initial recognition.

Financial assets classified as amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method, less any
impairment. Financial lfakilities classified as amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognised on an effective
yield basis. The effective interest rate method is a method

of calculzting amortised cost and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant peried. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows
through the expected life of the financial instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss
relate entirely to derivative contracts. As noted below, these
instruments are carried in the balance sheet at their fair
value with changes in the fair value recognised in the income
statement as they arise.

AIVIPAIRMENT - FINAMNCIAL SERVITES AND
COMNTRACT ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
{("ECLs"} for customer and other receivables. IFRS @ requires

an impairment provision to be recognised on origination of a
customer advance, based on its ECL. Custormer receivables
relate to trade receivables included in the Group balance sheet.

Additional ECL provisions that are recognised in the income
statement are presented as “Impairment losses on customer
receivables”. Any material change to ECL provisions required
where there is a difference between sale price and carrying value at
the point of derecognition due to a spot debt sale is presented in
the income statement as "Profit on sale of custorner receivables™.

As the Group has determined there is a significant financing
component, the ECL model introduces the concept of staging.

Stage 1 - assets which have not demonstrated any significant
increase in credit risk since origination.

Stage Z — assets which have demonstrated a significant
increase Iin credit risk since ongination.

Stage 3 — assets which are credit impaired {i.e. defaulted).

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the
following bases:

12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are calculated for assets in Stage 1 and lifetime
ECLs are calculated for assets in Stages 2 and 3.

ECL is the product of the PD, exposure at default ("EAD") and
LGD, discounted at the current effective interest rate ("EIR™).

In accordance with [FRS 9, the current EIR is used as the discount
rate because all trade receivables have a variable Interest rate.

The PD is an estimate of the likelhood of defauit over

12 months (stage 1) or the expected lifetime of the debt (stage
2). It is 100% for balances within stage 3 as these have already
defaulted. The calculation of PDs is based on statistical
models that utilise internal data, adjusted to take into account
estimates of future conditions.

The EAD is an estimate of the exposure at the date of default
and is capped so as not to exceed the balance outstanding at the
reporting date because receivables arising from future sales are
not incorporated into the ECL calculation as explained below.

The LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default, including
an estimation of recoveries based on the Group’s history of
recovery rates from debt sales and expectations of how these
are expected to change in the future. Recoveries exclude
estimated future proceeds from VAT Bad Debt Relief.

Instead VAT Bad Debt relief is recognised within the net VAT
crediter in Other creditors at the point at which the receivable
balarce meets the agreed criteria with HMRC for VAT Bad
Debt Relief to apply, generally being that a debt is over 180
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IFRS 9 ordinarily requires an entity to not only consider a loan,
but also the undrawn commitment when calculating the ECL,
where the exposure to credit risk cannot be limited by the
ability tc cancel or demand repayment. However, the guidance
in IFRS 9 excludes from its scope a sales commitment, being
the rights and obligations from the delivery of goods as a
result of a contract with a customer within the scope of IFRS 15.
Thus, a sales commitment is net considered to be a financial
instrument, and therefore the impairment requirements are
not applied by the Group until delivery has occurred and a
receivable has been recognised, at which point the 12-manth
ECL will be recagnised in line with the above.

iy VOINCAEASE N CREDIT #1%

A ﬁnanma! asset will be considered to have experlenced a SICR
since initial recognition where there has been a significant
increase in the lifetime probability of default of the asset.

The assessment uses behavicural risk scores (which comprise
both internal data around how customers have been using
their accounts and credit bureau data as to how customers
have been managing their credit chligations with other
lenders) to compare the estimated risk of default occurring at
the reporting date with that at initial recognition to identify
the propeortional change inrisk score. The SICR threshold

is set at the point at which, in recent historical obsservations,
the proportional change in risk score resulted in the PD after
12 months for such stage 1 customers being higher than

the average PD for stage 2 customers that are one payment
in arrears.

Where the praportional change in risk score since initial
recognition exceeds the threshold, the asset will be deemed
to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk.

The credit risk of a financial asset may improve such that
when this threshold is no longer exceeded, it is no longer
considered to have experienced SICR and would move back
to stage 1. Where a customer has entered into a Covid-19
payment deferral arrangement either with the Group or
another credit provider we have determined that this is an
indicator of a SICR. These customers are considered in the
stage 2 population during the Covid-19 payment deferral and
during an chservation window of 3 months post returning to
normat payment terms,

IFRS 9 requires a backstop to be applied whereby a receivable
that is over a certain number of days past due (presumed to
be no fater than 30 days) is automatically considered to have
experienced SICR. The backstop applied by the Group is a
receivable that is 28 days or more past due. This period is used
as customers have a 28 day statementing cycie. Days past

due are determined by counting the number of days since the
earliest elapsed due date in respect of which the minimum
payment has not been received. Due dates are determined
without considering any grace period or forbearance that may
have been made available to the borrower.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial
assets carried at amortised cost are in default (stage 3).

Evidence that a financial asset is in default includes the
following observable data:

The account has been placed on a payment arrangement (as
part of forbearance measures);

Notification of bereavement has been received; or

The receivable is 56 days or more days past due for new
customers and 84 days past due for established customers.

DEFINITION OF WRITE OFF

The Group consider that an asset should be written off when
it is more than 124 days past due for new customers and 152
days past due for established customers and all collection
activity has been exhausted. Write offs include where
receivables have been sold to third parties in accordance with
the Group's recovery strategies.

MOORFORETION
The Group incorporates forward looking information into
its measurement of expected credit loss. Separate macro-
economic provisions are recognised to reflect the expected
impact of future economic events on a customer’s ability

to make repayments and the losses incurred given

default, in addition to the core impairment provisions
already recognised.

OF FORWARD LOORIMNG DATA

This is achieved through engagement of external expert
advisors to devise a central, downside and upside of potential
economic scenarios and modelling expected credit losses
for each scenario. Management uses the outputs from each
scenario to apply a weighting of 40% central, 30% upside and
30% downside, to estimate the likelihood of each scenario
oceurring to derive a probability weighted estimate of
expacted credit loss.

The macro-economic measures used are changes in
unemployment and real wage earnings and are disclosed in
more detail in note 19. A significant portion of the Group's
customers are not currently in employmeant and therefore this
segment of customers do not have a significant correlation to
these or any other readily determinable economic indicators.

The future macro-economic scenario assumptions are
reviewed at each reporting date and updated accordingly.

CASH AME A

S ECAUVALERNTYS

Cash and cash equwvalents comprise cash an hand and
demand deposits, less bank overdrafts where a right to offset
exists, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject

to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

FINANCIAL 1ES AN BOLHTY

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities.

LiARILT

P25
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FOACTOUNTING POLUCIES CONTINUE

PR BOINGS

interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges,
including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and
direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accrual basis in the
income statement using the effective interest method.

TRADE AND OTHER FPAYARLES

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value,
are not interest bearing and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost.

cOUATY INSTRUMERTS
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

LRCUAL INSTRUMENTE

The Group's activities expose it to market risks of changes
in foreign currency exchange rates relating to the purchase
of overseas sourced products, and interest rates relating
to the Group's floating rate debt. The Group uses foreign
exchange derivatives (forward contracts and options) and
interest rate derivatives (caps) where appropriate to hedge
these exposures. In accordance with its Treasury Policy,
the Group does not use derivative financial instruments for
speculative purposes.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group's
policies approved by the Board of Directors, which provide
written principles on the use of financial derivatives.

Derivatives are classified as financial assets or financial

liabilities at FVTPL and therefore stated at their fair value with
changes in the fair value recognised in the income statement
as they arise. Hedge accounting is not applied by the Group.

Foreign currency and interest rate derivative fair values
represent the estimated amount that the Group would receive
or pay 1o terminate the derivative at the balance sheet date
based on prevailing foreign currency and interest rates.

BROVIZIGNS

The Greup recognises a provision for a present obligation
{legal or constructive) resulting from a past event when it

is more likely than not that it will be required to transfer
econamic berefits to settle the obligation and the amount of
the obligation can be estimated reliably. In the cases where
the amount of the obligation cannot be estimated reliably, no
pravision is made.

Provision is made for customer remediation when the Group
has established that a present obligation exists in respect of
Financial Services products sold in the past. Provision is made
for restructuring costs, including the costs of redundancy,
when the Group has a constructive obligation to restructure,
An cbligation exists when the Group has a detailed formal
plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation
in those affected by starting to implement the plan or by
announcing its main features.

If the Group has a contract that is onerous, it recognises the
present obligation under the contract as a provision, other
than rental costs offset against the right-of-use asset under
IFRS 16. An onerous contract is one where the unavoidable
costs of meeting the Group's contractual obligations exceed
the expected economic benefits.

CONTINGENT LIABHITIES AND ASSETS

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising fram past
events, whose existence will be confirmed only by uncertain
future events, or present obligations arising from past aevents
that are not recognised because either an autflow of economic
benefits is not probable or the amount of the abligation
cannot be reliably measured. Contingent liabilities are not
recognised but information about them is disclosed unless the
possibility of any outflow of economic benefits in settlement

is remote.

Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or mere uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the entity.
Contingent assets are not recognised but information about
them is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits

is probable.
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The Group leases offices, warehauses, retail stores that have
now closed, equipment and vehicles.

Lease terms are negotiated an an individual hasis andd contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by

the lessor.

Where the Group is a lessee, it recognises a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding lease liability, measured at the present
value of remaining cash flows on the lease. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of fixed paymants less any lease
incentives receivable. There are no residual value guarantees
or purchase options present in any contracts entered by the
Group. The lease payments are discounted using the Group's
incremental borrowing rate at transition or at the lease start
date for leases entered into after transition, calculated by
applying a weighting to all recent third-party financing.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at the amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method. When the lease
liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded

in the income statement if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to nil.

Extension and termination options are not currently included
in measurement of any of the leases across the Group, as all
options present in the contracts have been exercised in the
past. Any new leases or renegotiated leases which the Group
enters inte in future containing an extension or termination
option will be considered when determining the lease length
with reference to management intention and historic action.

The Group applies the recognition exemption in FRS 16 for
leases with a term not exceeding 12 months and low value
leases. For these leases the lease payments are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

LHAREIALED PAYMENTS

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain emplayees. Equity-settled share-based payments

are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value
deterrmined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over

the vesting periad, based on the Group’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest. This is recognised as an employee
expense with a corresponding increase in equity. Fair value is
measured using the Mante Carlo method for options subject
to a market-based performance condition and by use of a
Black-Scholes model for all others. For share-based payment
awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value
of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such
conditions and there is no true-up for differences between
expected and actual outcomes.

OWN SHARES MELD BY ERGY

Transactions of the Group sponsored Employee Share
QOwnership Trust ("ESOT"} are included in the Greup financial
statements. The trust's purchases and sales of shares in the
Company are debited and credited directly to equity.

RETIIEMONT BEREF] CO5TH
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
are charged as an expense as they fall due.

For defined benefit retirement benefit schemes, the cost of
providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit
Credit Method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at
the end of each reporting period. Remeasurement comprising
actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset celling

{if applicable) and the return on scheme assets (excluding
interest) are recognised immediately in the balance sheet with
a charge or credit to the statement of comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recorded
in the statement of comprehensive income is not recycled.
Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period

of scheme amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying
a discount rate to the net defined berefit liability or asset.
Defined benefit costs are split into three categories:

Current service cost, past service cost and gains and losses on
curtaiiments and settlements;

Net interest expense or income; and

Remeasurement.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

AR NTING POLUICIES CONTINUED
The Group presents the first two components of defined
benefit costs within operating expenses. Curtailment gains
and losses are also accounted for as a past service cost
within operating expenses. Net interest expense or income is
recognised within finance costs.

The retirement benefit asset recognised in the balance sheet
represents the fair value of scheme assets as reduced by the
present value of the defined benefit obligation. Any asset
resulting from this calculation is recognised in full as the Group
considers it has unconditional right to any surplus after all
members' benefits have been settled.

LUPPLIER REBATES

The Group enters into volume-based rebate arrangements
with suppliers. Rebates are calculated annually based on
agreements in place, which stipulate an agreed percentage
of purchase be granted as a rebate. Rebates are agreed with
suppliers or are probable to be agreed with suppliers before
they are recognised in the income statement, with amounts
receivable recorded in accrued income on the balance sheet.

LR RTIONAL ITEMS

Exceptional items are items of income and expenditure
which are one off in nature and material to the current
financial year or represent true ups to tems presented as
exceptional in prior periods, These are presented separately
in the Consolidated Income Statement, as the Directors
believe that this presentation helps to avoid distertion of
underlying performance.

SUPPLIER PINANUING ARRANGEMERNTS

The Group has a supplier financing scheme as part of its
normal course of business. This scheme is based around the
principle of reverse factoring whereby the banks purchase
from the suppliers approved trade debts owed by the Group,
with the principal purpose being to provide the supplier

with earlier access to liquidity. Access to the supplier finance
scheme is by mutual agreement between the bank and
supplier, where the supplier wishes to be paid faster than
standard Group payment terms, the Group is not party to this
contract. The scheme has no cost to the Group as the fees
are paid by the supplier directly to the banks. The banrks have
no special seniority of claim to the Group upen liguidation
and would be treated the same as any other trade payable.
From the Group's perspective, the invoice payment due date
remains unchanged and the payment terms of suppliers
participating in the supplier financing arrangement are similar
to those suppliers that are not participating. As the scheme
does not change the characteristics of the trade payable,
and the Group's obligation is not legally extinguished until
the bank is repaid, the Group continues to recognise these
liabilities as trade payables.

TR BRI T GRANTS
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant

recognised in profit and loss when they become receivable to
match them with the already incurred staff costs with which
they are intended to compensale.

HOANG CORNCERN

After reviewing the Group’s forecasts and risk assessments
and mzking other enguiries, the Directars have formed a
judgement at the time of approving the financial statements,
that there is a reasonable expectation that the Group and the
Company have adequate rescurces to continue in operational
existence for the 12 months following the date of signing this
Annual Repert and Accounts. For this reason, the Directors
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.

In arriving at their conclusion, the Directers considered
the following:

a) the Group's cash flow forecasts and revenue projections
for the 12 months from the date of signing (the "Base Case"),
reflecting, amongst other things the following assumptions:

The business continues ta be fully operational throughaout
the remainder of the pandemic {as has been the case since
the outset);

Product gross margin pressure continues due to product mix,
a highly promotional retail market and industry-wide increase
in freight rates;

Financial Services revenue reduces as the size of the loan book
reduces as a function of the lower product sales;

FS gross margin declines due to an increase in bad debt and
write offs due to the impact of Covid-19; and

Operating cost efficiencies are maintained in that they
continue at a similar cost to revenue ratio as achieved in FY21.

b) the impact on trading performance of severe but plausible
downside scenarios (the "Downside Case”), including continued
Covid-19 restrictions, the removal of government support
schemes such as Stamp Duty Relief and the Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme and adverse macro-economic conditions,

In particular, the downside scenaric assurnes that the lockdown
restrictions experienced in the second half of the year ended
February 2021 will apply throughout the year ending February
2022 resulting in an adverse impact on retail sales, a reduction
in customer receivable collection rates with a consequent
increase in bad debts and a reduction in the debt securitisation
advance rate. It has also been assumed that the current
unusually high freight rates will continue to apply with an
adverse effect on gross margins.

¢) the committed facilities available to the Group and the
covenants thereon. Details of the Group’'s committed facilities
are set out in note 17, the main components of which are:

A £500m securitisation facility committed until December
2023, drawings on which are linked to prevailing levels of
eligible receivables (£381.9m drawn to the maximum of eligible
customer receivables at the year end);

—— F e . ' - o~ e



N Brown Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2021

An overdraft facility of £12.5m which is subject to an
annual review every July {undrawn as at date of signing of
these accounts).

d) that there are nc forecast breaches of any covenants in
efther the Base Case or Downside Case. In the event that
trading deteriorated further than envisaged in the Downside
Case additional managament actions could be impiemented
which would include sale of customer receivables, working
capital deferrals, temporary reductions in inventory and
capital expenditure and further discreticnary cost reductions.

e} the Group's robust policy towards liquidity and cash flow
management. As at 30 April 2021, the Group had cash of
£84.3m, net restricted cash of £3.3m and undrawn facilities

of £112.5m, giving rise to total accessible liquidity (*TAL") of
£193.5m (FY20: £75m) reflecting, amongst other things, the
benefit of the equity raise in December 2020 {£93.5m, net) and
positive cash generation in the current financial year offset

by a decision by the Board to reduce the RCF by £25m and to
hand back the £50m CLBILS Term Loan Facility.

t) the Group management's ability to successtully manage

the principal risks and uncertainties outlined on p35 to 38
during periods of uncertain economic outlock and challenging
macro-economic conditions.

B REY AOURLES €

5

the Group's accounting policies and the key sources of
estimation uncertainty in these financial statements, which
together are deemed critical to the Group's results and
financial position, are as follows:

IMIPAIRMENT OF CUSTOMER RECEIVABLES

Critical judgement and estimation uncertainty

The allowance for expected credit losses for trade receivables
involves several areas of judgement, including estimating
forward-looking modelled parameters (PD, LGD and EAD),
developing a range of unbiased future economic scenarios,
estimating expected lives and assessing significant increases
in credit risk, based on the Group's experience of managing
credit risk.

Key judgements invalved in the determination of expected
credit loss are:

Determining which receivables have suffered from a significant
increase in credit risk, including customers impacted by
Covid-19 wha have taken out an internal or external Covid-19
paymeant deferral on their repayments; and

Determining the appropriate PD to apply to the receivables.

The SiCR threshold is set at the point at which the proportional
change in the behavioural risk score results in the PD after

12 months for such stage 1 customers being higher than

the average PD for stage 2 customers that are one payment

in arrears.

Where the propertional change in risk score for a customer since
initial recognition exceeds the threshold for the reievant segment
for that customer, the asset will be deemed to have experienced

a significant increase in credit risk.

In management’s judgement, the most appropriate probability
of default parameter in the ECL model is to reflect observed
rates over a two-year period, this is considered to provide a
representative view of default in ordinary times. A shorter period
may lead to a less reliable estimate and increased volatility,
whereas a longer period would be less likely to provide an up-to-
date view of PDs incorporating the above.

Management have taken the judgerment in the current year to
use PD's in line with the previous year end, due to the impact
of Covid-19 which management considered to be artificially
improving the PD and SICR experienced in the previous

12 months as a result of continuing government support
schemes, combined with the FCA instruction that Covid-19
payment deferrals should not affect customer credit files.

Further judgement has been required to determine how to treat
customers who have been impacted by a Covid-19 payment
deferral. Management have considered that for bath customers
who have taken a Covid-19 payment deferral with N Brown or
with an external provider, this equates to a SICR event, and
therefore such customers would be considered to be in a stage 2
population. An observation window, defined as the period after
which a customner cornes off a Covid-19 payment deferral of three
months has been applied before which customers wili return to
the normal modelied stage 1 ECL if subsequent evidence does
not support that a SICR has occurred. During this pericd, and

for any customers on a live Covid-19 payment deferral, these
receivabsles have been provided for in line with the stage 2
population ECL.

Once collection strategies are no longer appropriate or effective,
management typically sell customer receivables to third parties.
Therefore the estimated sales price for these balances is a key
judgement. The expected recovery through debt sales builtinto
the year end ECL reflects an average of prices achieved over the
previous 2 years.

Sensitivities of estimation uncertainties

To indicate the level of estimation uncertainty, the impact
on the ECL of applying different model parameters are
shown below:

A 20% increase or decrease in PDs would lead to a £3m
(2020: £5.9m) increase or decrease in the ECL;

Extending the observation window for Covid-i9 payment
deferrals by one month would lead to a £2.2m increase or
£2.3m decrease to the ECL respectively; and

Aninrreaca or dacreace to neal inamnlnument of 2% wanld
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
SOFTWARE AND DEVELOPMENTY 0TS

Critical judgement

Included within intangible assets are significant software

and development project costs in respect of the Group's
technological develcpment programme. Included in the year
are agile asset development costs; costs spent on the Group's
assets to integrate with and move to SAAS and Cloud based
technologies; development of the new website and initial
design and development of the Financial Services Platform.
Initial capitalisation of costs is based on management's
judgement that technological and feasibility is confirmed,
the project will ke successfully completed and that future
economic benefits are expected to be generated by the
project. If these criteria are not subsequently met, the asset
would be subject to a future impairment charge which would
impact the Group's resulfts.

Estimation uncertainty

The estimated useful lives and residual values are based on
management’s best estimate of the period the asset will be
able to generate economic benefits for the Group and are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis from the date at which a change in life is determined te
be triggered.

Following the eguity raise at the end of 2020, management

performed a detailed review of the useful economic lives of its’

legacy assets in fight of general advancements in technalogy
and the Group’s revised strategy. More detail on the outcome
and impact of this review, and sensitivity of the estimation
uncertainty is disclosed in note 12.

IWIPARMENT OF DMNONFE
Critical judgement and estimation uncertainty
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use. The vatue in use calculation is based on a discounted
cash flew model. The cash flows are derived from the Group'’s
three- year forecasts, taken into perpetuity, and are adjusted
for restructuring activities that the Group 15 not yet commitied
to or significant future investments that will enhance the
performance of the assets of the CGU being tested.

The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used
as well as the expected future cash inflows and the long-term
growth rate used in perpetuity. The key assumptions used

to determine the recoverable amount for the Group's non-
financial assets, including a sensitivity analysis, are disclosed
and further explainad in note 12.

ALUTANT L mIng ARD Ok

Critical judgement

The ongoing legal daim with Allianz iInsurance plc has been
disclosed as a contingent liability in note 26. The Group

does not consider it appropriate to make any provision in
respect of this claim because it is not possible to reliably
estimate the amount of any possible financial outflow as at
the balance sheet date. No asset has been recognised for the
counterclaim as there is no certainty as to whether the claim
will be successful.

REFINED BENEFIT PLAM

Key source of estimation uncertainty

The cost of the defined benefit pension plan and the present
value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial
valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various
assumptions that may differ from actual developments in

the future. These include the determination of the discount
rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and future
pension increases. Due 1o the complexities involved in

the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit
obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions.
Sensitivities performed on key assumptions are discussed in
note 29. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.
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2020
{Kestatad)”
7 S Em

An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:
Sale of goods 518.6
Pustage and packaging L 284
Product Revenue st 547.0
Credit account interast 263.3
Other Financial Services income 27.2
Financial Services Revenue 270.5
8375

Total Group Revenue o

Y oReterto onor yeas adjustment note 37
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

The Group has identified two operating segments in accordance with IFRS 8 - Operating segmenis, Preduct Revenue and Financial
Services [“FS”). The Board receives monthty tinancial information at this level and uses this information te monitor the performance of the
Group, allocate resources and make operational decisions. Internal reporting focuses and tracks revenue, cost of sales and gross margin
performance across these two segments separately, however it does not track operating costs or any other income statement items.

Revenues and costs associated with the product segment relate to the sale of goods through various brands. The product cost of sales is
inclusive of VAT bad debt relief claimed of £18,0m (2020 £20.7m) as a consequence of customer debt write off, with the write off presented in
FS cost of sales. The revenue and costs associated with the Financial Services segment relate to the income frem provision of credit terms for
customer purchases, and the costs to the business of providing such funding. Ta increase transparency, the Group has included additional
voluntary disclosure analysing product revenue within the relevant operating segment, by strategic and other brand categorisation.

2020
e [Restated)™
- - s £m
Analysis of revenue:
Sale of goods o i BN 518.6
Postage and packaging - 284
Product - tatal revenue _ _ o 5470
Other Financial Services revenue . 272
Credit account interest e 26373
Financial Services - total revenue e 290.5
Group Revenue 7 N 8375
Analysis of cost of sales
Product —total cost of sales (2&679)
Impairment losses on customer receivables 1339
Profit on sale ot customer receivables 6.3
Other Financial Services cost of sales 2.1
Financial Services —total cost of sales ) {1297}
Cost of sales PR (397.4)
Gross profit e 4399
Gross proft margin I 52.5%
Gross margin — Product P 51.0%
Giass margin - Financial Sarvices S 55.4%
Warehouse and fulfiiment Al (781}
Marketing and production - 126.0)
Other administration and payroll (121}
Adjusted operating costs before exceptional items (333.2)
Adjusted EBITDA : 1067
Adjusted EBITDA margin 12.7%
Depreciation and arnortisation ’ (30.9
Exceptional iterns charged to operating profit (see note & [28.5)
Opa-asting profi S 481
Finance costs : (170
Fair value adjustrnents to finandial instruments including exceptional fair value gain {see note 4} - 4.7

Profit hefors taxation T 357
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Analysis of Product revenue;
Strategic brands’

Cther brands’

Total Product revenue
Financial Services revenue

Group Revenue

* Refer to proryear adjustment note 32

T ostrategic orands include JC Walliams, Simply Be, Ambrese Wilson, Jacamo and Home Essentials

2020
{Restated)*

g fm

' 3727
743
5470
2905

8375

2 Other brangs nclude Fashion World, Marisota and Premier Man,H-gh & Mighty. House of Bath, and Figleaves which wer= folded inta Strategic brands in FY21

Management have aligned the product revenue analysis to strategic and other brands, following the Group's strategic change and

focus of the business on the five key strategic brands. The prior year comparatives have been aligned accordingly.

The Group has one significant geographical segment, which is the United Kingdem. Revenue derived from freland and the USA
amounted te £27.6m (2020: £30.1m}. Operating results from international markets amcunted to £6.2m profit (2020: £3.3m profit).
All segment assets are located in the UK and Ireland. All non-current assets are located in the UK with the exception of £0.1m lecated

in Ireland.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance, assets and liabilities are not measured separately for the two reportable
segments of the Group and therefore are disclosed together below. Impairments of tangible and intangible assets in the current

period were £2.0m (2020: £1.8m).

Capital additions
Capital disposals
Balance sheet

Total segment assets
Total segment labilities

Segment net assats

Profit for the period has been arrived at after charging/(créditiné):

Net foreign exchanga gains

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
fmpairment of property, plant and eguipment
Impairment of intangible assets

Amaorusation of intangible assots

Cost ot nventorics recognised as expense
Staff costs (note 7)

Auditor's remuneration for audit services
Netrmpairmeant charge (note 16)

Exceptional items [note &)

_ease costs (note 27)

Depreciation of nght-ot-use assets inote 27)

© Rofer te mirior year sdjustment ns te 32

2020
Restatedi*

fm

392

11354

R 8179

375

2020
(Restated)”
fm

(3.2)
4.2
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

HE PERIOD CONTINUED

A more detailed analysis of auditor's remuneration is provided below:

rE 2020
Audit of these Group financial statements . 0.2
Audit ot inancial statements of subsidiaries of the Company T 09
Non-audit services N -
Total ) S S 11

Fees in relation to non-audit-related services include fees of £60,000 (202¢: £30,000) relating to assurance services and £450,000,
of which £45,000 was required by regulation (2020: £ril) in refation to the equity raise completed by the Group during the year.

Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts were £20,000 (2020: £20,000).

A description of the werk of the Audit and Risk Committee is set out in the Corporate Governance Statement on ph5 and
includes an explanation of how auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by
the auditor.

cwy TERAG

o 2020
7 7 Co fm
Strategic change 7 . o - T 35
Impairment of tangible, intangible assets and brands e 1.8
Legal costs B 1.0
Customer redress (note 22) e 229
Tax matters ! ©.7)

Gain from early settlement of derivative contracts
lterns charged to profit béiorertax ) 285

O,
LR AT GIL AN DT

In line with the Board's strategic reviews and multi-year transformation of the business, a material level of cost reduction
programs have been completed as well as an increased focus and refinement of the Group's five strategic brands.

During the current year, total redundancy costs of £5.2m have been incurred across the Group including Figleaves, in order to

align the Group’s people costs to deliver an organisational design that supports the revised strategy. A further £2.7m has been
incurred on the restructure and the transfer of the Figleaves business under the Simply Be brand, including stock write down of
£1.7m and cnerous contract provisions of £0.8m.

The restructuring plans for both Figleaves and rest of the Group were announced to the affected employees prior to the end of
the year, which represents a constructive obligation for the Group at the year end. The costs incurred are substantia! in scope
and impact, and incremental to the Group's normal operational and management activities, and therefore recognised within
exceptional costs. All payments are expected to be made within FY22. The one-off costs related to the transformation are
substantially complete.
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In accordance with the requirements of IAS 36 management
have assessed the carrying value of the intangible assets held
in respect of the international {(£1.2mj and Figleavas (£0.8m;
businesses, following the Group’s strategic decision during
the year to focus on the UK as a market and the five strategic
brands, and have written the value of these assets down in full.

The impairment in the period is offset by a credit release
of £0.3m relating to the reversal of previously recognised
impairment on capitalised IT develepment.

in the prior year, management assessed the carrying value of
the intangible and tangible assets held in respect of the High
& Mighty, Slimma, Diva and Dannimac brands. Following this
review, as well as the refocus to the Group's five strategic
brands, the remaining value of the intangible asset held for the
afore mentioned brands (£1,8m) was written down in full.

During the prior year, a £1.0m praovision was recognised for
future expected legal casts to defend the Allianz Insurance
ple claim and continuing to proceed with the counterclaim
referred to in note 26. The trial date has now been set to
March 2022 and as a result of the timetable extension, the
expected total future legal costs have increased. An increase
in the provision of £1.1m has been recognised in the

current year.

CRISTIOMER HEDRES:

Redress activity, other than the Official Receiver complaints,
has been concluded in the current year resulting in a net
release to the provision of £0.1m. The provision held as at

27 February 2021 is £1.6m as disclosed in note 22. Buring the
prior period, a charge of £22 9m was made to reflect the
additional volume of PPl information requests and claims
received in the final days leading up to and including the

29 August 2019 deadline, including the amount relating to the
estimated Official Receiver complaints.

Thn wWHATTERS

During the year, the Group reached agreement with HMRC
to settle its long-running dispute with respect to the VAT
treatment of certain marketing and non-marketing costs and
the allocation of those costs between our Retail and Financial
Services businesses. Total and final payment in the year
amounted to £3.7m, compared to the opening provision held
of £3.8m thus resulting in a release in the period of £0.1m.

The Group has recognised an additional charge in the current
year of £1.1m in respect of further costs and interest expected
to be incurred in relation to further matters under discussicn
with HMRC over a number of historical VAT and other

tax matters.

i DN EARLY RETTLEMENY OF

s ey et e . .
CEBIVATIVE TR TH L

¥ ot

A £1.4m credit was recognised in the period representing
the gain achieved on the sarly settlement of foreign currency
derivative contracts that were no longer required following
the decline in product purchases driven by the sudden and
significant impact of Covid-19 at the start of the period.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

2020
N Numbar

The ;ﬂverage mc-mth\y number of employees- (\'ncludiné Executive Dire-c-tors) was: o
Distribution 1,154
Sales and administration T 1,372
o o o L 252
Their aggregate remuneration comprised: o 2020
B ) i B £
Wages and salaries h T o o &75
Social security costs &1
Other pension costs {see note 29) 6.0
Share option costs/(crodit) (see note 28) ) : .3
783

Wages and salaries of £67.3m are net of £3.8m of government grant received in respect of the furlough scheme. The Group took
advantage of the Government coronavirus job retention scheme and 596 cofleagues were placed on furlough from March 2020
te November 2020,

The aggregate amount of remuneration paid or receivable by Directors in respect of services in the year was £1.9m (2020; £1.9m}.

The aggregate amount of contributions paid to a pension scheme in respect of Directors’ qualifying services was £0.1m
{2020: £0.1m). Retirement benefits are accruing in respect of qualifying services in defined contribution pension schemes for
three Directors (2020; two).

No amounts were paid to or receivable by Directars underiong-term incentive schemes in respect of qualifying services in the
year (2020: £nil}.

Details of individual Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in the Directors’ Rermuneration Report on p76 to 94.

G FINARNCE CO5TS

2020

. - o - - S o t fm
Interost on bank overdrafts, loans and lease liabilities A 17.8
Net pension interest credit (see note 29) ot Q.7

171
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2020
Tax recegrised -0 the mcanmre statenrent ) m
Current tax

Charge tor the period 2.7

Adjustmants in respect of previous periods oA

i ) 28
Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary timing differences . 4.4

Adjustments in respect of previous periods 11

bh

Total tax expenss 8.3

UK Corporation tax is calculated at 19% (2020: 19%) of the estimated assessable profit for the period. Taxation for other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The UK deferred tax asset/(liability) as at 27 February 2021 has been calculated based on the enacted rate as at the balance sheet date
of 19% with the exception of the retirement benefit scheme where deferred tax has been provided at the rate of 35%. In the 3 March
2027 Budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will remain at the current 19% and increase to 25% from 1 April 2023, This will have
a consequential effect on the Group's future tax charge. ¥ this rate change had been substantively enacted at the current balance
sheet date the deferred tax liability would have decreased by £1.3m.

The charge for the period can be reconciled to the profit per the Income statement as follows:

2020
Profit before tax 7 B - 357
Tax at the UK Corporation tax rate of 19% (2020: 19%) 6.7
Effact of change in deferred tax rate : 0.4
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit . 0z
Effect ot difterent tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other junsdictions : 0.2
Tax effect of adjustments in respact of previous periods 1.2
Tax expense for the period e 83
In addition to the amount charged to the income statement, tax movements recogrised directly through equity were as follows:
7 2620
Tax recognised in other comprehensive income ) o ) £ ~ tm
Dreterred tax — remeasurement cf retirement benetit obligations 03
Tax charge in the statement of comprehensive income 0.3

In respect of Corporation tax, as at 27 February 2021 the Group has provided a total of £2.8m (2020; £13.2m) for patential tax
future charges based upon the Group's best estimate and their discussions with HMRC. The Group has now resolved these
historical open corporation tax positions with the majority of the 2020 provision being settled during the current year, and the
closing 2021 provision settled in March 2021,
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

I DVIDEMNDS
2020
) o L
Armounts recogniséd as distributions to equity holders in the perod:
Final dividend for the 52 weeks ended 29 February 2020 of il (2020: 4.27p) per share 121
Interim dividend for the 57 weeks ended 27 February 2021 of nil (2020: 2.83p} per share 8.0
201

Propo-sed final dividend for the 52 weeks endg_d_%?_’ February 2021 of nit (2020: nil} per share . o -

The calculation of earnings per ordinary share is based on earnings after tax and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the period.

The adjusted earnings per share figures have also been calculated based on earnings before exceptional items and fair value
adjustments, which are those items that da not form part of the recurring operational activities of the Group and are so substantial in
nature and impact that the Directors believe that they require separate disclosure to avoid distortion of underlying performance (see
nate &) and certain other fair value adjustments. These have been calculated to allow the shareholders to gain an understanding of the
underlying trading performance cf the Group. For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
is adjusted to assume conversion of dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

: 2020

Earnings fm
Eamrwr\gs for the purposes of basic and diluted earmﬂ-ig:s pr)_mhare bemqm—\! p.)_r-ofir attributable to eqm’tyrhofrdrerrs 7 ' 274
of the Parent Company

2020
MNumber of shares {000s) B - 7 Number
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earmings per share ol 284,665
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Share options 297
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share T 284962

2020
Earnings from continuing operations . o fm
Total net profit attributable te equity holders of the parant for the purpose of basic earnings per share 274
Fair value adjustment to financial instruments {net of tax} 38
Exceptional iterns {net of tax) - 230
Adjustad earnings for the purposes of adjusted earnings per share ) o L 466
The dencminators used are the same as those detailed above for basic and diluted earnings per share.

2020
Adjusted earnings par share PR  Pence
Basic - - s 7 . 16.37
Diluted . 16.35

2020
Earnings per skare o  Pence
Basic S 943
Difuted ) o ) G462

In December 2020, the Group completed an equity raise for £93.5m net proceeds, which were used to eliminate unsecured debt and
accelerate the Group's strategic investment. As part of the equity raise, a total number of 174,666,053 ordinary shares were issued,
which has subsequently led to an increase in the weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of both the basic and
diluted earnings per share, and therefare a reduction in both against the prior year.

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date
of authorisation of these financial statements.



N Brown Group ple Annual Renort and Accounts 2021

e
ASSETS

o nd b

Customer
Brands Software Database Total
frr fm £m fm
Cost
At 2 March 2019 164 or4 1Y 3802
Additions - 327 - 327
Disposals - (255 - (359
At 29 February 2020 169 3582 19 3770
Additions - 18.4 - 84
Disposals - - - -
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At Z March 2U01% 15 218.0 1% 2350
Charge for the period - 24.7 - 267
[rapairment 1.8 - - 18
Disposals - (35%) - (35.9)
At 29 February 2020 167 2068 19 2254
Charge for the period - 345 - 34.5
Impairment - 19 - 17
Transter from tangible assets - 04 - 0.4
Lisposals - - - -
Carrying amount
At 29 February 2020 ) - 1514 - 151.4
At 2 March 2019 1.8 1434 - 145.2

Assets in the course of development included in intangible assets at the year end total £9.8m (2020: £15.2m). No amortisation is
charged on these assets. Borrowing costs of £0.3m (2020: £nil) have been capitalised in the period.

As at 27 February 2021, the Group had entered inte contractual commitments for the further development of intangible assets
of £6.2m (2020: £10.8m) of which £5.2m (2020: £5.4m) is due to be paid within one year.

Research costs of £0.4m were incurred in the year.

TR ta P IS TIAAVED USEFUIL BLODNOMIL LIVES

i

The successful equity raise and refinancing in December 2020 has enabled the Group to push ahead with strategic investment
in technology advancements. Following this the Group has therefore performed a detailed review of the usaful economic lives
("UEL") of its legacy assets in light of general advancements in technology and the Group's revised strategy.

An assessment has been performed, on an asset line basis, to consider whether the remaining UEL continues to be the best
estimate in respect of the likely period of continued use of each asset, with reference to the Group's strategy and technology
roadmap to estimate when a replacement or other change in circumstance would resultin the obsclescence or retirement
of those assets. Assets with a total Net Book Value {NBV") of £1149m have been identified where a revision of their UEL was
required. A summary of impact of this assessment is as follows:

Additional amortisation charge of £6.6m has been incurred in the current financial year in respect of those assets where their
UEL has been shortened; and

Additional amortisation charge of £10m, f4.4m and £2.5m is expected over the next 3 financial periods respectively as a result of
the revision of UELs on these assets. This will be offset by a reduction in amortisation charge further into the future,
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12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED

SENLIVIVITY OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAIMNTY

To indicate the level of sensitivity in relation to the judgement
apelied in determining the revised usefu! economic lives, we
have assessed the impact of reducing or increasing the UELs of
the affected assets by 12 months. Where the increase results in a
lenger life than the original UEL, no change has been applied:

A reduction in the revised UEL of the affected assets by a
further 12 months would increase the expected amartisation
charge for the following financial year by £4m;

An increase in the UEL of the affected assets of a further
12 months would decrease the expected amortisation
charge for the following financial year by £2.4m.

HaPAIRMENT TESTING OF INTANGIBLE ASSEYS
The Group performed its impairment review in February 2021.
The Group considers the relationship between its market
capitalisation and its book value, among other factors, when
reviewing for indicators of impairment. At the balance sheet date,
the market capitalisation of the Group was lower than the Group's
net assets. As this, together with the impact of Covid-19, represent
indicators for impairment, management is required to test for
irnpairment over the Group's total assets, with the recoverable
amount being determined from value in use calculations. In addition,
included within intangibles assets are ongoing projects that

are not yet available for use and therefore not baing amortised,
Where intangible assets are not being amortised management is
required to test for impairment.

The value in use assessment has been perfermed over the Group's
total assets under one CGU, being the smallest group of assets
which generate independent cash inflows, This represents a
change from the prior year where two CGUs were in existence,
being Figleaves and Group excluding Figleaves. During the
current year, the decision was taken to restructure and transfer the
Figleaves business to be under the Simply Be brand, which forms
part of the Group CGU. The transfer of business has progressed
through the financial year, and Figleaves now wholly operates
under the Simply Be brand and trades from our Head Office

in Manchester with fulfiment out of the Distribution Centres in
Oldharn and Hadfield. From the current year end the Group's
results, performance and viability will be assessed for the Group as
a wheie. In line with IAS 36, management therefore considered the
assessment on a single CGU basis as appropriate.

The value in use caleulations use Board-approved forecasts covering
a three-year period as the basis for its cashflow projections, with
accounting adjustments taken to comply with speacific requirements
of IAS 36. The board approved forecasts target medium term
product growth of 7% and an adjusted EBITDA margin of 14%.

These forecasts had regard te historic performance and
knowledge ofthe current market, together with management's
views on the future achievable growth and impact of technological
developments. After the first three-year cash flows from adjusted
forecasts, management have extrapolated the cash flows into

a fourth and fifth year using a growth rate assumption of 34%
taken from analysis of external views of the overall market growth
expected in future. After the fifth year cash flows, a terminal value

was calculated based upon the long-term growth rate and the

The Group's three-year cash flow projections were based upon the
Group's Board-approved three-year plan as at 27 February 2021,

The key assurnplions in the value in use calculations are
considered to be the determination of years 1-3 cashflows
incorporating expected product revenue growth not
attributed to future capital expenditure and expected EBITDA
margin growth, the risk-adjusted pre-tax discount rate, and
the level of capital expenditure cashflows considered to be

of a replacement nature. The key assumptions on revenue

and EBITDA growth reflect historic experience, the expected
recovery in demand post Covid-19 and the anticipated
benefits of product, marketing and other initiatives.

The years 4-5 growth rate and long-term growth rate were
determined with reference to retail market publications and
IMF forecast GDP growth respectively which management
believe are reasonable indicators of expected market growth
rates available at 27 February 2021, however the value in use
is relatively insensitive to these assumptions and are therefore
not considered to be key assumptions.

The long-term growth rate used is purely for the impairment
testing of intangible assets under 1AS 36 “Impairment of
Assets” and does not reflect long-term planning assumptions
used by the Group for investment proposals or for any other
assessments. The pre-tax discount rate was based on the
Group's weighted average cost of capital as at 27 February
2021, taking into account the cost of capital and borrowings, to
which specific market-related premiurm adjustments are made.

The key assumptions are as follows:
Years 116 3 expected product revenue and EBITDA margin growth;

Replacement Capital expenditure of £22m per year; and
Pre-tax discount rate: 13.1% (2020: 11.2%).

The impairment review performed over the Group's CGU has
indicated that no impairment is required over the remaining
assets of the Group. The recoverable amount exceeds its
carrying amount by £242m.

The following sensitivities have been performed:

a} Within years 1-3 expected cashflows, if product revenue
growth were to drop to less than 1.2% on average per
annum, or ERBITDA margin improvement was less than 0.12%
on average par annum the value in use would indicate
an impairment;

) An increase to replacement capital expenditure cashflows
by greater than £23.6m per year (108% increase} would
result in an impairment; and

c) Increasing the discount rate by 1% reduces the headroom
calculated through the value in use by £94m, an increase to the
discount rate of more than 3.7% would result in an impairment.

It is reasonably possible that the Revenue and EBITDA margin

growth assumptions may not be realised in full or in the

timescale envisaged. An impairment would be required if,

all other things being equal, Group EBITDA per annum was

£199m lower than forecast.
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Lard and  Fixtures and

buldings  equipment Total
£ fm fn

Cost i
At 2 March 2019 591 122.7 181.8
Additions - 65 6.5
Reclassifications - 09 09
Cisposals - {(50.1) (501
At 29 February 2020 ' i ' 591 80.0 1291
Additions ' - 17 17
[Disposals o - - ) -
Accumulated depreciation a-h_d-impairment
At 2 March 2019 6.6 1058 1224
Charge for the period 1.2 30 472
Disposal - (50.7) (507
At 29 February 2020 ' ' ' ' s 887 755
Charge for the perwﬁ 09 2.8 37
Impairment ~ 0.1 01
Transfer to intangible assets - (0.4 0.4
_Dusposal ) ) - - -
Carrying amount
At 29 February 2020 413 213 826
At 2 March 2019 ' 425 169 594

Assets in the course of development included in fixtures and equipment at 27 February 2021 total £0.7m (2020: £8.7m), and in
land and buildings total £nil (2020: £nil). No depreciation has been charged on these assets.

At 27 February 2021, the Group had not entered into any contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment (2020: £nil).

AR
A list of all investments in subsidiaries, including the name, country of incorporation and proportion of ownership interest,
is given in note 35 to the Company’s separate financial statements.

Rl A Sl
PPN B2 40H

2020

' £m

rinished goods o 7 h i - 7 946
Sundry stocks ' 0.3
949

The inventory balance is net of siock provisions amounting to £6.0m (2020: £7.5m).

A charge of £6.0m (2020: £11.2m) has been made to the income statement in respect of written-down inventories. £1.1m
{2020: £0.3m) of this has been taken to exceptional costs being the write off of stock relating to prands that will no longer
continue to tradle.

The right of return asset in inventory amounted to £2.2m (2020: £3.9m).
There was no inventory pledged as security for liabilities in the current or prior period.

Sundry stocks relate to packaging stocks.
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16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLESD

202G

) fm

Arnount receivable for the sale of goods and services 7 7 : 6569
Allowance for expected credit losses v
MNet trade receivables . 585.2
Other debtors and prepayments ) A ’%.2
Trade and cther receivables ) ) ) o 7 ) feo 6144

Other debtors include a balance of £3.0m (2020: £2.6m) relating to amounts due from wholesale partners.
Trade receivables are measured at amortised cost.

The weighted average Annual Percentage Rate ("APR") across the trade receivables portfolio is 58.2% (2020: 579%). For customers
who find themselves in financial difficuities, the Group may offer revised payment terms (payment arrangements) to support customer
rehabilitation. These revised terms may also include suspension of interest for a period of time.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and bespoke credit limit. Credit limits and scores attributed to custemers are reviewed every 28 days.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 27 February 2021,

The carrying amount of trade receivables whose terms have been renegotiated but would otherwise be past due totalled
£13.4m at 27 February 2021 (2020: £8.7m). Interest income recognised on trade receivables which were impaired as at 27 February 2021
was £13.5m (2020; £16.0m).

The amounts written off in the period of £134.6m (2020: £159.3m) include the sale of impaired assets with a net book value of
£14.3m (2020: £19.9m).

There is no significant concentration of credit risk due to the large number of eredit customers 0.95 millicn (2020: 1.0 million) with
individually small kalances. Credit quality analysis is further analysed in note 19,

(B 2050
Im
'-l'ra.de - )
racaivables

Trade onpayment  Total trade
Ageng of trade receivables ) raceivables  arrangements  recewables
Current —not past due : 550.7 8.7 5594
28 days — past due S o o 359 15 374
56 days - past due 3/ o 125 07 202
84 days — past due - . : 13.0 0.6 13.6
112 days — past due e - 89 04 23
Over 112 days — past due B ) 16.4 0.6 170
Gross trada receivables T . Lo 544.4 12.5 6569
Allowance for expectaed credit losses - [ . {663} 5.4 (71.7)
Nettrade receivables o ST o i 5781 71 585.2
N 2020

Allswance for expectad credit losses 1oz CERTT Total
Opening balance 208 78 o TA
Impairment 434 637 T 1427
Utilised during the period 39.1} 63.7) i 168 1)
Closing balance o _ I (- B I -
2020

B B fm

Impairment o ' 1477
Recoveries - (1Y)
Other iterns 19

Netimpairment charge e , o o R .
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Anee
Lusis

£fm
Bank loars - N (544.5)
Net overdraft facility -
The borrowings are repayable as follows:
Within one year -
in the second year 1544.6)
In the third to fifth year : -
Amcunts due tor settlement after 17 months ) : 1544.6)
All borrowings are held in sterling.
L 2020
B %
The weighted avcragé interest rates pé’\d were as follows:
Net overdraft facility o 2.3
Bank loans 3.0

The principal features of the Group's borrowings are as follows:

The Group operates a notional pocling and net overdraft facility whereby cash and overdraft balances held with the same

bank have a legal right of offset. The Group had a net overdraft balance of £nil at 27 February 2021 (2020: £nil). The facility had
a maximum overdraft limit of £7.5m at 27 February 2021 (2020: £27.5m} and was amended after the year end to a maximum
overdraft limit of £12.5m. The overdraft is repayable on demand, unsecured and bear interest at a margin over bank base rates.
in line with the requirements of IAS 32, gross balance sheet presentation is required where there is no intention to settle any
amounts net. The net balance has therefore been separated between overdrafts and cash balances and the Group has restated
both the Cash and cash equivalents and the Bank loans and overdraft balances as at 29 February 2020 to show these amounts
gross. Further detail is included in note 25.

The Group has a bank loan of £3819m (2020: £419.6m) secured by a charge over certain "eligible” trade debtors {current and
0-28 days past due) of the Group and is without recourse to any of the Group's other assets. The facility has a current limit

of £500m which is committed to December 2023, following refinancing in December 2020 where the term of the facility was
extended. An assessment was undertaken as required under IFRS 9 as to whether a substantial modification had occurred
resulting in the derecognition of the existing lability, however the modification was not considered to substantially modify the
liability on either a quantitative or gualitative basis. Unamortised fees relating to this facility of £2.3m are offset against the
carrying amount of the loan.

The Group also has unsecured bank loans of £nil (2020: £125m} drawn down under a medium-term bank RCF. The facility was
amended during the year to a maximum limit of £100m from £125m, and is committed to December 2023, after being extended
during the year from an end date of September 2621. On modification, a substantial modification of the existing liability was
deemed to have taken place under IFRS 9, and the existing liability was derecognised, with a new liakility recognised under the
revised terms, The remaining loan drawdown was repaid in full on completion of the refinancing and continues to be £nif as at
the year end.

During the year, the Group secured a new up to £50m three-year Term Loan facility, provided by its lendears under the
acvernment’s CLBILS. The facility, which was committed until May 2023 was fully repaid and handed back without penalty on
24 December 2020, following the completion of the eguity raise, on which a loss on derecognition of previously capitalised fees
of £0.4m was incurred.

The covenants inherent to these borrowing arrangements are closely monitored on a regular basis. Borrowing covenants
continue to be in place on the securitisation and RCF facilities respectively. The key covenants for the RCF are as foliows:

Leverage, representing the ratio of adjusted net debt on adjusted EBITDA, <1.5; and
Interest cover, representing the ratio of adjusted EBITDA on net finance charges, »4.0.
Throughout the period, all covenants have been complied with, As part of the revised banking facilities secured in May 202C, it

was aqgreed with our lenders to relax the quarterly leverage covenant ratio to not exceed 2.0:1 as at 29 August 2020, rather than
1.5:1. Despite this relaxation the actual measure at 29 August 2020 was 0.38, well within the actual and previous limit.
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17 BAKNK BORROWINGS CONTINUED

Al borrowings are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Greup uses interest
rate cap derivatives to manage this risk. The fair value of interest rate caps outstanding at the year end was £0.7m (2020: £0.8rn),
the caps cover the whole facility of £500m on a netional basis. Based on current weighted average interest rates and the value of
bark lcans at 27 February 2021 the estimated future interest cost per annum until maturity is £2.5m (2020: £16.2m).

Note 19 summarises the objectives and policies for holding or issuing financial instruments and similar contracts, and the
strategies for achieving those objectives that have been followed during the period.

The Group continues to have a supplier financing arrangement which is facilitated by HSBC. The principal purpose of this
arrangement is to enable the supplier, if it so wishes, to sell its receivables due from the Group to 2 third-party bank prior to
their due date, thus providing earlier access to liquidity. From the Group's perspective, the invoice payment due date remains
unaltered and the payment terms of suppliers participating in the programme are similar to those suppliers that are not
participating. The maximum facility limit as at 27 February 2021 was £10.0m {2020: £10.0m). The facility limit was increased to
£15m after the year end. At 27 February 2027, total of £8.0m (2020: £6.3m) had been funded under the programme. The scheme
is based around the principle of reverse factoring whereby the bank purchases from the supplier's approved trade debts

awad by the Group. Access to the supplier finance scheme is by mutual agreement between the bank and supplier, where the
supplier wishes to be paid faster than standard group payment terms; the Group is not party to this contract. The scheme has
no cost to the Group as the fees are paid by the supplier directly to the bank. The bank have no special seniority of claim to
the Group upon liquidation and would be treated the same as any other trade payable. As the scheme does not change the
characteristics of the trade payable, and the Group's obligation is nat tegally extinguished until the bank is repaid, the Group
continues to recognise these liabilities within trade payables and all cash flows associated with the arrangements are included
within operating cash flow as they continue to be part of the normal operating cycle of the Group. There is no fixed expiry date
on this facility.

There is no material difference between the fair value and carrying amount of the Group's borrowings.

B R W
LR 1

HAMOIAL IMSTRUMENTS

At the balance sheet date, details of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts that the Group has committed to are as follows:

E 2040

. o . s £m

National amount - sterling contract value R 305.7
Fair value ot (hability)/asset recognised ) ] ) 7 o 3

The fair value of foreign currency derivatives contracts is their market value at the balance sheet date. Market values are
calculated with reference to the duration of the derivative instrument together with the observable market data such as spot and
forward interest rates, foreign exchange rates and market volatility at the balance sheet date.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives recognised, being currency derivatives where hedge accounting has not been applied,
amounted to a charge of £10.0m (2020: credit of £4.7m) to income in the period.

Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are all greuped into Level 2 (2020: Level 2).

Leve! 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly {i.e. derived from prices).

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the current or prior period.

DBy et TUERL LM W g e
BN i TR S Bl S
PRI S R P

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as gaing concerns while maximising
the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The debt and equity structure of the Group
consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 17 and lease liabilities as recognised under [FRS 16, disclosed
in note 27, net of cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 25 and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent,
comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in notes 23 1o 24 and the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.
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he gearing ratio at the year end is as follows:

Sl 2020

fm
) ) (8erstatedl*

Debt B 5146
Cash and cash equivalents o (161.7
Bank overdrafts ) 142
Adjusted net debt ' 4971
Lease lability &9
Net debt 504.0
Equity ) ) ) R - 3175
Gearing ratic 159%.

* Both Cash and casn equivalents snd Bank overdrafts have beenrostated in 2020 to gross up the stfect ol bank accounts i overdralt and cash separately
fsee note 25;

Debt is defined as long-term and short-term borrowings, as detailed in note 17.

Equity includes &l capital and reserves of the Group attributable to equity holders of the parent.

DL ERESSL L IMPOLED CAPITAL REQUIREMENT
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. However, its wholly owned subsidiary, J.D. Williams & Co
Ltd does have an FCA regulatory minimum capital requirement, which it comfortably exceeded throughout the year.

parya 7 : s B T
: ! v : I Ol P

Cetails of the significant accounting paolicies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recagnition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial
liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2.

FINEANTIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

The financial risks facing the Group include foreign exchange risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk.
The Group seeks to minimise the effects of certain of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to hedge these
risk exposures as governed by the Group's policies. The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including
derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

FOREEM CURBENCY RISA AMALGDM ST

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, primarily relating to purchases of inventories
and revenue from its overseas operations. Hence, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are
managed within approved policy parameters utilising foreign exchange derivative contracts.

It is the policy of the Group to enter into foreign exchange derivative contracts to cover specific foreign currency payments for the
purchase of overseas sourced products. Group policy aflows for these exposures tc be hedged for up to twe years ahead. At the
balance sheet date, details of the notienal value of outstanding US dollar foreign exchange derivative contracts that the Groug has
committed to are as follows:

g 2020

fm fm

Less than & monﬂws 7 - - - - - 7 i 142.6
610 12 months s 992
12 1o 18 months 412
Greater than 18 months - 229
3059

Forward contracts outstanding at the period end are contracted at US dollar exchange rates ranging between 1.29 and 1.37.
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The following table details the Group's hypothetical sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in sterling against the relevant foreign
currencies. The sensitivity rate of 10% represents the Directors’ assessment of a reasonably possible change., The table below
illustrates the sensitivity to the Group's reported operating profit before the impact of fair value adjustments on derivative instruments.
The Group takes out forward contracts to manage its foreign currency exposure.

Euro US Dollar

cdrrency impact currency impact

" 2020 i 2020

_ _ Em fm

income statement

Sterling strengthens by 10% L (09) s (3.0)

Sterling weakans by 10% ) L o S o ) i 1.1 T 12
DATEGORIES OF FINANTIAL INSTRUMENT

2020

Financial assets : £

Dervatives — at fair value through profitand loss : 5.3

Cash and bank balances -~ amortised cost 475

Trade receivables — amortised cost 5852

Other receivables — armortised cost 6.3

L ] 614.3

. 2020

Financial habiEitieg 7 ) ) o , e fm

Derivatives - at fair value through profit andloss 2.2

Bank loans and overdraft — amortised cost : 544.6

Trade and other payables — smortised cast o 73.0

TR 6198

INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk, as entities in the Group borrow funds at floating interest rates but earns interest
from customers at interest rates which are initially fixed for at least 12 months. Where appropriate, exposure to interest rate
fluctuations on indebtedness is managed by using derivatives such as interest rate caps.

The Group has in place interest rate caps on some of its borrowings to hedge the risk of the Group's financing costs increasing
should the London Interbank Offered Rate {"LIBOR") increase above a certain level.

Following recent reform and replacement of benchmark interest rates such as GBP LIBOR and other interbank offered rates
{IBORs"), LIBOR fixings will no longer be representative after 31 December 2021 which creates a requirement for the Group's
contracts which currently reference LIBOR to use an alternative benchmark rate. The Group's stakeholders have been engaged
and a review |s currently being undertaken of impacted documentation to ensure the Group is ready for the cessation of LIBOR
at the end of this year. The Group's most significant risk exposure affected by these changes relates to its secured borrowings.

R TR I C
SR

R A VYLD T AMALY DD
If interest rates had increased by 0.5% and all other variables were held constant, the Group's profit before tax for the 52 weeks
ended 27 February 2021 would have decreased by £1.9m (2020: £2.7m).

This sensitivity analysis has been determined based on exposure to interest rates at the balance sheet date and assuming the
net debt outstanding at the year end date was outstanding for the whole year.

a]

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.

Alf customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures, supplied by independent rating
agencies, which together with assessment against cradit policy, determines the terms and credit limit offered, Customer debtor
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and provision is made for estimated irrecoverable amounts, as detailed in note 16.

The Group has a number of support options for custoners in financial difficulty, which include a temporary suspension of
repaymants, and revision af minimum payment terms. Over the last year, the Group has also provided additional extended support
for customers impacted bv Covid-19. by allowing customers to defer pavments for up to & months as a Covid-19 pavment deferral
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The following table sets out information about the overdue status of trade receivables in Stages 1, 2 and 3.

Ageing of trade recevables
Current - not past due
28 days — past due

56 days — past due

84 days — past dus

172 days — past due
Over N2 days — past due
Gross trade rocoivables

Alowance for expectad credit losses

2020
Ageing of trade raceivables o o o o __StageW o Stageé WStage 3  Toral
Currenit—not past due 516.2 295 13.7 5594
28 days — past due - 353 240 3/3
56 days - past due - 17.5 24 200
84 days —past due - - 13.7 137
112 days - past dus - - 23 23
Over 112 days — past due - - 171 17
Gross trade recevables i i 516.2 82.3 584 6569
Allowance for expected credit losses {13.1) (20.8) (37.8) (711.7)

As at 27 February 2021 current debtors were included in Stage 2 if the receivable had suffered from a significant increase in credit risk.
Debtors which were on & Covid-19 payment hold, or within a post Covid-19 payment hold observation window of three months were
included in Stage 2. Debtors which were in default or on an agreed interest free payment arrangement were included in Stage 3.

e e e et s et B s g
I S RN SRS VR wrd AR e Y

The economic scenarios used as at 27 February 2021 included the following key indicators, provided by Experian as external advisers,
for the UK for the calendar years 2021 to 2025:

2022 2023 2024 2025

Unemployment rate {%} Basc 7 - - R - 6.3 50 45 43
Upside : 56 4.4 38 34

Downside 71 564 51 5.0

Annual real wage growth (%) Base 1.1 12 15 1.4
Upside 24 2.3 25 23

Downside S 0z 0.4 0.7 0.8

The scenarics above have been applied to all customers within the Group's ECL model.

Predicted relationships between the key indicators and default and loss rates on various portfolios of financial assets have been
developed based on historical data.

The amaounts derecognised in the period include the sale of impaired assets with a net book value of £14.3m (202G: £199m).
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MOIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

NOQRPOOATION OF FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION (075

Expectéd Credit Losses

Balances as at 29 February 2020

Transfer Stage 1

Transfer Stage 2

Transter Stage 3 . . o
Remeasurernent of balances R - T

New financial assets originatad

Financat assets that have been derecogrnized . . o -
Write-offs N . r s
Balances as at 27 February 2021

DL ICHT Y FISH MANAGEMENT
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group manages liquidity
risk by maintaining adequate banking and borrowing facilities and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and

matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Included in note 17 is a description of additionat undrawn facilities that
the Group has at its disposal and details of the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its non- derivative financial liabilities.

The table below shows the maturity analysis of the undiscounted remaining contractual cash flows (including estimated interest
payrments) of the Group's financial liabilities, including cash flows in respect of derivatives:

R
IS

Carrvi

kim(;a;n; e RN )
2021 ) Im P :
Non-derivative financial liabilities - .
Secured bank loans
Trade payabies
Lease habilities
Other creditors
Accruals and deterred income
Derivatives: gross settled
Cash inflows
Cash outflows .
2020 2020 2020 2070 2020 2020
Carrying  Contractual 1year 1to <2 2ta <5 Syears
amourmt  cash flows or less years years anid over

2020 - Em ) frm ) [ fm Em £m
Secured bank loans (544 &) (549.5}7 (16.4) (5331 - -
Trade payables 659 {659 1655 - - -
Lease labihties ®9) (77} (2.3) 1.9 2.0 (1.4)
Other creditors {7.1) (7.1} A - - -
Accruals 2nd deferred income (375) (37.5) (37.5) - - -

{662.0) [b667.7) {(126.2) (535.0) (2,13 (1.4}
Derivatives: gross settled
Cash inflows 5.3 53 4.0 1.3 - -
Cash outflows 22 (2.2} 1.3} 0.5 - .

6BEEY) {664 .6) {126.5) (5346} 1275} 4

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of each categery of the Group's financial instruments are approximately the same as their carrying value in the
Groun's balance sheet.
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2 DEFERRED T
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current
and prior reporting periods.

Other
Share-  Accelerated Retirement IFRS 9 deferred tax
based tax benefit  transitional Tax  assets and
payments depreciation  obligations  adjustmert losses liablities Total
B 7 B - S ~im frn fm fm Qﬂm”“ ﬁT B __fw
At 2 March 2019 ) ) 0.2 {6.1) 8.4 104 7.6 0.6 4.3
Adjustment on initial application ot IFRS 2 - - - - - - -
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 16 - - - - - 01 01
{Charge)/eredit to income €2 1.2 (0.5) {1.2) 4.0} 0.8) {5.5)
Charge to equity - - 03 - - - {0.3)
As at 79 February 2020 - 4.9 %2 9.2 34 . (1.4
{Chargel/credit to income 01 0.6 (oA {0.2) (17} 1.8 (0.4}

[S—

Chargs tc eguity - - 0./ _ _ _ 07

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset} for
financial reporting purposes:

2020
Deferred tax assets 132

Deferred tax liabilities ) (14.6)
R {1.4)

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £17.5m (2020: £17.5m) and capital losses of £3.2m (2020: £3.2m)
available for offset against future profits on which deferred tax is not recognised. The Group has recognised a deferred tax
asset of £1.9m in relation to trading losses carried forward. As at 27 February 2021, it is management’s expectation that sufficient
profits will arise in future periods to support these losses and therefore will be utilised in full.

2020

£

Trade payab}_e-s- . 659
Other payables ; 71
Accruals and deferred income : 375
Trade and other payables ‘ 1705

Trade payables and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average
credit period taken for trade purchases is 41 days (2020: 54 days).

The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within agreed credit terms.

The Group continues to have a supplier financing arrangement which is facilitated by HSBC. The principal purpose of this
arrangement is to enable the supplier, if it so wishes, to sell its receivables due from the Group to a third party bank prior to their
due date, thus providing earlier access to liquidity. From the Group's perspective, the invoice payment due date remains unaltered
and the payment terms of suppliers participating in the programme are similar to those suppliers that are not participating.

The maximum facility limit as at 27 February 2021 was £10.0m (2020: £10m). The faciiity limit was increased to £15m after the year
and. At 27 February 2021, total of £8.0m (2020: £6.3m) had been funded under the programme. The scheme is based around the
principle of reverse factoring whereby the bank purchases from the suppliers approved trade debts owed by the Group. Access to
the supplier finance scheme is by mutual agreement between the bank and supplier, where the supplier wishes to be paid faster
than standard Group payment terms; the Group is not party to this contract. The scheme has no cost to the Group as the fees are
paid by the supplier directly to the bank. The bank have no special seniority of claim to the Group upon liguidation and would be
treated the same as any other trade payable. As the scheme does not change the characteristics of the trade payable, and the
Group's obligation is nat legally extinguished until the bank is repaid, the Group continues to recognise these liabilities within trade
payables and all cash flows associated with the arrangements are included within operating cash flow as they continue to be part of
the normal operating cycle of the Group. There is no fixed expiry date on this facility,




N Brown Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2021

NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

Customer Strateqgic
recres (_‘Har\gé Dithar Total
) o 7 o ) S o Em £m ) fm - fm
Balance as at 29 February 2020 8.3 2.8 - 1
Provisions made during the period - 5./ 0.7 6.4
Provisions used during the period 6.7) (5.7 [0.4) (12.8)
Non-current - - - -

Current 1.4 28 0.3 4./

DLRIOWE R ATORESS

The provision relates to the Group's liabilities in respect of costs expected to be incurred for payments for historic Financial Services
customer redress, which represents the best estimate of redress obligations, taking into account factors including risk and uncertainty.

Redress activity, other than the Official Receiver complaints, has been concluded in the current year and as at 27 February 2021
the Group holds a provision of £1.6m (2020: £8.3m), which will be paid in the next 12 months.

et PLTFLAREGE

During the prior year the Board undertock a sirategic review and approvad a multi-year transformation of the business,
Fundamental to delivering this strategic transformation is a material level of cost reduction and increased focus and refinement
of the Group's five strategic brands.

During the current year, and in line with the Group's refined strategy and focus on the five key strategic brands, the decision
was taken to transfer the Figleaves business under the Simply Be brand. Figleaves now operates under the Simply Be brand
and trades from our Head Office in Manchester with fulfilment out of the Distribution Centres in Oldham and Hadficld.
Total restructuring costs in the year amounted to £4.0m, relating primarily to redundancy costs of £1.7m, stock write down of
£1.1m, enerous contract provisions of £0.8m and other transfer and logistic costs of £0.4m.

Additional redundancy costs of £3.5m were also incurred relating to the rest of the Group, in order to align the Group's people
costs with the lower volumes incurred during the year.

The restructuring plans for both Figleaves and rest of the Group were announced to the affected employees prior to the end of
the year, which represents a constructive cbligation for the Group at the year end.

23 i
The total charge in the current period of £0.3m relates to further costs and interest in relation to matters under discussion with
HMRC relating te FY19 or prior years.

22 SHARE CAPITAL

2020 020
R e Number fm

Allottad, called-up and fui.ly pald ordinary shares of 11 1/190 gach i .
Opering ac at 27 February 2023 (2 March 2019) . - ZBR817178 .o 3id
Issued in the year T oma - - -
At 27 February 2021 (29 February 2020) BT 285817178 v 314

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled
to receive dividends as declared and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.

In December 2020, the Group completed an equity raise where a total number of 174,666,053 ordinary shares was issued at

an offer price of 57p per share. Net proceeds, sfter accounting for direct transaction costs, amounted to £93.5m. The nomiral
value of the shares issued of £19.5m has been accounted for within share capital with the remaining £74.0m accounted for within
share premium.
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iy

2020

) frn

Balance at 29 February 2020 ' . 0.3
Issue of own shares - -
Balance at 27 February 2021 = 6.3

The own shares reserve represents the cost of shares in N Brown Group ple held by the N Brown Group plc Employee Share
Ownership Trust to satisfy options under the Group's various share-based payment benefit schemes (see note 28).

At 27 February 2027 the employee trusts held 2,240,321 shares in the Company (2020: 1,573,598).

Cash and cash equivalents (which are presented as a single class of assets on the face of the balance sheet} comprise cash at bank and
other short-term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less. included in the amount below is £0.5m (2020; £0.6m)
of restricted cash which is held in respect of the Group's customer redress programmes and £3.0m (202G £3.6m) in respect of our
securitisation reserve account. This cash is available to access by the Group. In addition £1.9m {2020: f4.2rm) was held at the balance
sheet date in relation to an amount to be repaid against the Group's securitisation facility.

Abreakdown of significant cash and cash equivalent balances by currency is as follows:

2070

o ) o ) ) ) fm

Sterling - 7 7 10.2

Euro L 10.3

US dollar - 270

Net cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts ) L 475
Mada up of: : . ' 7 7

Cash and cash equivalents . 1617

Bank overdratts ) . (1142

The Group operates a notional pooling and net overdraft facility whereby cash and overdraft balances held with the same bank
have a legal right of offset. in line with requirements of IAS 32, gross balance sheet presentation is required where there is no
intention to settle any amounts net. The balance has therefore been separated between overdrafts and cash balances and the
Group has restated both the Cash and cash equivalents and the Bank loans and overdraft balances as at 29 February 2020 to
show these amounts gross.

This adjustment has no impact on the Greup's net profit or loss in the prior and preceding years, not its net assets. In addition,
there was no impact on net cashflows in the prior or preceding years.

The pricr period has accordingly been restated for this adjustment as demonstrated below:

2% P eloruary 2620 Adiustment 29 Fatauary 2070
Balance Sheet (extract) 1 fm fm
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 475 114.2 161.7

Current liabilities

3ank lcans and overdratts - (114.2) {114.2)
Net current assets

Net assets

Total Equity
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The Group cperates a net overdraft facility that was undrawn
at 27 February 2021 (2020: £27.5m undrawn). The parent
Company bank account which at 27 February 2021 was in
£11.8m overdraft (2020: £102.7m overdraft) is part of this net
overdraft facility, and offset by other subsidiary accounts

in 3 debit position. Parent Company loans amounted to

fnil (2020: £125.0m) at 27 February 2021. Both balances are
guaranteed by certain subsidiary undertakings.

ALLIANT TLAD aND JOUNTERC, ALl

Until 2014, JD Williarns & Company Lirnited {"JDW™), a
subsidiary of N Brown Group plc sold (amongst other
insurance products) PPl to its custemers when they bought
JOW products. This insurance was underwritten by Allianz
plc ("the Insurer”). JDW was an unregulated entity prior to
14 January 2005 in respect of the sale of PPl insurance. The
regulated entity prior to 14 January 2005 was the Insurer.

In recent years, JDW and the Insurer have paid out significant
amounts of redress to customers in respect of certain
insurance products, including PPI. In July 2014 JDW and the
Insurer entered into an indemnity agreement in respect of
certain PPl mis-selling liabilities {*Indemnity Agreement”).

In September 2018 JDW and the Insurer entered into a
Complaints Handling Agreement {"CHA"} to regulate
complaints handling and redress payments for both parties in
respect of pre-2005 PP claims.

In January 2020, a claim was issued against JDW by the
Insurer in respect of all payments of redress the insurer has
made to JDW's PPl customers together with all associated
costs. The insurer has made a ¢laim in contribution as well as

asserting a number of direct claims against JDW in relation to:

The Indemnity Agreement;
Alleged negligence as its agent; and
Alleged breaches of the CHA.

On 5 March 2020 JDW issued its defence which refuted each
element of the claim and also issued counterclaims in respect
of the losses JOW has suffered in respect of two separate
insurance policies underwritten by the Insurer. JDW has
claimed that:

The Insurer is liable to compensate JOW for such loss and
damage by way of a contribution to JDW's liability in relation
to Product Protection Insurance sales (a separate product to
PPI); and

Tha !qcn irer

P Nsurer

125 been unjustly enriched to th

3 a +
has bea Hy }
lizbility to the complainants was discharged
restitution of all such sums; and

JDW seeks contribution from the Insurer in respect of
sums paid by JOW pursuant to the CHA as the Insurer was
also liable for the same damages in relation to Payment
Protection insurance.

On 9 April 2020 JDW received a Reply and Defence to JDW's
counterclaim. This document asserted that the amount of the
Insurer's claim was £28m plus interest. A Clairns Management
Conrference was held in Septembear 2020 following which a timetable
to trial was set by the Court. The deadiine for disclosure was extended
due to challenges resulting from searching legacy systems and the
very substantial volumes of data and documentation involved and
was substantially completed in Aprit 2021. Assessment and analysis of
disclosures will be undertaken over the coming months, Witness and
Expert evidence will play a significant role in helping to establish likely
guantum and merits in relation to both the claim and the counter
deim and is expected to be completed fater in 2021.

The claim and counterclaim remain at an early stage of the
legal process.

All claims made by the Insurer, and counterclaimed by JOW,
remain subject to firal determination by the court, both as to
their success and quantum. The claim and counterclaim are
extremely complex, and both parties only recently completed the
lengthy disclosure exercise, and will continue to gather detailed
and factual expert and witness evidence in relation to multiple
elements of the claim and counterclaim over the coming months.

There is also considerable uncertainty as to the timing of

any resolution of the claim/counterclafm given that the legal
court process will continue well into 2021 and the trial is not
scheduled until 2022. Legal fees are expected to continue to be
incurred during FY22 but it is likely that the cashflows resuiting
from the claim and/or counterclaim may not arise until FY23.

Having taken legal advice on its own position, the Group has
concluded that as the case remains at an early stage and there
has been no meaningful progress in relation to either quantum
or merits during the year, itis stili not possible to reliably estimate
the amount of any potential financial outcomes and has therefore
continued to not provide any amount for this claim.

IAS 37 {Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets)
requires a provision to be recognised when there is a present
obligation as a result of 5 past evert, it is probable that there will

be an outflow of economic benefits to settle the obligation and

a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The Insurer's claim represents a present obligation and it is likely
than there will be an outflow of ecenomic benefits to settle it
However, given the complexities of the claim, the volume of the
data elements involved, the historic nature of the claims and the
difficulties associated with establishing all the relevant facts, it is not
possible to estimate reliably the amount of the obliigation. In these
circumstances, IAS 37 requires a contingent fability to be disclosed.
The protracted nature of the disclosure process and the volume of
material to assess has contributed to the lack of progress in the year.

IAS 37 defines a contingent asset as a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only

by the cccurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the contral of the entity.

A contingent asset is only recognised in the financial statements
when an inflow of economic benefits is virtually certain. It is
disclosed as a contingent asset when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. The counter claim does not meet either of
these criteria and the description of the counterclaim is provided
in accordance with requirermnents of IAS 1 {Presentation of
financial statements) on the basis that claim and counterclaim are
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The Group leases various buildings, equipment and vehicles under non-cancellable leases of varying lengths.

In accordance with IFRS 16, frem 3 March 2019 the Group has recognised right-of-use assets for these leases except for short-
term and low-value leases, further information on the amounts recognised in the balance sheet are included within this note.

LAY e

itk b

uary 2021 shows the following amounts relating to leases.

ot . Lo - o e
AT e s EREE

The consclidated balance sheet as at 27 Febr

Right-of-use assets
29 February 2020
Depreciation
Impairment
Disposals

27 February 2021

2070
Lease liabilities fm
Current 2.2
Non-current 47
69
B S TS 03 Phg THEIMNODAE BTATEMENT

The consolidated incame statement shows the following amount relating to leases:
2020
) . ) fm
Depreciation charge of right-of-use buildings I
Depreciation charge of right-of-use equipment and vehicles 62
interest expense {included in finance costs) o Q1
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets (included in operating expenses) i 08
Expense reIa}\r}g to short-term feases {included in operating expenses) s a1

The total cash outflow for leases during the year was £3.4m (2020 : £4.4m). The portfolic of short-term and low-value leases to which
the Group is committed is not dissimilar to the portfolio for which the expense has been incurred during the year, and future expenses
are expected to be on z similar leve! annually.
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28 ECUATY SEYTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The Directors’ Remuneration Report on p73 to 90 contains details of management and share save options/awards offered to

employeses of the Group.

Details of the share options/awards outstanding during the period are as follows:

Option price

. o L . I e - n F_)_e_ﬂCE‘
Optlon scheme

2010 Savings-related scheme 189 — 420

2010 Exacutive scheme 738-444

Unapproved Executive scheme 238444

Long-term incentive scheme awards (LT1Ps)

August 2017 -
August 718 _
June 2019 _
September 2019 -
Novernber 2020 -
Novamber 2020

Deferred annual bonus scheme awards (DABs)

August 2018 -
June 2119 -
Deferred share bonus plan (DSBP)

June 2019 -

Movements in share options are summarised as follows:

Outstanding atthe beginning of the period
Granted during the pernod

Forfeited during the period

Exerased dunng the pericd

Cutstanding at the end of the period
Exercisable at the end of the period

No options were exercised in the period and the weighted average share price during the period was 46p (2020: 116p).

Exercise

May 2010 - February 2027 PO
May 2010 — August 2024
May 2010 — August 2024

August 2020 - August 2027

August 2021 - August 2028
September 2022 - Auqust 2029
September 2022 - September 2029
November 2023 - Novermber 2030
August 2021 - November 2030

August 2020 - August 2028
June 2021 - June 2029 S

June 2022 - June 2029

Number
of share
aptions

1197733
1,225,391
532.972)
1,890,152
298,361

period _ )

Nurnbear
of shares
2019

1,740,653
89,049
60,450

770,81/
1,586,211
285,409
3,230,819

175,401
163,766

84,216

2029
Weighted
average
exercise
price

£

230

113

1.85

The opticens outstanding at 27 February 2021 had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.32 years {(2020: 2.21 years).
The aggregate estimated fair values of options granted in the period is £nif (2020: £502,043).
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Movements in management share awards {LTIPs and DABs) are summarised as follows:

L 2020

Weighted

average

2Xercise

Number of nrice

: S e ..t shareawards 1

Qutstanding at the beginning of the periad . 6,717,660 -
Grantzd during the period Cllt o 4,457,764 -
Forfeited during the period o (4,567,899 -
Exercised during the period DR - {310,854) -
Outstanding at the and of the period o 0,296,669 -

Exercizable at the end of the period R - - -

The awards outstanding at 27 February 2021 had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.53 years {2020: 8 52 years).
The aggregate estimated fair vaiues of options granted in the period is £2,598,794 (2020: £3,579,266).

The fair value of management and sharesave options/awards granted is calculated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The inputs into the Black-Scholes model are as follows:

2020
Weighted average share price at date of gramt {pence) 112
Weighted average exerdise price {ponce) 24
Expected volatility (%) 44.5
Expected lite years) ‘ 25-43
Risk-free rate (%) 10
Cividend yield (%) . 04

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over a period equivalent to
the expected life of the option. The expected life used in the madel has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate,
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised a total charge of £0.8m and a credit of £1.3m related to equity-settled share-based payrment transactions
in 2021 and 2020 respectively.
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SERTT SCHMEMES
I RIEUTION SCHEMES

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit schemes for all qualifying employees.

The Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to income of £6.1m (2020: £6.0m) represents contributions payable to the schemes by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the plans. As at 27 February 2021, contributions of £0,2m (2020: £0.1m) due in respect of the current reporting
period had not been paid over to the schemes.

DEFIMED BENERIT SCHEMD

The Group operates a defined benefit schemne, the N Brown Group Pension Fund. Under the scheme, the employees are

entitled to retirement benefits based on final pensionable sarnings. The scheme was closed to new members from 31 January 2002
Cn 29 February 2016 the scheme was closed to future accrual. No other post-retirement benefits are provided. The scheme is a
funded scheme and operates under UK trust law and the trust is a separate legal entity fram the Group. The scherne is governed

by a board of trustees. The trustees are required by law to act in the best interests of scheme members and are responsible for
setting certain policies (e.g. investment funding) together with the Group. The scheme exposes the Group to actuarial risks such

as longevity risk, interest rate risk and investment risk.

The most recent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out

at 30 June 2018 by an independent qualified actuary. The present value of the defined benefit cbligation, the related current service
cost and past service cost were measured using the projected unit credit method. The next triennial review will commence during
June 2021 The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining the Group's net retirement benefit obligations at the balance
sheet date were as follows:

i - 2020
Discount rate o o 7 o - . - 1.75%
Future ponsion increases 2 00%
Inflaticn ~ Retail Price Index : 285%
inflation - Consurner Price Indax o 2.05%
Life expectancy at age 65 (years)
Pensioner aged 65— male 220
Pensioner aged 65 ~ fermale - 234
Nen-pensioner aged 43 - msle 3 238
Non-pensioner aged 45 — female . 257
Armnounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows:
2020
. - . e o , _ fm
Past service cost T i o o ) B -
Net interest credit - 0.7
Adrninistrative expenses paid from plan assets 0.
Profit recogrised in the income statement 0.6)
The actual loss on scheme assets was £0.2m (2020: actual return £23.8m).
The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group's ebligations in respect of its defined benefit retirement benefit
scheme is as follows:
- 2020
. e o . _ o } L i fm )
Present value of defined benefit obligations {1309 '
Farrvalue of scheme assets R 157.2

Surplus in the scheme and asset recogrizsed in the balance sheet ) L 263
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The amount included in the statement of comprehensive income s as follows:

2020

£m
Rameaasuremeant gain/{loss) 193
{Loss)i/Return on scheme assats : 20.1
{Lossl/Gan recognised in the staterment of comprehensive income : 038

The surplus reflects the economic benefit at the balance sheet date that the Group would be entitled to, through refund, in the
event the scheme was wound up. There are no restrictions an the recovery of the surplus.

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

2020
) ) ) § B ) - fin
At 29 February 2020 1120
Past service cost -
Interest cost : 3.0
Remeasurement [gaim/loss
Effect of changes in financial assumptions : 191
Effect of changes in demagraphic assumptions o 0.2
Benefits paid ‘ (3.4
At 27 February 2021 ) ) ) - o s0e
Movements in the fair value of the scheme assets were as follows:
2020
B o S i fm
At 29 February 2020 ' I 1359
Interest income . 37
Return an scheme assets oxcluding interest income . 201
Contributions from spansoring companies 0e
Benetits paid (34
Admin expenses ' -
At 27 February 2021 B ) LI 1577
The analysis of the scheme assets at the balance shest date was as follows. All investments held by the scheme are unquoted:
2 2020
)  m %
Equitics 7 R . 15.2 9.7
Fixed-interest government bonds N 04 0.3
Index-linked government bonds B - 138 88
Corporate bonds “ v 892 h6.6
Property S 1.8 N
Growth fixed income e o 144 92
Alternatives o : 1.5 1.0
Cash and cash equivalents : 209 135
157.2 000

All assets had an observable market price (2020: all). Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined
benefit obligation are the discount rate, inflation and life expectancy.

Anincrease of 0.25% in the discount rate used would decrease the defined benefit obligation by £6.2m (2020: £6.9m).
Anincrease of 0.25% in the inflation assumption would increase the defined benefit obligation by £3.7m (2020: £3.8m).
Anincrease of one year in the life expectancy assumption would increase the defined benefit obligation by £4.5m (2020: £4.6m).

The above sensitivities are applied to adjust the defined benatit obligation at the end of the reporting period. Whilst the analysis does not
take account of the full distribution of cash flows under the scheme, it does provide an approximation to the sensitivity of the assumpticns
shown. No changes have been made to the method and assumptions used in this analysis from those used in the previcus period.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

I he Group has updated its approach to setting Retail Price
Index ("RPI") and Consumer Price Index {(*CPI") inflation
assumptions in light of the RPI reform proposals published
on 4 September 2019 by the UK Chanceller and UK
Statistics Authority.

The Group continued to set RPlinflation in line with the market
break-even expectations less an inflation risk premium.

The inflation risk premium has been increased from 0.25% at
29 February 2020 to 0.05% at 27 February 2021, reflecting an
allowance for additional market distortions caused by the RPI
reform proposals. For CPI, the Group reduced the assumed
difference between the RPl and CPl by 0.2% to an average of
0.6% per annum. The estimated impact of the change in the
methodology is approximately a £3.7m increase in the defined
benefit obligation.

The scheme is funded by the Group and current employee
members. Funding levels for the scheme is based on a
separate actuarial valuation for funding purposes for which
the assumptions may differ from the assumptions above.
Funding requirements and deficit contributions are formally
set out in the Staternent of Funding Principles, Schedule of
Contributions and Recovery Plan agreed between the trustees
and the Group.

Although the scheme has an accounting surplus, the Group
expects to contribute £1.0m (2020 actual contributions: £1.0m}
to the defined benefit scheme in the next financial year.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit
obligation at 27 February 2021 is approximately 20 years
{2020: 20 years). The defined benefit obligation at 27 February
2021 can be approximately attributed to the scheme members
as foliows:

Active members: 0% (2020: 0%}
Deterred members: 64% (2020: 64%)
Pensioner members: 36% (2020: 36%)

All benefits are vested at 27 February 2021 (unchanged from
1 March 2020).

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiarias, which
are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation

and are not disclosed in this note. Remuneration paid to key
managerment personnel fwho comprise the Group Directors
and members of the Executive Board) was £4.2m (2020: £2.3m).
This was split as follows: employment benefits of

£3.9m (2020: £2.1m), other benefits of £0.3m {2020: £0.2m} and
share-based payments of £nil (2020: £nil).

39 GOVERKMBEMT GRANTI &
SUPRORT

The UK government has offered a range of financial support
packages to help companies affected by coronavirus.
During the year, the Group has received a total government
grant of £3.8m (2020: £nil} in respect of the furlough scheme.
The Group has elected to deduct the grant in reporting the
related expense.

in May 2020, the Group also secured a new up to £30 million
three-year Term Loan facility, provided by its lenders under
the government's Corenavirus Large Business Interruption
Loan Scheme ("CLBILS"). The facility, which was committed
until May 2023 was fully repaid and handed back without
penalty on 24 December 2020, following the completion

of the equity raise.
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During the year, the Group identified that the relief claimed in respect of the value added tax element on customer debt written
off was, in prior years, accounted for within product revenus, whilst the cost of the write off was recorded in Financial Services
cost of sales. On further review of the Group's revenue recognition, management have come to a conclusion that thisis not an
income stream within revenue and rather it has no income statement effect.

For the year ended 29 February 2020, £20.7m of value added tax relief was recognised within revenue, rather than being
offset against cost of sales, leading to the overstatement of Group revenue and overstatement of Group cost of sales by
£20.7m respectively.

A prior year adjustment of £20.7m has therefore been made in both revenue and cost of sales respectively. This adjustment has
no impact on the Group gross profit or profit after tax, nor its net assets or equity in the prior year, and therefore no impact on
basic or diluted earnings per share. In additicon, there was no impact on net cashflows from operating activities in the prior year.

The prior period has accordingly been restated for this adjustment, as demonstrated below.

27 February 2020 Adjuztment 29 February 2020
Conselidated incoma statement {extract} Em o ) L S E‘_TW
Revanus S - ' 5949 (20.7} 574.2
Credit account interest 7263.3 - 263.3
Total Revenue B
Cost of wales (271.0) 267 270.3)
Impairment losses on customers {1339 - (1339
Prafit on sale of customer receivables 63 - 6.3

Gross Profit P 7 .
Operating Profit
Profit before tax
Profit for the period
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

Fixed assets

investments

Debtors

Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

Bank overdrafts

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Current liabilities

Net current liabilities

Totat assets less current liabilities
Neon-current habilities

Bank loans

Net assets

Capital and reserves

Called-up share caprtal

Share premium account

Qwn shares

Protit and loss account
Shareholders’ funds

* Reter to prior year adjustment note 41

Note

36

38

37

38

39

Asar

29 February
2020

fn
(Restated)*

3660
1699
1699

{(102.7)

{(209.3)

131201

{142.1

2239

(1250)
989

314
11.0
0.2
56.8
98.9

The financial statements of N Brawn Group plc (Registered Number 814103) were appraved by the Board of Directors and

authorised for issue on 19 May 2021,
They were signed on its behalf by:

@yﬁ@

Rachel Izzard
CFO and Executive Director
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share
capital Share Retamed
fnote 38} prermurmn Own shares earmings fotal
£m fm fm fm fm

Changes in equity for the 52 weeks ended 27 February 2021 -
Balance a1 29 February 2020 4 1.0 (0.3) 568 989
Comprehensive income for the period - - - 628 62.8
Profit for the perod
Teusl comprehensive loss for the peried - - - 628 562.8
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity
lssue of shares 195 74.0 - - 935
fosue al owe shares by ESCT - - - - -
Share-based payment charge - - - 0.8 08
Tatal contributians by and distributions to owners 195 4.0 - G8 94.3
Changes in equity for the 52 weeks ended 29 February 2020
Bzlance at 2 March 2019 14 1.0 0.3) 288 130%
Comprehensive income for the period
Profit for the period - - - {10.6) (10.6)
Total comprehensive income for the period (15.6) (10.6}
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity
Equity dividends - - - (20N 200
lssue of own shares by ESOT - - - - -
Share-based payment charge - - - (1.3) (1.3
Tota) cantributions by and distributions to owners - - - (21.4) {21.4}

Balance at 29 February 2020
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS

SROFICANT ACCOUNTIMG POLICIES

Cabh R ATCOLINTING

N Brown Group plc ("the Company”) is a company
incorporated and domiciled in the UK. These financial
staternents present information about the Company

as an individual undertaking and not about its Group.
These financial statements were prepared in accordance
with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework ("FRS 1017).

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies
the recegnition, measurement and disclosure requirements
of international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and has set out
below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions
has been taken.

The Company is the ultimate parent undertzking of the Group
and also prepares consolidated financial statements,

The consclidated financial statements of N Brown Group plc
are prepared in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and are available to the public and may
be obtained from its registered office address.

In these financial statements, the Company has apolied
the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the
following disclosures:

Company cash flow statement and related notes;

Disclosures in respect of transactions with whaolly
owned subsidiaries;

Disclosures in respect of capital management;
The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs; and
Disclosures in respect of the compensation of key

management personnel.

As the consolidated financial statements of N Brown Group
plc include equivalent disclasures the Company has also
taken exemptions under FRS 101 available i respect of the
following disclosures:

Certain disclosures reauired by IFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement:

Disclosures required by IFRS 7 Financial Instrument
Disclosures; and

Disclosures required by IFRS 2 Share-based payment.

GOING CONCERN

For the reasons set out below, the Directors of the Company
believe that it remains appropriate to prepare the financial
staternents on a going concern basis. The Company is
relying on the Going Concern assessment performed for the
purposes of the Group. After reviewing the Group's forecasts
and risk assessments and making other enquiries, the
Directors have formed a judgement at the time of approving
the financiai statements, that there is a reasonable expectation
that the Group and the Company have adequate rescurces
to continue in operational existence for the 12 months from
the date of signing this Annual Report and Accounts. For this
reason, the Directors continue 1o adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements,

In arriving at their opinion, the Directors considered:

a) the Group's cash flow forecasts and revenue projections
for the 12 manths fram the date of signing (the “Bass Case"),
reflecting, amongst other things the foliowing assumptions:

The business continues ta be fully operational throughout
the remainder of the pandemic (as has been the case since
the outset);

Product gross margin pressure continues due to mix, a highly
promotional retail market and industry-wide increase in
freight rates;

Firancial Services revenue reduces as the size of the loan book
reduces as a function of the lower product sales;

FS gross margin declines due 1o an increase in bad debt and
write offs due to the impact of Covid-19; and

Operating cost efficiencies are maintained in that they
continue at a similar cost te revenue ratio as achieved in FY21.

b) the impact on trading performance of severe but plausible
downside scenarios {the “Downside Case”), including
continued Covid-19 restrictions, the removal of government
support schemes such as Stamp Duty Relief, Mortgage
hotiday, and the Coronavirus Jobs Retention Scheme and
adverse macro-economic conditiens.|n particular, the
downside scenario assumes that the lockdown restrictions
experienced in the second half of the year ended February
2021 will apply throughout the year ending February 2022
resulting in an adverse impact on retail sales, a reduction in
collection rates with a consequent increase in bad debts and
a reduction in the debt securitisation advance rate. it has also
been assumed that the current unusually high freight rates will
continue to apply with an adverse effect on gross margins.
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¢) the committed facilities available to the Group and the
covenants thereon. Details of the group’s committed facilities
are set out in note 17, the main components of which are:

A £500msecuritisation facility committed until December
2023, drawings on which are linked to prevailing levels of
eligible receivables (f381.9m drawn to the maximum of eligible
customer receivables);

An RCF of £100m committed until December 2023, which is
fully undrawn; and

An overdraft facility of £12.5m which is subject to an
annual review every July (undrawn as at date of signing of
these accounts).

d) thatthere are no forecast breaches of any covenants

in either the Base Case or Downside Case, without any
additicnal management actions being required. In the

event that trading deteriorated further than envisaged in

the Downside Case additional management actions could

be implemented which would include sale of customer
receivables, werking capital deferrals, temporary reductions
in inventory and capital expenditure and further discretionary
cost reductions.

e) the Group's robust policy towards liquidity and cash flow
management. As at 30 April 2021, the Group had cash of

£84 3m, net restricted cash of £3.3m and undrawn facilities

of £112.5m, giving rise to total accessible liquidity ("TAL") of
£193.5m (FY20: £75m) reflecting, amongst other things, the
benefit of the equity raise in December 2020 {£93.5m, net) and
positive cash generation in the current financial year offset

by a decision by the Board to reduce the RCF by £25m and to
hand back the £50m CLRBILS Term Loan Facility.

f) the Group management’s ability to successfully manage

the principal risks and uncertainties outlined on p35to 38
during periods of uncertain ecenomic outlook and challenging
macro-econoemic conditions.

el
et

S

Fixed asset investments in subsidiaries are shown at cost less
provision for impairment,

HATAIRMENT

At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying
value of its investments to determine whether there is any
indication that those investments have suffered an impairment
{oss. If any such Indication exists, the recoverable amount

of the investment is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Recoverable amount

is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows

are discounted to their present value using a discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value

of money and the risks specific t¢ the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an investment is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately. Impairment losses recognised in prior periods
are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, if nc impairment loss had been recognised.
Areversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income
statement immediately.

N A
ok M AT N

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit and loss account
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly
in equity or other comprehensive income, in which case itis
recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the
taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided or temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. The following temporary differences are not
provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business
combination; and differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in
the foreseeable future. The amcunt of deferred tax provided
is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary difference can be utilised.

DIVHEENDS

Dividends receivable are recognised when the Company’s
right to receive payment is established. Dividends payable to
the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability and
deducted frem shareholders’ equity in the period in which the
shareholders’ right to receive payment is established.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

MY ACCOUNTING POLICIES

e
Al r

s
it R ALENTYS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and other short-term highly fiquid
investrments that are readily convertible to a known amount
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes

in value.

WM SHARES MELD BY ES0OT

Transactions of the Company-sponsored Employee Share
Ownership Trust (ESOT) are treated as being those of the
Company and are therefore reflected in the Company financial
statements. In particular, the trust's purchases and sales of
shares in the Company are debited and credited directly

to equity.

S AB Ay BALTR T L
et Skl E T PAYIENY S

The Company issues equity-settied share-based payments to
certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are
measured as the Company issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
seitled share- based payments is expensed on a straight-

line basis over the vesting period, based on the Company's
estimate of shares that will eventually vest. This is recognised
as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in
equity. Fair value is measured by the Monte Carlo method for
options subject to a market-based performance condition.
For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions,
the grant date fair value of the share- based payment is
measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up
for differences between expected and actual outcomes.
Whilst the Company has ne own employees of its own, it
settles all share incentive schemes granted to employees

of its subsidiaries. As subsidiaries are not recharged for the
share-based payment charge, the amount is debited to cost
of investment.

FIRANMCIAL ASSETS - CLASSIFICATION

IFRS 9 contains a classification and measurement approach
for financial assets that reflects the business model in which
assets are managed and their cash flow characteristics.

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categeries for
financial assets: measured at amortised cost; fair value through
other comprehensive income ("FVQOCI"); and fair value
through profit and loss ("FVTPL"). A financial asset is measured
at amortised cost if both the following conditions are met and
it has not been designated as at FVTPL;

All of the Company's receivables are due from subsidiary
companies, and are classified as amortised cost because:

all such assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the asset to collect its contractual cash
flows; and

the contractual terms of all such assets give rise to cash flows
on specified dates that represent payments of solely principal
and interest on the outstanding principal amount.

FINANMCAL INSTRUMENTS - RECGGNITION

AND MEASUREMENT

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
Company's balance sheet when the Company becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

All financial assets are recognised and derscognised on a
trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset

is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
financial asset within the timeframe established by the

market concerned. The Company derecognises financial
lisbilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities as appropriate on
initial recognition.

Financial assets classified as amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest methed, less any
impairment. Financial liabilities classified as amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognised on an etfective
yield basis. The effective interest rate method is a method

of caleulating amortised cost and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant pericd. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows
through the expected life of the financial instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges,
including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and
direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accrual basis in the
income statement using the effective interest method.

[P P O T I
Py rgiaAaiNA L A A i L

The Company recognises an allowance for ECLs on its
receivables from subsidiaries.

Receivables from subsidiaries are determined to have a
significant financing compenent, and therefore the ECL model
applies the concept of staging.

Stage 1 — assets which have not demonstrated any significant
increase in credit risk since origination

Stage 2 — assets which have demonstrated a significant
increase in credit risk since origination

Stage 3 - assets which are credit impaired (i.e. defaulted)

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the
following bases:

12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible
default events within the 12 months after the reporting date;
and

Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are calculated for assets in Stage 1 and lifetime
ECLs are calculated for assets in Stages 2 and 3.

Ali receivables are considered to be repayable on demand,
and therefore expected credit losses have been measured
over the expected period to transfer cash once demanded.
Receivables are considered on an entity-by-entity basis to
assess the expected credit loss based on the assets of the
counterparty and their ability to repay. In the case of these
receivables the PD is considered to either be close to nil

which would result in an immaterial loss, or 100% for those
entities without sufficient assets to repay, and therefore be
considered to be Stage 3 credit impaired. The LGD has been
determined based on the expected ability to realise cash from
the assets of the counterparty entity to calculate the expected
credit loss.

The significant judgements made by management in applying
the Company's accounting policies and the key sources of
estimation uncertainty in these financial statements, which
together are deemed critical to the Company's results and
financial position, are as follows:

P

B T
Y I ML R

Critical judgement
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which

is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use. An impairment indicator exists at the year end as the
market capitalisation of the Company is exceeded by the value
of its investments, and an impairment review was therefore
carried out at the year end date.

34 PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the
Company has elected not to present its own profit and toss
account for the period.

N Brown Group plc reported a Profit after tax for the financiai
period ended 27 February 2021 of £62.8m (2020: loss £10.6m)
which includes dividends received of £70.0m (2020: £nil).

The Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration was £0.6m
{2020: £0.6m) and nine Non-Executive Directors were
remunerated (2020: seven). The Executive Directors were
remunerated by a subsidiary company in both years; the total
was £1.3m (2020: £0.9m). Further details are provided on p86
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Fees in relation to non-audit related services include fees
of £60,000 (2020: £30,000) relating to assurance services
and £450,000, of which £45,000 was required by regulation
(2020: £ril}, in relation to the equity raise compieted by the
Group during the year.

Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the
Company's annual accounts were £20,000 {2020: £20,000),
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

Opening cost and net book value
Movement in pariod

Zlosing cost and net book value

gy T EEET RN ba B SR OSTp
RSB T INVESTR

TENT

The Company has investments in the following subsidiaries and joint ventures.

Company

Aldrex Ltd

Alexander Ross (Financial Services} Ltd
Ambrose Wilson Ltd

Better Living Ltd

Classic Combination Ltd
Comfortably Yours Ltd

Crescent Direct Ltd

Cuss Contractors Ltd

Dale Housa (Mail Ordear) Ltd

Daly Harvey Morfitt Ltd

DHM {Managernent Services) Ltd
F tangfield & Co. Ltd

Eunite Limited

Figleaves Global Trading Limited
Financial Services (Edinburgh) Lid
First Financial Ltd

Gray & Qsbourn Ltd

Halwins Ltd

Hammaond House Investments
International Ltd

Hammaond House Investments Ltd
Hartingdon House Ltd

HB Wainwright (Financial Services) Ltd
Heatner Valley (Waollens) Ltd
Hilton Mailing Ltd

Holland & Heeley Ltd

House of Stirling (Direct Mail) Ltd
J.D. Williarms & Co Ltd

4D Williams Group Ltd

J.D Williams Merchandise Co Ltd
JOW Finance Ltd*

JOW Malta Limited*

JOW Pension Trustees Ltd
Langlay House Ltd

Mature Wisdom Ltd

Melgold Ltd

NB Finance (Eire Reg)

N Brown Pension Trustees Ltd
N Brown Funding Ltd*

N Brown Holdings Ltd

~ Registered Office Address

Griffin House, 40 Lever Sﬂeet, VMarerHesrtrer M6D 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Mé&0 4ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Ma0 4ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Mb0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Ma0 6ES
Gritfin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester MA0D 4ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M60 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6E3
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Mé0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Ma0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Straet, Manchester MSD 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Ma0 4ES
Griffin House, 40 Laver Street, Manchester M0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M60 6ES
Griffin Mouse, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M0 4ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Straet, Manchester M&0 6ES
Griffin Mouse, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M60 6ES
Gnffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 4ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Ma0 4ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 4S5
Griffin House, 40 Lever Straet, Manchester M&0 4ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Straet, Manchester MaD AES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Ma0 6ES

Gritfin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M60D 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Mé0D 4ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Straet, Manchester M60 4ES
Gnffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Mé0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Ma0 4E5
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M40 4ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Ma0 6ES
29 Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, Ireland

Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M0 AES
Griffin House, 40 Laver Street, Manchester M0 6ES

Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6ES

Status

Dormant
Dormant
Dormarnt
Dormant
Dormant
Darmant
Dormant
Darmant
Daormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dorrmant
Dormant
Daormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Bormant
Dormant
Dormant

Trading Company
Intermediate
Holding company
Dormart

Active

Active

Active

Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Intermeadiate
Haolding Company
Active
Intermediate
Holding Company
Intermediate
Holding Company

Proportion held
by the Group (%,

100
100
100
100
10C
100
100
106
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
141

100
100

100
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Company
N Brown No. 2 Ltd (Guernsey Reg)

N Brown Property One Ltd

N Brown Property Three Lid

N Brown Property Two Ltd

NEB Funding Guermnsay Ltd (Guernsey Req)

NB Holdings Guornsey Ltd (Guernsey Reg)
NB Insurance Guernsey Ltd (Guernsey Reg)
NB Malra Nel Ltd (Malta Reg!
NB Malta No2 Ltd {Malta Reg)

Nochester Holdings (Eire Reg)
Odhams Leisure Group Ltd
Oxendaie & Company Ltd
Oxendale & Co. Ltd {Eire Reg)
Reliable Collections Lid

Sander & Kay timited

Speciality Home Shopping (US) Ltd*
Speciality Home Shopping

{US Markating) LLC {incorporated

5 January 2018}

Tagma Ltd

T-Bra Limited

The Bury Boot & Shoe Co (1953) Ltd
The Value Catalogue Limited

Vote [t Ltd

Whitfords (Bury) Ltd

Whitfords (Cosytred) Ltd

Whitfords {Textiles) Ltd

Wingmark Ltd

fEntnos exempt from crepanng auarted statutory financial statements by virtue of 4794 of Companies Act 2006,

Armounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed by Group undertakings
Prepayments and accrued income

* Refer to pror yesr adiustment note 4

Registered Office Address

St Martin's House, Le Bordage, St Peter Port,
Guernsey, GY1 4AU

Griftin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6ES
Griftin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6E£S

St Martin's House, Le Bordage, St Pater Port,
Guernsey, GY1 4AU

St Martin's House, Le Bordage, St Peter Port,
Guernsey, GY1 1AL

St Martin's House, Le Bordage, St Pater Port,
Guernsey, GY1 4AU

The Hedge Business Centre, Leval 3,

Trig ir-Rampa ta' San Giljan, St Julians 5TJ 1062, Malta

The Hedge Business Centre, Level 3,

Triggir-Rampa ta’ San Giljan, St Julians ST 1062, Malta

29 Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, freland

Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchestar M&0 4ES
Grittin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M60 6ES
VWoodford Business Park, Santry, Dublin 17, ireland
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M60 4ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M60 6ES
Gritfin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Mé0 4ES
120% Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801

Griffin House, 40 Lever Strect, Manchester MU 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M60 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Laver Street, Manchester M&0 6ES
Gritfin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester Mo0 4ES
Griffin House, 40 Laver Streel, Manchestar M&0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M60 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Straet, Manchester M&0 6ES
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6E5
Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6ES

Propartion held
Status by ’Ehe Group (%)

Intermadiate 100
Holding Company
Darmant 100
Darrmant 100
Dormant ) 100
Intermediate 100
Holding Company
Interrmediate 100
Holding Company

100

100
100

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
G0
100
100
100
100
100

2020
tm
(Restated)_‘

16%.8

01
1699

The amounts owed by Group undertakings, whilst there is no fixed term of expiry, are expected to be repaid within the next 12 months.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

2020
 fm

A-mc;;nts-f-a-lling-;-dQe within one year:
Amounts owed to Group undertakings : 209.3
209.3

NMEAND OVERDRAFTS

2020

ud fm

S S 7 - 7 o o e l(Restat_e(_:I)_"

Bank overdratts S 1027
Bank loans 1250

2277

* Refer to pror year adjustment note 41

The Company's bank account which at 27 February 2021 was in £13.1m overdraft (2020: £102.7m overdraft} is part of the Group’s
notional pooling and net overdraft facility of £7.5m, as described in note 17, and offset by other subsidiary accounts in a debit
position. This facility of £7.5m was undrawn at 27 February 2021 (2020: £27.5m undrawn). The Company has unsecured bank
loans of £rmil (2020: £125.0m) drawn down under a medium-term bank RCF committed until December 2023,

At 27 February 2021, the Company had available £100m {2020: £nil) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of
which all conditions precedent had been met.

The weighted average interest rates paid were as follows:

Juet 2020

%

Net overdraft facility . 2.3

Bank loans ) 25
7 iU APITAL

Mrebor fm

Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 11 1/19p each

AL 29 February 2020 785,817.178 314
Issued during the year '
At 27 February 2021

The Company has one class of ordinary share which carries no right to fixed income.

40 GUARANTEES

Parent Company bank account which at 27 February 2021 was in £13.1m overdraft (2020: £102.7m overdraft) is part of the
Group'’s net overdraft facility, as described in note 17, and offset by other subsidiary accounts in & debit position. The net
overdratt facility of £7.5m was undrawn at 27 February 2021 {2020: £27.5m undrawn). Parent Company loans amaunted to £nil
{2020: £125.0m) at 27 February 2021. Both balances are guaranteed by certain subsidiary undertakings.

mYehAR ADSUSTMENT

During the year end close, the Group identified that one of the Group's bank accounts which was thought to be owned by one of
the Group's subsidiary undertakings, JD Williams & Co Limited, and therefore accounted for in that subsidiary's balance sheet,
was actually held by the Parent entity, N Brown Group plc. The bank account is being used to make payments to JD Williams
customers and as at 29 February 2020 was 1n an overdraft position of £54.7m.

As a result, the parent entity’s bank overdraft balance within creditors falling due within one year as at 2% February 2020 was
understated by £54.7m, whilst amounts owed by group undertakings within debtors were also understated by the same amount
and an adjustment has been made accordingly.

This adjustment has no impact on the Company's net profit or loss in the prior and preceding years, nor its net assets.
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The prior period has accordingly been restated for this adjustment as demonstrated below:

29 February 2020

29 February 2020 Adjustment [Restatas)

Balance sheet (_extract) o ) ) fm £m me

Current assets

Debtors 115.2 547 199

Current liabilities

Bank overdrafts B {48.0) 547 {1027}

Net current liabilities SR - .

Net assets

Total Equity

Alternative Performance Measure ~ Definition ) o ) . )

Adjus't'ed gross profit o 7 Gross profit excluding exceptional items. The Directors befieve adiusted Gross profit represents the
most appropriate measure of the Group's underlying trading performance

Adjusted gross profit margin Adjusted gross profit as a percentage of Group Revenue. The Directors believe adjusted EBITDA
represents the most appropriate measure of the Group's underlying trading performance

Adjusted EBITDA Operating profit, excluding exceptional items, with depreciation and amortisation added back. The
Directors believe adjusted EBITDA represents the maost appropriate measure of the Group's underlying
trading performance as it removes iterns that do not form part of the recurring activities of the Group

Adjusted EBITDA margin Operating profit, excluding exceptional items, with depreciation and amortisation added back,
as a percentage of revenue. The Directors believe adjusted EBITDA margin represents the most
appropriate measure of the Group's underlying trading performance.

Adjusted profit before tax Profit before tax, excluding exceptionals items and fair value movement on financial instruments.

The Directors believe that adjusted profit before tax represents the rmost appropriate measure of the
Group's underlying profit before tax profit as it removes items that do not form part of the recurting
activities ol the Group. ;

Adjusted prefit before tax margin Profit before tax, excluding exceptional items and fair value movement on financial instruments,
exprassed as a percentage of Group Revenue. The Directors believe that adjusted profit before tax
margin represents the most appropriate measure of the Group's underlying profit before tax as it
removes items that do not form part of the recurring activities of the Group.

Cash generation Net cash generated from the Group's operating activities. The Directors believe that net cash
generated is the most appropriate measure of the Group's cash generation from underlying
performance as it demonstrates the Group's ability to support operations and invest in the futura,

Adjusted operating costs Operating costs less depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items. The Directors believe this is

the most appropriate measure of the Group's operating cost base as it rernoves items that do not
form part of the recurring activities of the Group.

Adjusted operating costs to revenue ratio Operating costs less depraciation, amortisation and exceptional items as a percentage of Group
revenue. The Directors believe this is the most appropriate measure to demonstrate the efficiency of
the Group's operating cost base.

Adpusted net debt Total abilities from financing activities less cash, excluding lease liakilities. The Directors believe this
15 the most appropriate measure of the Group’s net debt in relation to its unsecured borrowings and is
used 1o calculate the Group's leverage ratio, a key debt covenant measure. A reconciliation is included
in note 19.

Unsecurad net cash/debt) Arnount drawn on the Group’s unsecured debt facilities less cash balances. The Director's believe that
rhiz is the most appropriate measure of the Groug’s unsecured net cash/{debt) position.

Total Accessible Liquidity Total cash and cash equivalents and availabla headroom on secured and unsecured debst facilities,
The Diractors believe that this is most appropriate measure of the Group's liquiditv. A reconcitiation is
included in note 2 in the goina concern section.

Adjusted Earnings Per Share Adjusted earnings per share based on earnings before exceptional items and tair value adjustments.
which are those items that do not form part of the recurring operational activities of the Group. These
are calculaled innate 11, The Directors belisve that this is the most appropriate measure of the Groug's
earnings per share as it removes items that do not form part of the recurring activities of the Group.

The reconciliation of the statutory measures to adjusted measures is included in the CFQ report on page 31
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

2021 _ February
June
July
October

2022 January

Financial year end
Preliminary announcement of annual results

Publication of 2021 Annual Report and Accounts

Annual Genaral Meeting

interim resulis

Christmas Trading Statement

An updated version of the financial calendar is available at www.nbrown.co.uk

P T N A i e o ¥ e
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Griffin House
40 Lever Street
Manchester M60 6ES
Reqgistered No. 814103
Telephone 0161 236 8256

B s s

HSBC Bank ple
The Royal Bank of Scotland ple

CHAREM RS AT

TEGISTRARS

Link Asset Services PXS

134 Beckenham Road
Beckenham, Kent BR3 4ZF
Telephone 0871 664 0300
{Calls cost 10p per minute plus
network extras)

SOCITORS

Pinsent Masons LLP
Eversheds LLP
Addleshaw Goddard LLP

AUDITOR
KPMG LLP 1 5t Peter's Square
Manchester M2 3AE

NOMINATED ADVISER
Shore Capital and Corporate Limited

AT RN T LY
LRI

I AL T
Jefferies Hoare Govett
Shore Capital Stockbrokers Limited

Subject to certain conditions, shareholders are entitled to a 20% privilege discount off the selling price of consumer
merchandise in any of the Group catalogues. Shareholders interested in these facilities should write for further infarmation to

the Company Secretary, N Brown Group ple, Griffin House, 40 Lever Street, Manchester M&0 6ES stating the number of shares

heid and the catalogue or product of interest.

FIEToLt T A IR A AT
A DOAINGS TAK

For the purpose of capital gains tax, the value of the Company's ordinary shares of 10p each was 6.40625p per share on
31 March 1982 and 1.328125p on 6 April 1965,

For more information and latest news on the Group, visit www.nbrown,co,uk
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